


Every day, investors make decisions about stocks b what to buy,

when to sell and which to hold in their portfolios. They analyze each
companyOs markets, performance and strategy, and they compare

its future prospects against a broad spectrum of other investment
opportunities. In the end, it comes down to a single question, OWhy
should | own this company?O This annual report highlights the key growth

drivers that we see for our businesses and our strategies for continued

success. It is dedicated to answering the question, OWhy KBR?0
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KBR Ranked Ninth ifEtigineering News-Recafd®sTop 500 Design Firms

KBR Recognized as the Largest Civil and Structural Engineering Firm in the Houstwsteediusibgshelournal

KBR Ranked TenttWashington Technology MagaFor@30 Federal Contractors List

KBR Recieved Four National Awards from the Consult Australia Awards of Excellence

KBROs North American Government & Logistics Received Combined Logistics Excellence Award from the U.S. Army Europe

KBROs International Government, Defence and Support Services Won the Royal Society for the Prevention df Accidents (RoSPA) Awar
KBR Awarded the Florida Department of Transportation Aviation Project of the Year for the Panama City Airport Relocation Projec

KBROs International Government, Defence and Support Services Won the Olnvestors in People Gold Award® from the U.K. GovernmentO
Commission for Employment and Skills

KBR Won Project of the Year for Hallet Wind Farm Stage 4 Project from the Australian Institute of Project Management (AIPM)
KBR Ranked as Sixth Largest Healthcare Construction Serviddedenovidealbycare

KBR Awarded the 2011 Free Enterprise Award and Eagle Award for Boeing CompanyOs 787 Final Assembly Building by
the Associated Builders and Contractors (ABC)

KBR Awarded the Construction Users Roundtable Award for Outstanding Achievements in Construction Industry Workforce Development
KBR Building Group Received ABCOs National STEP Safety Award for Sixth Consecutive Year
KBR Achieved Top Supplier Designation from the U.K. Ministry of Defence

KBR 5th Annual Charity Golf Tournament Raised $330,000 for Charities
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Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
7 Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
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OR
Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
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Commission File Number 1-33146
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601 Jefferson Street
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Houston, Texas 77002
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required tadjmrts pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Aet Y. No 7

Indicate by check mark whether the registr@) has filed all reports required to filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Seities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periothéhetgistrant was required to file such reports), antig&)been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yeg No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submittedaglieetly and posted on its corde Web site, if any, evetgteractive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 4R&grflation S-T (8§232.405 of thitiapter) during the preceding 1®nths (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was requicesubmit and post such files). Yes’ No ...
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large aateddiler, an accelerated filea non-accelerated filer, orsanaller reporting company.
See the definitions of “large accelerafier,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller porting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exarfge Act. (Check one):
Large accelerated file? Accelerated filer...

Non-accelerated filer.. Smaller reporting company..

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell compamiefimed in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes No 7

The aggregate market value of the votsgek held by non-affiliatesn June 30, 2011, was appnmétely $5.7 billion, determid using the closing
price of shares of common stock on the NewkY8tock Exchange on that date of $37.69.

As of January 31, 2012, there were 148,026,670 shares of IKBRCommon Stock, $0.001 paalue per share, outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the KBR, Inc. Company Proxy Statement for our 201ual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by refererm@ant 11 of this
report.
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Forward-Looking and Cautionary Statements

This report contains certain stnents that are, or may be deemed td'foeward-looking statements” within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1¥83amended, and Section 21E of the SgesiExchange Act of 1934, as amendéte T
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act 995 provides safe harbor provisions forward looking information. Some of the
statements contained in this annual report are forward-lookiatgstents. All statements othbah statements of historicadt
are, or may be deemed to be, forwamdiing statements. The words “believe,” “mayestimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,”
“intend,” “plan,” “expect” and similar expressions are intended to identify forwldooking statements. Forward-looking
statements include information concergiour possible or assumed future finahgarformance and results of operations.

"o«

We have based these statements on our assumptions and amalygeisof our experiencand perception of historical
trends, current conditions, expected futwevelopments and other factors we beli@re appropriate inthe circumstances.
Forward-looking statements by their natuire/olve substantial risks andncertainties that could gnificantly affect expected
results, and actual future results could eifmaterially from those described incsustatements. While it is not possibledentify
all factors, factors that could cause actual future resultsglifter materially include the sks and uncertainties describedder
“Risk Factors” contained in Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Many of these factors are beyond our abitiycontrol or predict. Any of these fac$, or a combination of these factors,
could materially and adversely affect ofuture financial condition or results of ogions and the ultimate accuracy of the
forward-looking statements. These forwaodiing statements are not gaatees of our future performance, and our actual tesul
and future developments may differ materially and adversely those projected in the forwaldoking statements. We caution
against putting undue reliance on forward-lookistatements or projecting any futurestdts based on such statements or on
present or prior earnings levelin addition, each forward-looking statemeneags only as of the date of the particular staént,
and we undertake no obligation to publicly updateevise any forward-looking statement.
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PART |
Item 1. Business
General

KBR, Inc. and its subsidiariggollectively, “KBR”) is a gbbal engineering, construction and services company supporting
the energy, hydrocarbons, government services, minerals, civtinfcture , power, industriahd commercial markets. Wéfer
a wide range of services through our Hydrocarbons, Infrastrucdmegrnment and Power (“IGP"gervices and Other groups.
Information regarding segment disclosures are incorporated bgnedein Note 5 to our consddiged financial statements afikm 7.
Management'’s Discussi@nd Analysis of Financial Conditiand Results of Operations.”

KBR, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on March 21, 2006 prian exchange offer transaction that separated us from our
prior parent, Halliburton Company, which svaompleted on April 5, 2007. We trace bistory and culture to two businessebeT
M.W. Kellogg Company (Kellogg) and Brown & Root, Inc. (Bro&rRoot). Kellogg dates back to a pipe fabrication business
which was founded in New York in 1901 and has been cretdaimology for petroleum refing and petrochemicals processing
since 1919. Brown & Root was founded in Houston, Texas in &8d%uilt the world’s first offshore platform in 1947. Brown &
Root was acquired by Halliburton in 1962daKellogg was acquired by Halliburton #0998 through its merger with Dresser
Industries.

Our Business Groups and Business Units

We operate in four business groups which are consistith our segment reporting under Accounting Standards
Codification (*“ASC”) 280 — Segment Reporting: Hydrocarhd@d; Services; and Other as described below.

Hydrocarbons. Our Hydrocarbons business group serves thdrétyarbon industry by providing services ranging from
prefeasibility studies to front-end engineering design (“FEEBMH construction to commissioning of process facilities irotem
locations around the world. We are involved in hydrocarbonegsieg which includes constructitiguefied natural gas (“LNG”
plants in several countries. Our glokediins of engineers also execute and prosadigtions for projects in the oil and gagefins,
refining, petrochemical, biofuels anchrbon capture markets. The Hydrocarbons business group is comprised of the Gas
Monetization, Oil & Gas, Downstrearand Technology business units.

Gas Monetization business urit Our Gas Monetization business unit designd constructs facilities that enable our
customers to monetize their natural gasueses. We design and builiNG and gas-to-liquids (“GTL") facilities that allow fane
economical development and transportatiomesburces across the globe. Additionallys, make significant contributions in ga
processing development, equipmengiga and innovative construction methods.

Oil & Gas business unit Our Oil & Gas business unitelivers onshore and offshore oil and natural gas production
facilities which include platforms, floatingroduction and subsea fati#s, and pipelines. Wesa provide specialty conging
services which include field developmentidies and planning, structuriaitegrity management, argtoprietary designs for ghi
and semi-submersible hulls.

Downstream business uritOur Downstream business unit serves clientsérpetrochemical, refing, chemicals, biofuels
and syngas markets throughout the world. Mierage our differentiated processhiealogies, but also execute projects and
complexes using non-KBR technologies. Owcass is based on delivering value over the lifecycle of projects in the hydnocarb
market.

Technology business unit Our Technology business unit offers higtefficient, differentiated proprietary process
technologies for the coal monetizationtrpehemical, refining and syngas markétsaddition to offering technology licensese
partner with our Downstream businessitusn project management and engineeripgocurement and construction (“EPC”)
projects to provide fully ingrated solutions worldwide.

Infrastructure, Government & Power. Our IGP business group serves the btfiacture, Government & Power industries
delivering effective solutions to industii@ommercial, defense ambvernmental agencies worldle, providing base operatisn
facilities management, border security, EB&vices, and logistics support. We gsovide project management, construction
management, design and support services for an array of comfoestructure initiatives includg aviation, road, rail, mamne,
water, waste water, building, épipeline projects. For the industrial manufaiciy market, we provide a full range of prefD,
FEED and EPC services to a variety of heavy industrial anchaeddamanufacturing markets, drgently employing our clients’
proprietary knowledge and technologies simategically critical projects. For éhpower market, we use our full-scope EPC
expertise to execute projects which play a distinctive roiedreasing the world's power generation capacity from multimé f
sources and in enhancing the efficiency and environmentapl@nce of existing power facilities. The IGP business group
includes the North American @gernment and Logistics (“NAGL", formerly North Amécan Government and Defense
International Government, Defemcand Support Services (“IGDSS” formerly International Government and Defence
Infrastructure and Minerals (“I&M”), and ¢hPower and Industrial (“P&I”) business units.
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North American Government and Logistics business -uitur NAGL business unit offersperations, maintenance, and
logistics support in both contingency and sustainment environmasnigell as construction andsiign or build services to the
United States Department of Defense (IDpand Department of State (“DoS”) anther federal government agencies.

International Government, Defea and Support Services business un@ur IGDSS business unit supports armed forces
and government departments arotinel world by providing logistics and field suppasperations and maintenance of camps and
bases, program and project mgaent, construction mag@ment, training, visualization fdware and engineering and support
services. We provide services to governtrdepartments in the United Kingdom (“U’K.Europe, Middle East and Australia.

Infrastructure & Minerals business unit Our I&M business unit provides engiering, construction and project
management services across the worldcomplex infrastructure projects. The 1&M business unit provides global focus and
leadership in four key markets — mining & minerals; transfawiation, ports, rail and roads); water; and facilities (incdude
buildings and pipelines.)

Power & Industrial business unit Our P&l business unit provides full-scop®C services for the industrial and power
markets globally. Within the Industrial guct line, we serve clients in the forgsbducts, manufacturing, technology, life
sciences, consumer products, metalsl materials sectors. Within the Powesdurct line, we deliver fossil fuel and renewable
power generation projects, plant re-powgrprojects and emissions control projectsdostomers that include regulated tigi,
power cooperatives, munjmlities, independent power producensl industrial cogeneration providers.

Services. Our Services business group delivers full-scope congtniaconstruction managemerfabrication, operations/
maintenance, commissioning/stgy and turnaround expertise worldwide to a Hreariety of markets including oil and gas,
petrochemicals and hydrocarbon processiog, sands, mining, power, alternate eegy, pulp and paper, industrial and
manufacturing, and consumer product industriSpecifically, Services is orgaed around four major product lines; U.S.
Construction, Industrial Services, Bdiihg Group and Canada Operations.

Our U.S. Construction product line delivelisect hire construction and constructimanagement for stand-alone construction
projects to a variety of markets andnik® closely with the Hydrocarbons group @alwer and Industrial business units to pdevi
construction execution support alh domestic ER projects.

Our Industrial Services product line is a diversifiedintemance organization operadi on a global basis providing
maintenance, on-call construction, turnarowamdl specialty services to a variety mmarkets. This group works with our other
business units to identify potential for pull through opportundied to identify upcoming EPC gjects at the 94 locationshere
we have embedded KBR personnel.

Our Building Group product line provides commercial genemabtractor services to education, food and beverage,
manufacturing, health care, hospitalitydeentertainment, life saiee and technology, and mixed-use building clients.

Our Canada Operations product line is eediified construction and fabrication oggon providing direct hire construction,
construction managememnnodule assembly, fabrication andintanance services to our Carauicustomers. This product line
serves a number of markets including oil and gas customerstingerathe oil sands, pulp and paper, mining, and industrial
markets.

Other. Included in Other is the Ventures business unit @hér operations. The Ventures business unit invests KBR
equity alongside clients’ equity in projectdiere one or more of KBR’s other busisaunits has a direct role in technologpply,
engineering, construction, construction management or operations and maintenance. Project equity investments under current
management include defense equipment angihg, toll roads and petrochemicals.

In addition to the Ventures business unit, other businessitaper are reported in our Other group including the Allstates

staffing business acquired in the BE&K, Inc. (“BE&K”) acquitiin 2008, our engineering resource operations and otheriopsrat
that do not individually meet the criteria for group presentation under ASC 280.
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Our Business Strategy

Our business strategy is to create shalder value by providing our customelifferentiated capital project delivery and
services offerings across the entire engineering, construatidroperations project lifecycle as vertically integrated glath
contractor. We execute our business sfaten a global scale delivering consistent, predictable results in all markets wéhere
operate. An essential feature air global strategy is to establish local opiers in market geographies where demand far ou
services is expected to grow. Our core skills are concegasiin, FEED (front-end enginaggi design), engineering, project
management, procurement, construction, construction manageogstick, commissioning, operations and maintenance. We will
complement organic growth by pursuinggeted acquisitions that focus on expanding capabilities and market coverage or
accelerating business growth stgies. Key features of our business unit strategies include:

x The Hydrocarbons business growfl build on our world-class strength amctperience with hydrocarbon processing
projects and seek to expand our footprint in both offshateonshore oil and gas services. Our business will grow by
utilizing our leading technology and execution excellence ¢wige high value process facilities to customers. Our
Technology business unit will expand its portfolio of eliffntiated process technologiasd associated service,
proprietary equipment and catalyst offeringd deliver through an expanded global platform.

X  The Infrastructure, Government & Power business gnilpbroaden our commercial, government operations, EPC
logistics, construction and maintenance services intemaly. We will apply our dgign, project management and
construction skills to infrastructure, industrial, minimginerals and power marketslizing the same global delivery
platform already in place for Hydrocarbons. In 2012, vienid to report the Infrastructure and Minerals business units
separately.

x The Services business growjl capitalize on our brand reputation and core competencies to expand our direct hire
construction, general contracting andustrial services operations both dome#icnd internationally with focus on
safe operations and high valpredictable outcomes.

X  The Ventures business uwill invest alongside our clients in selecteajpcts to both earn a return on our capital and
secure capital projects for our businesgsuto design, builénd service.

Competition and Scope of Global Operations

We operate in highly competitive markets throughout the wadté. principal methods of competition with respect to sales
of our capital project and service offerings include:

X customer relationships;

x  successful prior execution of large projects in difficult locations;

x technical excellence and differentiation;

x high value in delivered projects and services measured by performance, quality, operability and cost;

X  service delivery, including the ability to deliver personpebcesses, systems and technology on an “as needed, where
needed and when needed” basis with the required local content and presence;

X  consistent supest service quality;

X market leading health, safety, and envirental standards andstainable practices;

x financial strength through liquidity and capital capacity and the ability to support warranties;

x  breadth of proprietary technologynd technical sophistication; and

X  robust risk awareness and management processes.

We conduct business in over 70 countriessdslaon the location of services provided, our operations in countries other than
the United States accounted for 78% of our consolidatechueveuring 2011 and 79% of our consolidated revenue during both
2010 and 2009. Revenue from our operationfraq, primarily related to our work fahe U.S. government, was 21% of our
consolidated revenue in 2011, 29% of our consolidated reveriE thand 35% of our consolidated revenue in 2009. See Note 5
to our consolidated financial statemefasselected geographic information.

We market substantially all of our d&d project and service offeringsrdugh our business units. We have many
substantial competitors in the markets twatserve. The companies competing in the markets that we serve include but are not

limited to AMEC, Bechtel Corporation, CH2M Hill Companiésd., Chicago Bridge and Iron Co., N.V., Chiyoda, Fluor
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Corporation, Foster Wheeler Ltd., Jacobs Engineering Gtaap,JGC Corp, John Wood Group ®LMcDermott International,
Petrofac PLC, Saipem S.PA., Shaw Groumg,, Technip, URS Corporation, Aecofechnology Corporation and Worley Parsons
Ltd. Since the markets for our services are vast and exgmdss multiple geographic regions, we cannot make a meaningful
estimate of the total numbef our competitors.

Our operations in some countries may be adversely affectaddsttled political conditions, acts of terrorism, civil unrest,
force majeure, war or other armed confletpropriation or other governmental actipimlation, exchange controls and curcyg
fluctuations. We strive tonanage or mitigate these risks through a varmdtyneans including cordct provisions, contingency
planning, insurance schemes, hedging, ahdratsk management activisie Please read “ltem Klanagement’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results Operations — Financial struments Market Risk,” “Rk Factors — International
and political events may adversely affect our operations,” and Nbt® our consolidated financial statements for information
regarding our exposures to foreign currency fluctuations, riskeardration, and financial instnents used to manage our gsk

Recent Significant Acquisitions and Other Transactions

On December 31, 2010, we obtained control of the ren@idé.94% interest in our M.W. Kellogg Limited (“MWKL")
consolidated joint venture previously hélg JGC Corporation. MWKL is located the U.K. and provides EPC services primarily
for LNG, GTL and onshore oil and gas @ois. MWKL will continueto support our LNG and other Hydrocarbons projects.

On December 21, 2010, we completed the acquisition of 18f0fte outstanding common shares of ENI Holdings, Inc.
(“ENI"). ENI is the parent to the Roberts & Schaefer ComypgR&S”), a privately held, EPC services company for material
handling systems. Headquartered in Chicdljinois, R&S provides services andsaciated processing infrastructure to cugiem
in the mining and minerals, power, indudirigefining, aggregates, precious and basetals industries. ENI and its acquired
businesses have been integrated our IGP business group.

On April 5, 2010, we acquired 100% thfe outstanding common stock of Harsbased Energo Engineering (“Energo”)
which provides Integrity Manageme (IM) and advanced structural engineeringviees to the offshor@il and gas industry.
Energo’s results of operations were integratgd our Hydrocarbons business group.

In January 2010, we entered into a collaboration agreementBRith.l.c. to market and license certain technology. In
conjunction with this arrangement, we aaqdia 25-year license granting us the exetisight to the technology. The activi
associated with this arraggnent is integrated into ottydrocarbons business group.

See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statamfan further discussion of our recent acquisitions.
Joint Ventures and Alliances

We enter into joint ventures and alliances with other indysrticipants in order to reduead diversify risk, increase the
number of opportunities that can be pursued, capitalize on the bgesfgtach party, expand oreate the relationships ofeh
party with different potential @iomers, and allow for greater flexibility @elivering our services based on cost and gexdical
efficiency. Several of our significant joint ventures and alliararesdescribed below. All joint venture ownership percastag
presented are as of December 31, 2011.

Kellogg Joint Venture (“KJV") is a joinventure consisting of JGC Corporatidthatch Associates PTY LTD (“Hatch”),
Clough Projects Australia PTY LTD (“Clough”) and KBR for the pose of design, procuremerigbrication, construction,
commissioning and testing of the Gorgon Detweam LNG Project located on Barrow fedaoff the northwest coast of Western
Australia. We hold a 30% interest in the joint venture wisotonsolidated for financiaccounting purposes and it is rejeorin
our Hydrocarbons business group.

Aspire Defence Holdings Lirted (“Aspire Defence”) — Alleby & Connaught is a joint wure between us, Carillion
Private Finance Limited and two financial isters formed to contract with the U.Klinistry of Defence (“MoD”) to upgrade and
provide a range of services to the British Army’s garrisatnsldershot and around the Salisbury Plain in the United Kingtiden.
own a 45% interest in Aspire Defence which is reported inM@antures business unit that is included in our Other group. In
addition, we own a 50% interest in each of the two joint vestwithin our IGP group that provide the construction and cklate
support services to Aspire Defence. We account for our invagtritethese entities using the equity method of accounting.

Mantenimiento Marino de Mexic6MMM?”) is a joint venture formed under Rartners Agreement with Grupo R affiliated
entities. The principal Grupo R #y is Corporative Grupo R, S.A. de C.V. aDiscoverer ASA, Ltd., a Cayman Islands company.
The Partners’ Agreement covers five joint venture entitiesting Mexican contracts with PEMEX. The MMM joint venture was
set up under Mexican maritime law in order to hold navigation ipetooperate in Mexican wate The scope of the businessd
render services of maintenance, repai eestoration of offshore oil and gas platforms and provisions of quartering imritosité
waters of Mexico. We own a 50% interest in MMM and in eactheffour other joint ventures. We account for our investment in
these entities using the equity imed of accounting and it is reportedour Services business group.
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Backlog

Backlog represents the dollar amount of revenue we expeeatize in the future as a result of performing work on
contracts awarded and in progress. Our backlog was $10.% kil $12.0 billion at Decemb8i, 2011 and 2010, respectively
We estimate that as of December 31, 2011, 59% of our backlopevikcognized as revenue within one year. All backlog is
attributable to firm orders at December 31, 2011 and Dece&1he2010. For additional information regarding backlog see our
discussion within “Item 7. M@agement’s Discussion and Apsik of Financial Conditionred Results of Operations.”

Contracts

Our contracts are broadly categorizeckiker cost-reimbursable or fixed-pricdthough both categories contain a portion
of “hybrid” contracts containing both sbreimbursable and fixed-price scope.

Fixed-price contracts are for a fixed sum to cover all cagisaay profit element for a defined scope of work. Fixed-price
contracts entail more risk to us because they require ugdetermine both the quantities of work to be performed and #ie co
associated with executing the work. Althougted-price contracts involvgreater risk than costimebursable contracts, thefso
are potentially more profitable sie the owner/customer pays a premiontransfer project risks to us.

Cost-reimbursable contracts include coctisavhere the price is variable basgmbn our actual costs incurred for time and
materials, or for variable quantitieswbrk priced at defined unit rates, inding reimbursable labor hour contracts. Profitcost-
reimbursable contracts may be a fixed amoamhark-up applied to costs incurred, aambination of the two. Cost reimburéab
contracts are generally less gishan fixed-price contracts bause the owner/customer reamany of the project risks.

Our IGP business group provides substantial work under dogtuesable contracts witheéhDoD and other governmental
agencies which are generally subject to applicable statotesegulations. If the Governmefinids that we improperly charde
any costs to a contract under the terms of the contrappticable Federal Procurementdréations, these costs are potdiytiaot
reimbursable or, if already reimbursed, may be required to refund the costs te tustomer. Such conditions may also inelud
financial penalties. If performae issues arise under any of our governmentactst the government retains the right tospe
remedies, which could includertaination under any affected contract. Furthere) the government has the contractual right to
terminate or reduce the amount of work underamntracts at any time. See “Risk Factoi®ur U.S. government contracts work
is regularly reviewed and auddedy our customer, U.S. government auditors ahérst and these reviews can lead to withimaidi
or delay of payments to us, non-rece&paward fees, legal actionines, penalties and liabilities and other remedies agjais.”

Significant Customers

We provide services to a diverse custorbase, including international and patl oil and gas companies, independent
refiners, petrochemical producers, ferdéli producers and domestic and foreign gawemts. Revenue fno the United States
government, which was derig@lmost entirely from our IGP business group,léat&2.2 billion, or 24% of consolidated revenue
in 2011, $3.3 billion, or 32% of consolidated revenue, in 2806,$5.2 billion, or 43% of consolidated revenue, in 2009.eRey
from the Chevron Corporation, which wagided almost entirely from our Hydrocarbons business group, totaled $2.0 billion, or
22% of consolidated revenue, in 2011, $1.8 billion, or 18%afsolidated revenue, in 2010, and $1.4 billion or 11%, of
consolidated revenue, in 2009. No othestomers represented 10% or more of consolidated revenues in any of the periods
presented.

Raw Materials

Equipment and materialsssential to our business are available fromldwide sources. The principal equipment and
materials we use in our business are sultgeavailability and pricing fluctuationdue to customer demand, producer capaaity
market conditions. We monitor the availability and pricingeqlipment and materials on a regular basis. Our procurement
department actively leverages our size and buying power to ehstinee have access to key equipment and materials at the bes
possible prices and delivery schedule. While do not currently foresee any significdatk of availability of equipment and
materials in the near term, the availability of these itemswaay significantly from year to year and any prolonged unabititia
or significant price increases for equipmant materials necessary to our projeats services could have a material advesféect
on our business. Please reddisk Factors— The nature of our contracts, particyldHose that are fixed-price, subject us to risks
associated with cost over-runs, operating coflation and potential claiméor liquidated damages.” antiRisk Factors—Current
or future economic conditions in the credit markets may neggtafééct ability to operate ouor our customers’ businesses,
finance working capital, implement our acquisition stggteand access our cashashort-term investments.”

Intellectual Property

We have developed or otherwise have the right to lickzagiing technologies, includingahnologies held under license
from third parties, used for the production afvariety of petrochemicals and chemscahd in the areas of olefins, refining,
fertilizers and semi-submersildechnology. We also license a variety ofttiealogies for the transformation of raw materiat®
commodity chemicals such as phenol and aniline used in thdegiion of consumer end-products. We are a licensor of ammonia
process technologies used in the conversion of synthetic gasttionia. We believe our techngloportfolio and experience the
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commercial application of these technolsgénd related know-how differgates us from other conttors, enhances our margin
and encourages customers to utilize our broad range of ernigmeerocurement, constructiand construction services (“EPC-
CS”) services.

Our rights to make use of technologies licensed to us arergal/dy written agreements wéirying durations, including
some with fixed terms that are subjectéoewal based on mutual agreement. Generally, each agreement may be further extended
and we have historically been able to renew existing agreements before they expire. We expect these and other similar agreement
to be extended so long as it is mutually advantageous to baibspat the time of renewal. Ftechnologies we own, we prate
our rights through patents and confidentjaigreements to protect our know-how aratle secrets. Our expenditures for redea
and development activities were immaterial in each of the past three fiscal years.

Seasonality

On an overall basis, our operations are not generally affected by seasonality. Weather and natural phenomena can
temporarily affect the performance of our services, but the widadmeographic scope of oureogtions mitigtes those effds.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately 27,000 emplayfewhjch approximately 13% were subject to collective
bargaining agreements. Based upon the gebgrafiversification of our employees, we believe any risk of loss from employee
strikes or other collective actions would rae material to the conduct of our opesat taken as a whol&/e believe that au
employee relations are good.

Health and Safety

We are subject to numerous health and safety laws and regulations. In the United States, these laws and regulations include:
the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and comparatédegislation, the Mine Safeand Health Administration laws
and safety requirements of the Departreeof State, Defense, Energy and Transportation. We are also subject to similar
requirements in other cour@s in which we have extensive operations, inclgdhe United Kingdom where we are subject to the
various regulations enacted by tHealth and Safety Act of 1974.

These laws and regulations are frequentlngiing, and it is impossible to predict #féect of such laws and regulations on
us in the future. We actively seek to maintain a safe, heaittlyenvironmentally friendly worglace for all of our employeemnd
those who work with us. However, we provide some of our@esvn high-risk locations and, asesult, we may incur substeah
costs to maintain the safety of our personnel.

Environmental Regulation

We are subject to numerous environmer&dal, and regulatory gaiirements related to our ap#ions worldwide. In the
United States, these laws and regulatimctude, among others: the Comprehensingibnmental Response, Compensation, and
Liability Act; the Resources @servation and Recovery Act; the Clean Air Abe Federal Water Pollution Control Act; and the
Toxic Substances Control Act. In additito federal and state lawasd regulations, other countriediere we do business dfte
have numerous environmental regulatory nemuents by which we must abide irethormal course of our operations. These
requirements apply to our business groupemhwe perform construction and indugtmi@aintenance services or operate and
maintain facilities.

We continue to monitor conditions at sites owned or prelyjomsned and until further information is available, we are
only able to estimate a possible rangeesfiediation costs. These locations weimarily utilized for manufacturing or fabdation
work and are no longer in operation. The abéhese facilitiexreated various environmental issuncluding deposits of nads,
volatile and semi-volatile compounds, and hydrocarbons inmgastirface and subsurface soils and groundwater. The range of
remediation costs could change dependimgour ongoing site analysis and the timiand techniques used to implement
remediation activities. We do not expect costs related tor@maental matters will have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position or results @berations. Based on the information prely available to us, we have accrued
approximately $7 million for the assessment and remediation @ssisiated with all environmental matters, which represénts t
low end of the range of estimated possible costs that could ie@sas $11 million. See Note 10 to our consolidated finhnci
statements for more information on environmental matters.

We have been named as a potentialgpomsible party (“PRP”) ivarious clean-up actionskien by federal and state
agencies in the U.S. Based on the estdges of these actions, &ee unable to determine whettvee will ultimately be deeed
responsible for any costs asitied with tlese actions.

Existing or pending climate change legiila, regulations, international treaties accords are not expected to have a
material direct effect on our hingss or the markets that we serve, nor onresults of operationsr financial position. Haever,
climate change legislation coulthve a direct effect on our casters or suppliers, which couldveaan indirect effect on our
business. For example, our commodity-based markets depend tveh of activity of minerahnd oil and gas companies, and
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existing or future laws, regulations, treat@sinternational agreements relatectlimate change, including incentives tonserve
energy or use alternative energy sources, could have aedndinpact on our business if sutdws, regulations, treaties, or
international agreements reduce the worlénitmand for minerals, oil and natural gas. We will continue to monitor emerging
developments in this area.

Compliance

We are subject to numerous compliancetegldaws and regulations, including ther&ign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K.
Bribery Act, other applicable anti-bribelggislation, and laws amggulations regarding trade and exports. We are alsorgeve
by our own Code of Business Conduct and other complianceedralatporate policies and procedures that mandate compliance
with these laws. Conducting our business withics and integrity is a key priorifgr KBR. Our Code of Business Conductis
guide for every employee in applying legadaethical practices to our everyday workhe Code of Business Conduct describes
not only our standards of integrity but alsome of the specific principles and areas of the law that are most likely tb affec
business. We regularly train our employees regaratigbribery issues and our Code of Business Conduct.

Website Access

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quartendyports on Form 10-Q, current repaots Form 8-K, and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(dhefSecurities Exchange Act ©934 are made available free of
charge on our internet website_at www.kbr.cammsoon as reasonably preable after we have eleatiically filed the material
with, or furnished it to, the SEQ.he public may read and copyyamaterials we havéled with the SEC at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wagtun, DC 20549. Information on the operatafrthe Public Reference Room may be
obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maingininternet site that contains our reports, proxy and
information statements, and oother SEC filings. The addres$ that site is www.sec.gowWWe have posted on our website our
Code of Business Conduct, which applies ltoohour employees and Directors and serassa code of ethics for our principal
executive officer, principal financial officeprincipal accounting officer, and othpersons performing similar functionsny
amendments to our Code of Business Conduct or any waiverspiarisions of our Code of Business Conduct granted to the
specified officers above are disclosed on wabsite within four business days afthe date of any aemdment or waiver
pertaining to these officers.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Demand for our services depends on demaantl capital spending by customers ineth target markets, many of which are
cyclical in nature.

Demand for many of our services in our commodity-baserketg® depends on capital spending by oil and natural gas
companies, including national and internatiooih companies, and by industrial, migi and power companies, which is directly
affected by trends in oil, natural gas and commaodities pricagital expenditures for refimy and distribution facilities blarge oil
and gas companies have a significant impact on the activitis le¥@ur businesses. Demand {dNG facilities for which we
provide construction services could decrease in the eveat afstained reduction in demand for crude oil or natural gas.
Perceptions of longer-term lower oil and natural gas pricesliand gas companies or longersh higher material and conttac
prices impacting facility costs can similareduce or defer major expenditures giwhe long-term nature of many large-scale
projects. Prices for oil, natural gas armmmodities are subject to large fluctuationgesponse to relatively minor changas
supply and demand, market uncertainty, ameréety of other factors that are beyamar control. Factors affecting the pricafsoil,
natural gas and other commodities include:

. worldwide political social unrest, militaryand economic conditions;
« the level of demand for oil, naturalsgéndustrial serviceand power generation;

e governmental regulations or padis, including the policie®f governments regarding the use of energy and the
exploration for and production and developinaftheir oil and natural gas reserves;

e areduction in energy demand as a result ofggrtaxation or a change aonsumer spending patterns;

« global economic growth or decline;

« the level of oil production by non-OPEC countiaesl the available excesoguction capacity within OPEC;
e global weather condiths and natural disasters;

« oil refining capacity;

« shifts in end-customer preferences toward fuel efficiency and the use of natural gas;

«  potential acceleration of the development and expanded use of alternative fuels;

e environmental regulation, includj limitations on fossil fuel consumptiondzal on concerns about its relationship to
climate change; and

e reduction in demand for the commiyelbased markets in which we operate.

Historically, the markets for oil and natural gas have been volatile and are likely to continue to be volatile in the future.
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The nature of our contracts, particularlyhose that are fixed-pce, subject us to risks associated with cost over-runs, dpega
cost inflation and potentiatlaims for liqguidated damages.

We conduct our business under vas types of contracts where costs aremeged in advance obur performance.
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The U.S. government awards its contracts through a rigorousnpetitive process and our eff@tto obtain future contract
awards from the U.S. government may be unsuccessful.

The U.S. government conducts a rigorous competitive process &diag most contracts. In the services arena, the U.S.
government uses multiple contracting approaches. Historicallgiboi contract vehicles, such lasgCAP, have been used for
work that is done on a contingency or as-needed basis. & pnedictable “sustainment” emenments, contracts may include
both fixed-price and cost-reimbursable elements. The U.S.rgoeat has also recently favored multiple award task order
contracts, in which several contractors are selected as eligible bidders for future work. Such processes require suitaessfsl con
to continually anticipate customer reaaritents and develop rapidsponse bid and proposal teaias well as have supplier
relationships and delivery systems in place to react to engengieds. We will face rigorous competition and pricing pressores
any additional contract awards from theSUgovernment, and we may be requiredjt@lify or continue to qualify under the
various multiple award task order contract criteria. It may beerdificult for us to win future awards from the U.S. goveemtn
and we may have other contractors sharingrip U.S. government awards that we wimaddition, negative publicity regarding
findings stemming from Defense Coatt Audit Agency (“DCAA”) audits and Conggsional investigationsay adversely affect
our ability to obtain future awards. S8&m 7. Management's Dis@sion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Analysis — U.S. Government Matters.”

Our U.S. government contract work is regularly reviewed asadited by our customer, U.§jovernment auditors and others,
and these reviews can lead to withholding delay of payments to us, non-receipt @fvard fees, legal actions, fines, penattie
and liabilities and othe remedies against us.

U.S. government contracts are subjecfecific regulations such as the Fedé&mduisition Regulation (“FAR”), the Truth
in Negotiations Act, the Cost AccountingaBitlards (“CAS”), the Servic€ontract Act and DoD security regulations. Failure to
comply with any of these regulations, regunents or statutes may result in contgaite adjustments, financial penaltiesdan
contract termination. Our U.government contracts are subject to audits, msews and investigations by U.S. government
contracting oversight agencies such as the DCAA. The DCA®ws the adequacy of, and our compliance with, our internal
control systems and policies, including our labor, billingcoanting, purchasing, property, estimating, compensation and
management information systems. The DCHW&s the authority to conduct audits andee's to determine if KBR is complying
with the requirements under the FAR and CAS, pertaining to libeatibn, period assignment, allowability, and allocationasits
assigned to US Government catts. The DCAA presents its report findinigsthe Defense Contract Management Agency
(“DCMA"). Should the DCMA deternime that we have not complied with the terafsour contract and applicable statutes and
regulations, payments tes may be disallowed which could result in adjustta¢o previously reported revenues and refunding o
previously collected cash proceeds.

Given the demands of working in the Middle East and elsefoerthe U.S. government, we expect that from time to time
we will have disagreements or experience performance isgitieshe various government customers for which we work. If
performance issues arise under any of our government contracts, the government retains the right to pursue remedies, which coul
include termination under any affted contract. If any contraatere so terminated, we may not receive award fees under the
affected contract and our ability to secduture contracts could be adverselyeafed, although we would expect to receive
payment for amounts owed for our allowable costs under cosbuesable contracts. Othermmedies that our government
customers may seek for performance issues include sanctionasuonfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and
suspensions or debarment from doing business with the gowsrnferther, the negative publicity that could arise from
disagreements with our customers or sanctass result thereof could have an adegesffect on our ptation in the indusyy
reduce our ability to compete for new contsa and may also have a te@al adverse effect on obusiness, financial conditn,
results of operations and cash flow.

Our results of operations depend ondlaward of new contracts and the timing of the performance of these contracts.

A substantial portion of our revenue isetitly or indirectly derivd from new contract awards. Delays in the timing of the
awards or potential cancellations of such prospects as # ofseconomic conditions, material and equipment pricing and
availability, or other factorsauld impact our long termrojected results. It is particubardifficult to predict whether owhen we
will receive large-scale international addmestic projects as these contracts frequently involve a lengthy and compleg hididlin
selection process which is affected bguamber of factors, such asarket conditions, governmentahd environmental approvals
Because a significant portion of our revenue is generated from such projects, our results of operations and cash flaatean fluct
significantly from quarter to quiger depending on the timing of our contractaasle and the commencement or progress of work
under awarded contracts. In addition, manyhee contracts are subject to finanaingtingencies and, as a result, we atgect
to the risk that the customer will not be able to secure the necessary financing for the project.

We may be unable to obtain new contractads if we are unable to provide our cashers with bonds, letters of credit or other
credit enhancements.

Customers may require us to provide d@redhancements, including surety bond#ighs of credit or bank guarantees. We
are often required to provide performance guarantees to astam indemnify the customer should we fail to perform our
obligations under the contra Failure to provide a bond on terms require@ loyistomer may result an inability to bid oror win
a contract award. Historically, weave had adequate bonding capacity but dumiding beyond the capacity of our Credit
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Agreement is generally at the provider'desdiscretion. Due to events that afféhe banking and insurance markets generall
bonding may be difficult to obtain or may orlg available at significant cost. Moreovmany projects are often very larged
complex, which often necessitati® use of a joint venture, often with a markempetitor, to bid on and perform the contrac
However, entering into joint ventures omreerships exposes us to the credit and perdmce risk of third parties, many oham
may not be as financially strong as. If our joint ventures or partners failgerform, we could suffer negative resulis.addition,
future projects may require us to obtain letters of crediteti@ind beyond the term of ourgent Credit Agreement. Any afility

to bid for or win new contracts due to the failure of obtajnadequate bonding, letters of credit and/or other customary cred
enhancements could have a matathlerse effect on our busingssspects and future revenue.

The uncertainty of the timig of future contract awards may inhibour ability to recover our labor costs.

The uncertainty of our contract award timing can also presHitutties in matching workforce size with contract needs. In
some cases, we maintain and bear the cost of a ready veerkfiat is larger than called for under existing contracts inigatiion
of future workforce needs for expected contract awards. If pactxd contract award is delayed or not received, we may incur
additional costs resulting from reductions in staff or redundantacdities, which could have a material adverse effeain

Our backlog is subject to unexpected adjustngeand cancellations and, therefore, magpt be a reliable indicator of our futu
revenue or earnings.

As of December 31, 2011, our backlog was approximately $10.9 billion. We cannot guarantee that the revenue projected in
our backlog will be realized or profitable. Many of our coctisaare subject to cancellation, termination, or suspensioreat th
discretion of the customer. From time todinchanges in project scope may occur wgspect to contracts reflected in oacklog
and could reduce the dollar amount of ouckbag and the timing of the revenue and fisothat we actually earn. Projectsyma
remain in our backlog for an extended period of time becaude afature of the project and the timing of the particularicesv
equipment by the project. Additionallpoor project performance could also impacir backlog and profits if it results in
termination of the contract. We cannot predict the impatcire economic conditions may e on our backlog which could
include a diminished ability to replace backlog once projects are completed and/or could result in the termination, mattificatio
suspension of projects currently in our backlog. Such develoincould have a material adse affect on our financial coriidin,
results of operations and cash flows.

We conduct a portion of our engineering and construction opéwas through joint ventures ad partnerships exposing us to
risks and uncertainties, many of vith are outside of our control.

We conduct a portion of our engineering, procurement cmtruction operations through large project-specific joint
ventures, where control may be shared with unaffiliated thirdesars with any joint venture arrangement, differenceséwsi
among the joint venture participants may result in delayed dasisir in failures to agree on major issues. We also cannbto
the actions of our joint venture partners, including any nonpesfoes) default, or bankruptcy of our joint venture partrard,we
typically share liabilities on a joint and several basis withjomnt venture partners under these joint venture arrangem#érasr
partners do not meet their contractual obligations, the joinuxemay be unable to adequatpbrform and deliver its comtcted
services requiring us to make additiomaléstments or perform additional servicegmgure the adequate performance andelgii
of services to our customer. We could be liable for bothobligations and those of our paets which may result in reduced
profits or, in some cases, significant losses on the projedtlitidnally, these factors coulthve a material adverse affest the
business operations of the joint venture andiyin, our business operations and reputation.

Operating through joint ventures in which we have a minamigrest could result in us having limited control over many
decisions made with respect to projeatsl anternal controls relating to projects.e€Be joint ventures may not be subjecthe
same requirements regiéng internal controls and internal control reportthgt we follow. As a result, internal control issumay
arise, which could have a material adverse effect on our falacendition and results of operation. Additionally, in order t
establish or preserve relationships with @int venture partners, we may agree to risks and contributions of resourcasethat
proportionately greater than the returns we could receive,hwtdald reduce our income and returns on these investments
compared to what we may have received if the risks and c=sowe contributed we always proportionate to our returns.

We make equity investments in privately financeajects in which we could sustain significant losses.

We participate in privately financed projects that enablegouernment and other customerdit@nce large-scale projects,
such as major military equipment, capital project and servicehpses. These projects typically include the facilitationoof- n
recourse financing, the designdaconstruction of facilities, anthe provision of operation and maintenance services fograed
to period after the facilities have been completed. We may incur contractually reimbursable costs and typically make an equity
investment prior to an entity achieving ogonal status or receiving project finamg. If a project is unable to obtain éincing,
we could incur losses on our etinvestments and any related contractual receivables. After completion of these pragects, th
return on our equity investments can be dependent on the opatatiiccess of the project andrked factors, which may noteb
under our control. As a result, we could sustdimsa on our equity investment in these projects.
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Intense competition in thengineering and construction industry codireduce our market share and profits.

We serve markets that are highly competitive and in kviaidarge number of multinational companies compete. These
highly competitive markets require substantial resources arithlcegvestment in equipment, technology and skilled personnel.
Our projects are frequently awarded through a competitive biddiragpgspwhich is standard in our industry. We are constantly
competing for project awards based onipgcand the breadth and technological ssfitation of our services. Any increase in
competition or reduction in our competitive capabilities could fasegnificant adverse impact on the margins we generate fro
our projects as well as our ability to maintain or increase market share.

If we are unable to attract and retaia sufficient number of affordable trained egineers and other skilled workers, our alili
to pursue projects may bedversely affected and our costs may increase.

Our rate of growth and the success of our business depgodsour ability to attract, delop and retain a sufficient
number of affordable trained engineers and other skilled workees ¢hrough direct hire or acquisition of other firms emijig
such professionals. The market for these professionals is competitive. If we are unable to attract and retain a suffmieit nu
skilled personnel, our ability to acquire projects may be adiyeedfected, the costs of executing our existing and futwegs
may increase, and our financial performance may decline.

We ship a significant amount of cargo using seagoimgssels which expose us to certain maritime risks.

We execute different projects around the world that includ®ie locations. Depending on the type of contract, location
and the nature of the work, we may charter vessels under tinteegtibat charter parties tltsume certain risks typical thfose
agreements. Such risks may include damage to the shipadildylifor cargo and liability wich charterers and vessel operat
have to third parties “at law”. In additi, we ship a significant amount of cargiod are subject to hazards of the ship@End
transportation industry.

If we are unable to enforce our intellectli@roperty rights or if our intellectual poperty rights become obsolete, our comitped
position could be adversely impacted.

We utilize a variety of intellectual property rights in our segsi We view our portfolio of process and design technologies
as one of our competitive strengths and we use it as part effous to differentiate our service offerings. We may noatble to
successfully preserve these intellectual property rights in thesfand these rights could walidated, circumvented, clenged
or infringed upon. In addition, the laws of some foreign céemtin which our services may be sold do not protect intellectua
property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Because we license technologies from third paraesskhere
that our relationships with licensors maynténate, expire or be interrupted or hadnIn some, but not all cases, we mayble to
obtain the necessary intellectual properghts from alternative sources. If we are hieao protect and maintain our inedtual
property rights, or if there are any sassful intellectual property challengesimiringement proceedings against us, ouilitgito
differentiate our service offeringmuld diminish. In addition, if our intellectuproperty rights or work processes becorhealete,
we may not be able to differentiate our service offerings ame s our competitors may be able to offer more attractivécesrv
to our customers. As a result, our business and financial performance could be materially and adversely affected.

Current or future economic conditions in # credit markets may negatively affect thbility to operate ouror our customers’
businesses, finance working capital, ingshent our acquisition strategy, and access cash and short-term investments.

We finance the most of our operations using cash providespbyations but also depend on the availability of credit to
grow our businesses. Unfavorable economic conditions have bronghrtainty to the capital and credit markets in the U.&. an
abroad, which could make it more difficult for us to raiseitamthl capital or obtain additiondinancing. Our ability to btain
such additional capital or financing will depend in part up@vagiting market conditions as Was conditions in our businesnd
our operating results, and those factors may affect our eftoasrange additional financinan terms that are satisfactaxy us.

We cannot be certain that additional funds will be availabledfled to make future investments in certain projects, talantatye
of acquisitions or other opportunities or respond to competitiespres. If additional funds are not available, or aravaitable
on terms satisfactory to us, there could be a materiafsalirapact on our businessdfinancial performance.

Disruptions of the credit markets could also adversafgct our clients' borrowing capacity, which supports the
continuation and expansion of projects wlarde, and could result in contract canagtns or suspensions, project delays and
payment delays or defaults by our clierts.addition, clients may choose to médkaver capital expendites or otherwise slow
their spending on our services or to seek contract terms fianaseable to them. Our governmaniients may face budget defigit
that prohibit them from funding proposed and existing projectsabrctiuse them to exercise their right to terminate ouraist
with little or no prior notice. Furthermorany financial difficulties suffered by osubcontractors or suppliers could irase our
cost or adversely impaptoject schedules. Thesesdiptions could materially impact obacklog and financial performance.

In addition, we are subject to the righat the counterparties to our Credigreement may be unable to meet their
obligations if they suffer catastrophic demand on their liquittigt will prevent them frorfulfilling their contractual obfjation to
us. We also routinely enter into contracts with countergartiecluding vendors, supplierand subcontractors that may be
negatively impacted by events in the credit markets. If thosaterparties are unable to perfotimeir obligations to us aour
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clients, we may be required to provide additional servicesale alternate arrangements on less favorable terms with otties pa

to ensure adequate performance and delivery of service to our clients. These circumstances could also lead to disputes and
litigation with our partners or clients, which could have a netadverse impact on our reputation, business, financialittamd

and results of operations.

Furthermore, our cash balances and stesrtr investments are maintained in @oats held at major banks and financial
institutions located primarily in North America and the Unikédgdom. Deposits are in amounts that exceed available inguranc
Although none of the financial institutions in which we hold owhcand investments have gontibankruptcy, been forcedtm
receivership, or have been seized by tgeivernments, there is a risk that this neagur in the future. If this were to agc we
would be at risk of not being able to access our cash whichresalt in a temporary liquidity crisis that could impede otiitgto
fund operations.

Our Credit Agreement imposes restrictiotisat limit our operating flexibility and ma result in additionalexpenses, and this
credit agreement may not be available if financial covenants are violated or if an edfadefault occurs.

Our Credit Agreement provides a credit line of up to $1.0 billion, and expires in December 2016. It contains a number of
covenants restricting, among other things, our ability to ifiens and indebtedness, sell dsseepurchase our equity searand
make certain types of investments. We are also subject tind&mtncial covenants, includg maintenance of a maximum ratib
consolidated debt to consolidated EBITDAdaa minimum consolidated net worth. If we fail to meet the covenants, or an event of
default occurs, the credit line would not &eailable unless the necessary waiveraroendments of lenders participating e t
bank syndicate could be obtained.

A breach of any covenant or our inability to comply wiitle required financial ratios could result in a default under our
Credit Agreement, and we can provide no assurance that we vaillbdo obtain the necessary waivers or amendments from our
lenders to remedy a default. In the event of any defaultured or waived, the lenders are not obligated to provide furating
issue letters of credit and could elect to require us to apply available cash to collateralize any outstanding lettararaf credi
declare any outstanding borrowings, togethith accrued interest and other fees,b® immediately due and payable, thus
requiring us to apply available sfato repay any borrowings then outstanditfgwe are unable to cash collateralize ourdettof
credit or repay borrowings with respect to our Credit Agreemveen due, our lenders could procemghinst the guarantees afro
major domestic subsidiaries. If any future indebtedness undeZredit Agreement is accelerated, we can provide no assurance
that our assets would be sufficientrépay such indebtedness in full.

An impairment of all or part of our goodwiland/or our intangible assets could ka a material adverse impact to our net
earnings and net worth.

As of December 31, 2011, we had $951 million of goodwill and $113 million of intangible assets recorded on our
consolidated balance sheet.oddwill represents the excess of cost over thenfairket value of net assets acquired in bussine
combinations. If our market capitalization drops significantly Wwelbe amount of net equity recorded on our balance sheet, it
might indicate a decline in our fair value and would requirtodarther evaluate whether our goodwill has been impairedaléde
perform an annual analysis of our goodwill to determine if it llm®ime impaired. The analysis requires us to make assusption
in estimates of fair value of our repaigi units. If actual results are significandifferent than the estimates, we midletrequired
to write down the impaired portion of goodwill. An impairmentéfor a significant part of our goodwill and/or intangibésets
could have a material adverse impcour net earnings and net worth.

We are subject to certain U.S. laws and regulations, which are the subject of rigorous enforcement by the U.S. government.

To the extent that we export productstinical data and services outside of mited States we argubject to laws and
regulations governing trade and exports, udaig but not limited to, the Internatidn@raffic in Arms Regulations, the Expor
Administration Regulations and tmdanctions against embargoed countries, whieladministered by the Office of Foreign Ass
Control within the Department of the Treasury. A failure to dgmygth these laws and regulatis could result in civil andfo
criminal sanctions, including ¢himposition of fines upon us as well as the dewnif export privileges and debarment from
participation in U.S. governmenbntracts. Additionally, we may be subjéztqui tam litigation brought by private individgaon
behalf of the U.S. government under thedéral False Claims Act, vich could include claims fotreble damages. U.S.
government contract violations could result in the impositiociaf and criminal penalties or sanctions, contract terminatio
forfeiture of profit, and/or suspension of payment, any of wisichld make us lose our statas an eligible U.S. government
contractor and cause us to suffer seriousnita our reputation. Any suspensiont@mmination of our Us. government contraar
status could have a negative adverse impact tbuminess, financial condition or results of operations.

We are subject to anti-briberyaws in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, vitions of which could include suspension or
debarment of our ability to contract with the United States, stat local governments, U.$overnment agencies or the U.K.
MoD, third party claims, loss of custom& adverse financial impact, damage teputation and adverse consequences on
financing for current or future projects.
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The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) in the U.S. amdilar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally

prohibit companies and their intermediarfean making improper payments to non-Udfficials for the purpose of obtaining or
retaining business. Our policies mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws. We operate in many parts of the weeld that ha
experienced governmental corruption to some degree and, &nceircumstances, strict compiize with anti-bribery laws may
conflict with local customs and practices. We train our staff concerning FCPA issues, and we also inform our partners,
subcontractors, agents and ottterd parties who work for us or on our behalittithey must comply with the requirementshof
FCPA and other anti-corruption laws. We alsve procedures and controls in placentnitor internal and external compliance.
We cannot assure you that our internal alatand procedures alwaysll protect us from the reckless or criminal acts contedit
by our employees or third parties working on our behalf. If veef@aund to be liable for violains of these laws (either dteeour
own acts or our inadvertence, or due to the acts or inadveréontigers), we could suffer fno criminal or civil penalties roother
sanctions which could kre a material adverse effect on our business.

Our current business strategy includes acquisitiowhich present certaimisks and uncertainties.

We seek business acquisition activities as a means of Iningdmur offerings and capturing additional market opportunities
by our business units. As a result, we may incur certain additional risks accompanying these activities. These riskeinclude th
following:

x Valuation methodologies may not acdetyg capture the value proposition;

x Future completed acquisitions may not be integrated withiroperations with the efficiency and effectiveness initially
expected resulting in a potentially sigoént detriment to the assated product service line financial results, and pose
additional risks to our operations as a whole;

x We may have difficulty managingetgrowth from acquisition activities;

x Key personnel within an acquired organization may resign fhain related positions resulting in a significant loss to ou
strategic and operational efficiency associated with the acquired company;

x The effectiveness of our daily operatiommay be reduced by the redirection of employees and other resources to
acquisition activities;

x We may assume liabilities of an acquired business (e.gatldig tax liabilities, contingent liabilities, environmental
issues), including liabilities that were unknown at the timeattgiisition, that pose future risks to our working capital
needs, cash flows and the profitability of related operations;

x Business acquisitions may include subsgritansactional costs to compldtee acquisition that exceed the estimated
financial and operational benefits;

x Future acquisitions may require us toabtadditional equity or debt financinghich may not be available on attractive
terms. Moreover, to the extent an acquisition transactsnlts in additional goodwill, it will reduce our tangible net
worth, which might have an adversffect on our credit capacity.

If we need to sell or issue additional mmnon shares to finance future acquisitionseur existing shareholder ownership coulab
diluted.

Part of our business strategy is tgand into new markets and enhance ouitiposin existing markets both domestically
and internationally through the acquiring and merging of compi&ane businesses. To succedisf fund and complete such
potential acquisitions, we may issue additional equity secutftagsmay result in dilution of our existing shareholder owimipr
earnings per share.

Provisions in our charter documnts, Delaware law and Credit Agreement mahibit a takeover or impact operational control
which could adversely affect the value of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as Delavearporate law, contain prigions that could delay or
prevent a change of control or changes in our managemerat satkholder might consider faable. These provisions include,
among others, a staggered board of directors, prohibitingtsitoter action by written consent, advance notice for raisinméss
or making nominations at meetings of stockleos and the issuance of preferred stoitk vights that may be senior to thogeoar
common stock without stockholder approvislany of these provisions became effeetifollowing the exchange offer. These
provisions would apply even if a takeovéfeo may be considered beneficial by soaf@ur stockholders. If a change of cohtro
change in management is delayed or ené@d, the market price of our common ktaould decline. Additionally, our Credit
Agreement contains a default provision that igggred upon a change in control of at least 25%.
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International and political eventsnay adversely affect our operations.

A significant portion of our revenue is dezd from foreign operations, which exposesaigsks inherent in doing business
in each of the countries where we transact business. The eropeirof any of the risks described below could have a material
adverse effect on our business operatiom$ #nancial performance. With respectany particular country, these risks may
include:

e expropriation and nationalizati@f our assets in that country;

e political and economic instability;

e civil unrest, acts of terrorism, for majeure, war, or other armed conflict;

e currency fluctuations, devaltions, and conveien restrictions;

«  confiscatory taxation arther adverse tax policies;

« governmental activitiehat limit or disruptmarkets, restrict payments, limit the movement of funds;

e governmental activitiesalhmay result in the deprivation of contract rights; and

e governmental activities that may result in the ilitstkio obtain or retain licenses required for operation.

Due to the unsettled political conditions in many oibgwcing countries and other countries where we provide
governmental logistical support, our finarigierformance is subject the adverse consequences of war, the effects ofismor
civil unrest, strikes, currency controland governmental actions. Our operations @educted in areas that have significant
amounts of political risk. In addition, military action or toned unrest in the Middle East could impact the supply aiwé pfioil
and gas, disrupt our operations in the region and elsevdraténcrease our costs related to security worldwide.

We may have additional tax liabilities asso@dtwith our international operations.

We are subject to income taxes in the United Statesnamterous foreign jurisdictions, many of which are developing
countries. Significant judgmeis required in determining our worldwide prowsifor income taxes due to lack of clear and
concise tax laws and regulations in certd@veloping jurisdictions. It is not unlikethat laws may be changed or clarifiadd
such changes may adversely affect our taxigions. Also, in the ordinary courseafr business, there are many transastemd
calculations where the ultimatax determination may be uncarn. We are regularly under audy various tax authorities.
Although we believe that our tax estimates mrasonable, the final outcome of taxligs and related litigtion could be matally
different from that which is reflected in our financial statements.

We work in international locations where there are high security risks, which could result in harm to our employees and
contractors or substantial costs.

Some of our services are performed in high-risk locatioreh a8 Iraq, Afghanistan, Nigeri Algeria, Egypt and Saudi
Arabia where the country or location and surrounding area isrswgffrom political, social, ecamic issues, war or civil uast. In
those locations where we have employeesparations, we have and may continue tauirsubstantial costs to maintain the gafe
of our personnel. Despite these precautions, we have sufferddsthof employees and contractors which could expose us to
claims and litigation. In the future thefey of our personnel in these and other locations may continue to be at rigingymto
the potential loss of additional employees and contractors.

We are subject to significant foreign exahge and currency risks that could advetgaffect our operations and our ability to
reinvest earnings from operationgs well as mitigate our foreign exchangeskithrough hedging transactions may be limited.

We generally attempt to denominate our contracts in U.S. Dalfars the currencies of our costs. However, we do enter
into contracts that subject us to currenisk exposure, primarily when our contraetenue is denominated in a currencyetiht
than the contract costs. A significant foom of our consolidated revenue and cditksted operating expenses are in foreign
currencies. As a result, we are subject to significant dareurrency risks, including riskesulting from changes in foreig
exchange rates and limitations on our abiigyreinvest earnings from operationsime country to fund the financing requirents
of our operations in other countries.
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The national governments of certain colegrmay impose resttice exchange controls on loaalrrencies and, as a result,
it may not be possible for us to engage in effective hedgingactions to mitigate the risks associated with fluctuations of
particular currency. We are often required to pay all or agyodf our costs associated with a project in the local cyreAs a
result, we generally attempt to negotiatmtract terms with our cumner, who is oftemffiliated with tke local governmengr has
a significant local presence, to provide that we are onlyipatie local currency for amounts that match our local expelisgs.
are unable to match our local currency sagith revenue in the local currency, wewd be exposed to the risk of adversentes
in currency exchange rates.

Halliburton’s indemnity for matters relating to the Barracud&aratinga project only applies tthe replacement of certain
subsea bolts, and Halliburton’s actions may tioe in our stockholders’ best interests.

Under the terms of our master separatioreagent with our former parent Hallibort, Halliburton agreed to indemnify us
for any liability we incur as a result of the replacement ofagersubsea flow-line bolts inskadl or in connection with the
Barracuda-Caratinga project arbitration. At our cost, we cotiteodefense, counterclaim and/or settlement of this matter, b
Halliburton has discretion to determine whether to agree tosattiement or other resolution. We expect Halliburton will take
actions that are in the best interests of its stockholdershwiéy or may not be in our owr stockholders’ best interest$or
example, Halliburton has directed us to challenge the recbittatipn award to the project owner and the legal costs of the
challenge will be born by us. Please read “Item 7. Managen@istsission and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Legal Proceedings”.

We rely on information technology systertsconduct our business, and disruption, faikior security breaches of these system
could adversely affect our buséss and results of operations.

We rely heavily on information technology (IT) systems idesrto achieve our business objectives. We also rely upon
industry accepted security measures antrnelogy to securely maintain confidentehd proprietary information maintained on
our IT systems. However, our portfolio bardware and software products, solutiond services and our enterprise IT systems
may be vulnerable to damage or disruption caused by circurestaeyond our control such@atastrophic events, power outages
natural disasters, computer ystor network failures, computer viruses, cyatacks or other malicious software programbe
failure or disruption of our IT systems to perform as antiegpdbr any reason could disrupt our business and result inadedre
performance, significant remediation costs, transaction etossof data, processing inefécicies, downtimeljtigation, and the
loss of suppliers or customers. A significant disruption uria could have a materiatlgerse effect on our business opieras,
financial performance and financial condition.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

We own or lease properties in domesti@ foreign locations. The followingdations represent our major facilities.

Location Owned/Leased Description Business Segment
Houston, Texas Leased(1) Office facilities All and Corporate
Arlington, Virginia Leased Office facilities IGP
Houston, Texas Owned Campgasility All and Corporate
Birmingham, Alabama Owned Cpus facility All and Corporate
Leatherhead, United Kingdom  Owned Campus facility All
Greenford, Middlesex Owned Office falities Hydrocarbons

United Kingdom

Q) At December 31, 2011, we had a 50% interest in a joinukenthich owns an office building in which we lease office
space. We also lease office space in other buildings owned by unrelated parties.

We also own or lease numerousadinfecilities that include sateoffices and project officesrtbughout the world. All of our
owned properties are unencumbeaad we believe all properties that we currently occupy are suitable for their intended use.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Information relating to various commitmerdaad contingencies is described in “Rislctors” contained in Part | of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and “ltem ®lanagement’'s Discussioma Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and in Notes 9 and 10 to our consolidated finasteit@ments and the informatiorsaliissed therein is incorpordtey
reference into this Item 3.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Sbckholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchander the symbol “KBR.” The following table sets forth, on

a per share basis for the periods indicated, the high and lowrsads per share for our common stock as reported by the New
York Stock Exchange and dividends declared:

Dividends
Common Stock Price Range Declared
High Low Per Share

Fiscal Year 2011
First quarter ended March 31, 2011 $ 38.28 $ 28.43 $ 0.05

Second quarter ended June 30, 2011 $ 3879 $ 3379 $ 0.05
Third quarter ended September 30, 2011 $ 3934 $ 2329 $ 0.05
Fourth quarter ended December 31, 2011 $ 3017 $ 2086 $ 0.05
Fiscal Year 2010
First quarter ended March 31, 2010 $ 23.00 $ 1730 $ —
Second quarter ended June 30, 2010 $ 24.40 $ 1931 $ 0.05
Third quarter ended September 30, 2010 $ 2489 $ 1953 $ 0.05
Fourth quarter ended December 31, 2010 $ 31.42 $ 2453 $ 0.05

At January 31, 2012, there were 133 shareholders of recardlcumating the number of sha@ders, we consider clearing
agencies and security position listings as one shareholder for each agency or listing.

On June 8, 2010, we initiated a Board of Directors authoshede repurchase program allowing us to maintain, over time,
our outstanding shares at approximately 150 million sharesufjust 2011, we made our final share repurchase under this
authorization. On August 26, 2011, KBRrounced that its Board of Directors laatized a new share repurchase program to
repurchase up to 10 million of our outstanding common shares. The authorization does not specify an expiration date.
following is a summary of share repurchases of our commok sttited during the three maistended December 31, 2011.

Total Number of

Shares Purchased Maximum Number of
Total Number Average as Part of Publicly Shares that May Yet Be
of Shares Price Paid Announced Plans Purchased Under the
Purchase Period Purchased per Share or Programs Plans or Programs®
October 3 — 24, 2011
Repurchase Prograﬁ% — $ — — 8,794,300
Employee Transactior® 3,461 $ 24.74 — —
November 9 — 30, 2011
Repurchase Program 120,000 $ 26.92 120,000 8,674,300
Employee Transactior® 28,081 $ 27.02 — —
December 1 — 30, 2011
Repurchase Program 698,394 $ 25.83 698,394 7,975,906
Employee Transactior® 341 $ 25.12 — —
Total
Repurchase Prografth 818,394 $ 25.99 818,394 7,975,906
Employee Transactiod® 31,883 $ 26.75 — —

(@) Represents remaining common shares that may fagafgased pursuant to the August 26, 2011 announced share
repurchase program.

(b) Reflects shares acquired from employees in connectitin the settlement of income tax and related benefit
withholding obligations arising from g&ng of restricted stock units.
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Under our Credit Agreement we are permitted to repuraaseommon stock, provided that no such repurchases shall
be made from the proceeds borrowed undeCiieelit Agreement, and that the aggregatirchase price and dividends paid after
December 2, 2011, does not to exceed the Distribution Cap. At December 31, 2011, the remaining availability under the
Distribution Cap was approximately $732 million. The declarati@hmayment of any future dividends will be at the discregion
our Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other thiaggse earnings, general finaial condition and liquidity, stcess
in business activities, capital requiremts, and general business conditions.

Performance Graph

The chart below compares the cumulative total sharehotti@m on our common shares for the five-year period ended
December 31, 2011, with the cumulative total return on the Danes Heavy Construction Industry Index and the Russell 1000
Index for the same period. The comparison assumes the nrergsbf $100 on December 29, 2006, and reinvestment of all
dividends. The shareholder return is natessarily indicative of future performance.

12/29/2006 12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009  12/31/2010 12/30/2011
KBR $ 100.00 $ 14830 $ 5862 $ 7411 $ 11984 $ 110.16
Dow Jones Heavy

Construction 100.00 189.61 84.84 96.55 123.48 101.42
Russell 1000 100.00 103.86 63.34 79.47 90.50 90.04
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents selected fingl data for the last five years. You should read the following information in
conjunction with “ltem 7. Manageent's Discussion and Analysis of Financ@2dndition and Results of Operations” and the
consolidated financial statements and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(In millions, except for per share amounts)

Statements of Operations Data:

Total revenue $ 9,261 $ 10,099 $ 12,105 $ 11,581 $ 8,745
Operating income 587 609 536 541 294
Income from continuing operations, net of tax 540 395 364 356 204
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — — — 11 132
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (60) (68) (74) (48) (34)
Net income attributable to KBR 480 327 290 319 302
Basic net income attributable to KBR per share:
—Continuing operations $ 3.18 $ 2.08 $ 1.80 $ 1.84 $ 1.08
—Discontinued operations (a) — — — 0.07 0.71
Basic net income attributable to KBR per share $ 3.18 $ 2.08 $ 1.80 $ 191 $ 1.79
Diluted net income attributable to KBR per share:
—Continuing operations $ 3.16 $ 2.07 $ 1.79 $ 1.84 $ 1.08
—Discontinued operations (a) — — — 0.07 0.71
Diluted net income attributable to KBR per share $ 3.16 $ 2.07 $ 1.79 $ 1.90 $ 1.78
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 150 156 160 166 168
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 151 157 161 167 169
Cash dividends declared per share $ 0.20 $ 0.15 $ 0.20 $ 0.25 $-
Balance Sheet Data (as of the end of period):
Cash and equivalents $ 966 $ 786 $ 941 $ 1,145 $ 1,861
Net working capital 1,158 923 1,350 1,099 1,433
Total assets 5,673 A7 5,327 5,884 5,203
Non-recourse project-finance debt 98 101 — — —
Total shareholders’ equity $ 442 $ 2204 $ 229% % 2,034 $ 2,235
Other Financial Data:
Backlog at year end $ 10,931 $ 12,041 $ 14,098 $ 14,097 $ 13,051
Gross operating margin percegga 6.3% 6.0% 4.4% 4.7% 3.4%
Capital expenditures (b) $ 83 $ 66 $ 41 $ 37 $ 36
Depreciation and amortizati@xpense (c) $ 71 $ 62 $ 5 $ 49 % 31

@ We completed the sale of the Production Services groMayn2006 and the disposition of our 51% interest in Devonport
Management Limited (“DML") inJune 2007. The results of operationghef Production Services group and DML for all
periods presented have been régubas discontinued operations.

(b) Capital expenditures do not includependitures related to the noncash investntyvities for the purchase of computer
software of $19 million for the year ended December2®10 and the discontinued operations for DML of $7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2007.

(c) Depreciation and amortization experdmes not include expenses relatedthe discontinued operations for DML of
$10 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.
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Item 7. Management'’s Discussiomnd Analysis of Financial Condiion and Results of Operations
Introduction

Management'’s discussion and arsid (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunctiowith the consolidatefinancial statements
and related notes included iert 8 of this Annual Report.

Executive Overview
Business Environment

Hydrocarbons MarketsWe provide a full range of engineering, prament and construction services for large and
complex upstream and downstream projettsluding LNG and GTL facilities, ohere and offshore oil and gas production
facilities, refining, biofuels and othergjects. We serve customers in the gasetization, oil and ga petrochemical, rafing and
chemical markets throughout the world. Our projects are gendoal) term in nature and are impacted by factors including
market conditions, financing arrgements, governmentgb@rovals and environmental matteBeemand for our services depends
primarily on our customergapital expenditures in oupnstruction market sectors.

Capital expenditures in our petroleumdapetrochemical markets are driven @ghpbal economic growth expectations
reflected in a long global spending cycl@he spending cycle is moderated by flucmd in crude oil prices and chemical
feedstock costs including natural gas prices, and is also pasidject to financial shock. The hydrocarbons market int mos
international regions has improved from the downturn that cedwas a result of the worldvadeconomic recession. We now to
see long term growth in environmentadpd economically driven energy projeatsluding demand for related licensed process
technologies, offshore oil and gas productibNG, biofuels, motor fuels, chemicaded fertilizers. Upstream and downstream
investment plans are advancing in such resource rich areas as the Middle East, Brazil, North Sea and East and West Africa. LNG
prospects continue to develop in the Asia-Pacific region, as well as in East Africa and North America as a result of ¢fas recent
discoveries. Each of these trends plays to KBR's particulsability to deliver large projects in remote locations and harsh
environments.

Abundant shale gas supplies and resulting low prices in Nor#riéanare driving renewed interest in petrochemical project
investments. Feasibility studieand front-end engineering and design projecigicue to grow, reflecting clients’ intentisrio
invest in capital intensive energy peofs that utilize our process technaézgand EPC project delivery skills.

Infrastructure, Government and Power Markets (“IGP’A significant portion of ourlGP business group’s current
activities supports thelnited States’ and the United Kingdongevernment operations in Iraq, gkfanistan and in other parté o
the Middle East region. The logistics support services th& KBvides the U.S. military are delivered under our LogCAP I,
LogCAP IV and other contracts which aremquetitively bid contracts. Revenues untter LogCAP Il project were approximately
$1.5 billion, $2.8 billion, and $4.8 billion for the years emd@ecember 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. As a ofsult
withdrawal of U.S. combat troops in Ira§BR has demobilized in the Iragi theateragferations and the scope of KBR operation
under the LogCAP Il contract effectively ended in December 2Mlthough we have seen some U.S. troop deployments shift
within the Middle East region to Afghanistand other areas under LogCAP 1V, we exphetvolume of services we provide to
the U.S. government in the Middle East to continue to dechme the next few years. The U.K. military’s presence has also
shifted to Afghanistan. As the overall3J.and U.K. government spding for contingency operatiom&clines, we see increased
opportunities for logistics and infrastructure prégeio Europe and other parts of the Middle East.

We operate in diverse civil infrastruceumarkets, including transportation, water and waste treatment and facilities. In
addition to U.S. state, local and fedemglencies, we provide theservices to governments around the world including the,U.K
Australia and the Middle East. There has been a general trémistaical under-investment jpublic infrastructure, particarly
related to the quality of water, wastewater, roads and traasitairports, and educational facilities where demand foaraded
and improved infrastructure has historically outpaced funding. We have seen increased activity related to these typts of proje
particularly in the Middle Eashowever, the global economiccession has caused markets to rierflat in America and the .,
which has resulted in delays ool start-ups to major projects.

In the industrial sector, we operate in a number of marketdsiding utility and non-utility power, forest products, advanced
manufacturing, mining, mineraland metals and consumer protijcboth domestically and intextionally. Forest products,
advanced manufacturing and consumer products are experienobgst market improvements iehthe mining, minerals and
metals markets are growing robustly driven by global demand fomaalities. In the power sector, we serve regulated utjlities
power cooperatives, munjzlities and various non-regulated gors, primarily in the U.S.ral U.K. markets. The power sect
continues to be driven by long-term economnd demographic trends and changesnvironmental regulations. Projects in the
power sector are currently concentrated in emissions corgpalwering, renewable power andwgas-fired power generation.

We provide a wide range of constructiand maintenance services to a variefyindustries in the U.S. and Canada,
including forest products, power, commercial and institutionatltmgk, general industrial and manufacturing. We saw araser
in the number and size of project bid respseand feasibility estimates from our oligin 2011 and expect a number of ourkats
to strengthen in 2012 and beyond.
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Summary of Consolidated Results
2011 compared to 2010

Consolidated revenue in 2011 decreased approximately $838mnili 8%, to $9.3 billion compared to $10.1 billion in
2010 primarily due to declines in the IGRd Services business groups. The deergatGP business group revenue included a
$1.1 billion decline resulting from an ovéreeduction in volume for U.S. militargupport activities, fmarily in Irag, uner our
LogCAP lll contract. In 2011, the total number of staff wogkon the LogCAP I1ll contract decreased by approximately 76%
including direct hires, subcontractors anddbhires as a result of demobilization toeinsfers to the LogCAP IV contract for
ongoing base life support services in Iraq effectively endingstiope of our operations under the LogCAP Ill contract. The
Services business group experienced a $18®miecline in revenue for 2011 primariyiven by the completion of severatde
projects in the U.S. and Canada. Revenue increased hyouocarbons business group by approximately $289 million primarily
driven by further progress on our LNG and GTL projects in GasdWization as well as additional phase awards and new technical
service projects in Oil & Gas.

Consolidated operating income in 2011 decreased appatedy $22 million, or 4%, to $587 million compared to
$609 million in 2010. Operating income in 2011 from the IGP lessirgroup was down approximately $6 million. The decline
was primarily due to lower activity on oungCAP Il contract but offset by income frothe Allenby & Connaught project as Wwel
as increased activity on NATO contracts in Afghanistan. 8esvbperating income declined $44 million primarily due to the
completion or winding-down of several large projects in the Bn8.Canada. Operating incomenfr Hydrocarbons increased by
$8 million largely due to new projects in Oil & Gas and Dowewin. Operating income from Ventures increased by $9 million
primarily due to improved performance frahre EBIC ammonia plant in Egypt.

2010 compared to 2009

Consolidated revenue in 2010 decreased approximately $&nbidir 17%, to $10.1 billion compared to $12.1 billion in
2009 primarily driven by decreases in &3P and Services business groups. Theedese in IGP business group revenue indude
a $1.9 billion decline resulting from the reduction in volume for U.S. military support activities primarily in Iraq undegGéP
11l contract. In 2010, the total number of staff working om tlogCAP 11l project decreased hpproximately 56% including eict
hires, subcontractors and locatds. Also contributing to the decline in IG&enue in 2010 were revenue decreases in&hk |
and P&l business units largely as a result of the completidieldivork on certain projects in early 2010 and declining waatl
from other projects nearing completion. rtirdly offsetting these declines in revenw@s an increase in revenue in our IGDSS
business unit primarily related the presence of troops in Afghanistan wherepnavided services to the U.K. MoD and NATO.
The Services business group also experiercddcline in revenue for 2010 primarily dieethe completion several projects or
projects being near completion. Reveimueur Hydrocarbons business group increasigtitty overall primarily driven by th&as
Monetization business unit andrddownstream business unit.

Consolidated operating income in 2010 increased approximately $73 million, or 14%, to $609 million compared to
$536 million in 2009. Job income for 2010 from the IGP business group was up approximately $84 million primarily from our
NAGL business unit which increased by $117 million. In 2009,agegnized a net charge of $6#llion related to the write-6f
of award fees previously accrued on the LogCAP IlI contractdidanot recur in 2010. In 2010, we recognized job incomeerblat
to LogCAP Il award fees of $94 million for periods of perfiance from May 2008 through May 201@artially offsetting the
increase related to award fees was lower volume of activittherLogCAP Il contract as a selt of the overall reduction in
volume of activities primarily in Irag and higher charges foeptally unallowable costs. Our Hydrocarbons job income dsedea
by approximately $64 million largely due to the EPC 1 favorablétration award recognized in 2009 that did not recur in 2010
partially offset by increases jab income in our Gas Monetizatiamd Downstream business units.

For a more detailed discussion of the results of omeratifor each of our business units, corporate general and
administrative expense, incortaxes and other items, seec$ilts of Operations” below.

Acquisition of Robest & Schaefer Company

On December 21, 2010, we completed the acquisition of 18f0fte outstanding common shares of ENI Holdings, Inc.
(“ENI"). ENI is the parent to the Roberts & Schaefer ComypgR&S"), a privately held, EPC services company for material
handling and processing systems. Headquatter Chicago, lllinois, R&S provides rsces and associated material handling
infrastructure to customers in the mining and minerals, powdusirial, refining, aggregategtecious and base metals inties.

The purchase price was $280 million plus estimated working cabi®l7 million which included cash acquired of $8 million.
The total net cash paid at closing of $289 million is subjeentescrowed holdback. As of December 31, 2011, the remaining
escrowed holdback was $27 million and primarily related to riggcfor indemnification obligations. R&S and its acquired
divisions have been integrated into our Infrastructure andrsl;eusiness unit within the Rsbusiness group. See Note to
consolidated financial statements forther discussion of the R&S acquisition.
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Acquisition of remaining interest in M.W. Kellogg Limited.

On December 31, 2010, we obtained control of the remainirf@gi%ftinterest of our MWKL subsidiary located in the U.K
for approximately £107 million subject to certain post-closing agliests. The acquisition was recorded as an equity trémsact
that reduced noncontrolling interests, accumulated other retvapsive income (“AOCI”) and additional paid-in capital by
$180 million. We recognized direct transaction costs assoaiatiedhe acquisition of approximately $1 million as a dirdwrge
to additional paid in capital. The initial purchase price of $164 million was paid on January 5, 2011. During the thirdfquarte
2011, we settled various gedosing adjustments that resulted in a decréasPaid-in capital in excess of par” of apprositaly
$5 million. We also agreed to pay the former noncontrolling istet4.94% of future proceeds collected on certain receivable
owed to MWKL. Additionally, the former noncontrolling interegfreed to indemnify us for 84% of certain MWKL liabilities
to be settled and paid in the future. As of December 31, 284 have liability of approximately $8 million classified on our
balance sheet as “Noncurrent Obligation to former noncomigoiliterest” and $1 million classified on our balance sheet as
“Obligation to former noncontrolling interest” reflecting our estienaf 44.94% of future proceeds from certain receivablesdow
to MWKL.

Acquisition of Energo Engineering

On April 5, 2010, we acquired 100% thfe outstanding common stock of Harsbased Energo Engineering (“Energo”)
for approximately $16 million in cash, sebj to an escrowed holdback amount of $iion to secure working capital adjustnten
indemnification obligations of the sellend other contingent obligations relatedhe operation of the business. As suieof
the acquisition, we recognized goodwill of $6 million and otheangible assets of $3 million. Energo provides Integrity
Management (IM) and advanced structumadjineering services to the offshore oitlayas industry. Energo’s results of openasi
were integrated into our Oil & Gas busiseunit within the Hydrocarbons segment.

Sale of Interest in LNG Joint Venture

On January 5, 2011, we sold our 50% interest in a joinuvend our joint venture partner for approximately $22 million.
The joint venture was formed to executeERC contract for construction of an LNGapt in Indonesia. We recognized a gain on
the sale of our interest of approximat&® million which is included in “Equity iearnings of unconsolidated affiliates, nietour
consolidated income statement for year ended December 31, 2011.

Technology Licese Agreement

In January 2010, we entered into a collaboration agreementBRith.l.c. to market and license certain technology. In
conjunction with this arrangement, we acqdii@ 25-year license granting us the exclusive right to the technology. As partial
consideration for the license, we paid an initial fee of $20 million.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity witicounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management toleet appropriate accounting polisieand to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue axgenses. Our critical accounting policiee described below to provide a better
understanding of how we develop our assuamstiand judgments about future eventd gelated estimations and how they can
impact our financial statements. A critical accounting estimaienés that requires our mostffdiult, subjective, or complex
estimates and assessments and is fundia® our results of operations.

We base our estimates bistorical experience and on wvauis other assumptions we belig¢eebe reasonable according to
the current facts and circumstances, theltesif which form the basis for making judgnts about the carrying values of dsse
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other souwesbelieve the following are the critical accounting policiesd in
the preparation of our consolidated financial statements irrganooe with accounting principles generally accepted in theedni
States, as well as the significant estimated judgments affecting tlaplication of these police This discussion and dysis
should be read in conjunction with our colidated financial stateemts and related notes.

Engineering and Construction ContractRevenue from long-term contracts to pdevconstruction, engineering, design or
similar services is r@gnized as contract performance progresses usingetfoentage-of-completion ihed. We estimate the
progress towards completion to determine the amount of revedugrafit to be recognized in each reporting period, based upon
estimates of the total cost to compl#te project; estimates of the project schedule and completion date; estimates t#rhefex
progress toward completion; and amounts of any probable unappriaved and change orders included in revenue. Progress is
generally based upon a cost-to-cost appraautiwe also use alternagivmethods including physical progress, labor hourstarst
depending on the type of job. Physical progress is determiredasbination of input and outpmeasures as deemed apprdpria
by the circumstances.

At the outset of each contract, we prepare a detailed analysis eStimated cost to complete the project. Risks relating to
service delivery, usage, prodwaty, and other factors are considered in ésémation process. Our project personnel péaraly
evaluate the estimated costs, claims, change orders, and percentage of completion at the project level. The recordiragaf profit
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losses on long-term contracts regsi an estimate of the total profit or loss rothee life of each comct. This estimate qelires
consideration of total contract value, change orders, anus;ldéss costs incurred and estimated costs to complete. Walkaso

into account liquidated damages when deteimgiriotal contract profit or loss. Owpntracts often require us to pay liquietht
damages should we not meet certain peréoree requirements, including completion of the project in accordance with a scheduled
timeline. We include an estimate of liquidated damages in contract costs when it is deemed probable that they will loditpaid. Pr
are recorded based upon the product of estichabntract profit at completion timélse current percentage-complete for the
contract.

When calculating the amount of total profit or loss on a long-tamtract, we include unappred claims in contract value
when the collection is deemed probable based upon theritenia for recognizing unapprogteclaims under FASB ASC 605-35
regarding accounting for performance of construction-type andicggroduction-type contracts. Including probable unapproved
claims in this calculation increases the operating income @oices the operating loss) that would otherwise be recordedutith
consideration of the probable unapprovednstai Probable unapproved claims are recorded to the extent of costs incurred and
include no profit element. In all casese throbable unapproved claims included in deteing contract profit or loss are kethan
the actual claim that will be or has been presented to tst®rnar. We are actively engaged in claims negotiations with our
customers, and the success of claims tiefions has a direct impact on the profitloss recorded for any related long-term
contract. Unsuccessful claims negotiations could result in desr@a®stimated contract profits or additional contract $ssed
successful claims negotiatioosuld result in increases in estimated contract profits or recovery of previously recordedtcontr
losses.

At least quarterly, significant projects are reviewed in dbtagenior management. We havéong history of working with
multiple types of projects and in preparing cost estimates. tHawthere are many factors that impact future costs, incluaihg
not limited to weather, inflation, labor and community disiar, timely availabiliy of materials, productivity, and otheadtors as
outlined in our “Risk Factors” contained in Part | of thisrdial Report on Form 10-K. These factors can affect the accuracy of
estimates and materially impamtr future reported earnings.

Our revenue includes both equity in then#ags of unconsolidated affiliates anevenue from sales of services to joint
ventures. We often participate on larger projects as a joinuneepiartner and also provide services to the joint ventuie as
subcontractor. The amount included in our revenue representg agthe earnings from joint véures, impairments of equity
investments in joint ventures, if any, angteBue from services provided to joint ventures.

Estimated Losses on Uncompleted Cartsand Changes in Contract Estimat&¥e record provisions for estimated losses
on uncompleted contracts in the period in which such losseseartfied. The cumulative effectsf revisions to contract remue
and estimated completion costs are recoidatie accounting period in which the ammts become evident and can be reasonably
estimated. These revisions can include such items as the effects of change orders and claims, warranty claims, liquidated damag
or other contractual penaltiesjjustments for audit findings on US governnmmitracts and contractoseout sglements.

Accounting for government contractdost of the services provided to the United States government are governed by cost-
reimbursable contracts. Generally, thesatacts may contain base fees (a fixedfippercentage applied to our actual cdasts
complete the work), fixed fees, and award fees (a variabl@ pertentage applied to definitized costs, which is subjeouto
customer’s discretion and tied to the specific performance measefired in the contract, such as adherence to scheduldéh hea
and safety, quality of work, responsivenessst performance, armisiness management).

Revenue is recorded at the time services are performed, and such revenue includes base fees, actual direct project costs
incurred and an allocation of indirect costs. Indirect costsapplied using rates approved dyr government customers. The
general, administrative, and overhead cost reimbursement rates are estimated periodically in accordance with government contrac
accounting regulations and may change basedctual costs incurred or based upon the volume of work performed. Revenue is
reduced for our estimate of costs that either are in disputeowitbustomer or have been identified as potentially unallezdy
the terms of the contract oretlfiederal acquisition regulations.

Award fees are generally evaluated and granted periodicalbubgustomer. For contracts entered into prior to June 30,
2003, award fees are recognized during the tef the contract based on our estimaft@amounts to be awarded. Once award fees
are granted and task orders underlying the work are definitimddjust our estimate of award fees to actual amounts e@uoed.
estimates are often based on our past @waperience for similar types of work. Vigeriodically receive LogCAP IIl award fee
scores and, based on these actual amountsdjust our accrual rate for future adsrif necessary. The controversial natafe
this contract may cause actual awards to vary significantly frashexperience. As discusdadher in Note 9 to our consdhted
financial statements, we stopped accruing award fees and tEg@mizing them only upon receipt of the award fee letter @ue t
the inability to reliablyestimate the amount ofde to be awarded.

For contracts containing multiple deliverables entered into gulesé to June 30, 2003, we ayra each activity within the
contract to ensure that we adherahte separation guidelines of FASB ASC 60Revenue Recognition and FASB ASC 605-25 —
Multiple-Element Arrangements. For serviggly contracts and service elements of multiple deliverable arrangements, award fee
are recognized only when definitized and awarded by tltomer. Award fees on government construction contracts are
recognized during the term of the contract based oestimate of the amount tdes to be awarded.
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Similar to many cost-reimbursable contrath&se government contracts are typicailpject to audit and adjustment by our
customer. Each contract is unique; therefthe level of confidence in our estimafi@saudit adjustments varies dependimghow
much historical data we have with a parar contract. KBR excludes from billings tioe U.S. Government costs that are esgise
unallowable, or mutually agreed to be lmaable, or not allocable to governmeeobntracts per the applicable regulations.
Revenue recorded for government contract work is reduced for our estimate of potentially unallowable costs related & issues th
may be categorized as disputedunallowable as a result of cost overruns @ dludit process. Our ténates of potentially
unallowable costs are based upon, among dltiilegs, our internal analysis of thecta and circumstances, terms of the catsra
and the applicable provisions of the RAquality of supporting documentation forst® incurred, andubcontract terms as
applicable. From time to time, we engamsside counsel to advise us on certairitena in determining whether certain coste
allowable. We also review our analysis and findings withatiministrative contracting offic€fACQO”") as appropriate. In soe
cases, we may not reach agreement with the DCAA or the ACO regarding potentially unallowable costs which may result in our
filing of claims in various courts such as the Armed Servicesd®of Contract Appeals (“ASBCA”") or the United States Court of
Federal Claims (“COFC”). We only includemounts in revenue related to dispuéed potentially unallowable costs when we
determine it is probable that such costs will result in reeeliie generally do not recognize additional revenue for dismurted
potentially unallowable costs for which rewe has been previously reduced untilre@ch agreement with the DCAA and/or the
ACO that such costs are allowable.

Goodwill Impairment Testingsoodwill represents the excess of cost over tivenfarket value of net assets acquired in
business combinations and, in accordance with FASB ASC 3&0gibles — Goodwill and Othere are required to test goodwiill
for impairment on an annual basis, and more frequently whgative conditions or other triggering events arise. We test gbodw
for impairment annually as of October 1. As of Decen8fer2011, we had goodwill totaling $951 million on our consolidated
balance sheet. Our operations are grouptdfour segments: Hydrocarbons; Infrastiwet Government & Power; Services; and
Other. Within those segments we operHebusiness units which are also our oprgatiegments as defined by FASB ASC 280 —
Segment Reporting and our reporting units as defined by FASB 350. In accordance witfASB ASC 350, we conduct our
goodwill impairment testing at the reporting unit level which @iasof our 10 business units. The reporting units include Ga
Monetization, Oil & Gas, Downstream, Tewlogy, North American Government & Lotiés, InternationaGovernment, Defense
and Support Services, Power & Industriafrdstructure & Minerals, Services, and Mems business units, a&ll as the Allsates
staffing business.

Our annual impairment test for goodwill &ictober 1, 2011 was a quantitative gem using a two-step process that
involves comparing the estimated fair value of each busumgsgo its carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair valaga
business unit exceeds its carrying amount, the goodwill of the Issgimé is not considered impaired; therefore, the sesiapdof
the impairment test is unnecessary. If the carrying amounbuosiaess unit exceeds its failwa, we perform the second gtef
the goodwill impairment tesb measure the amount of goodwill impagnt loss to be recorded, as necessary.

Consistent with prior years, the fair values of business im2911 were determined using a combination of two methods,
one based on market earnings multiples of peer companies idkfifieach business unit (the market approach), and the other
based on discounted cash flow models westimated cash flows based on internal dasts of revenues and expenses over a four
year period plus a terminal valyeriod (the income approach).

The market approach estimates fair value by applying earaind revenue market multiplesa business unit's operating
performance for the trailing twelve-month period. The markdtiphes are derived from comparable publicly traded companies
with operating and investment characteristics similar to thosadf of our reporting units. The earnings multiples fontheket
approach ranged from 1.2 times to 13.0 titesearnings for each of our business unftse income approach estimates failue
by discounting each business unit's estimditeidre cash flows using a weighted-averagst of capital that reflects currenirket
conditions and the risk profile of each business unit. To aativeir future cash flows, we use estimates of economic ariéima
information, including growth rates in reveys) costs, estimates of future expected changes in operating margins, taxndates, a
cash expenditures. Other significant estimates and assumptindeirierminal value growth rates, future estimates of dapita
expenditures and changes in future working capital requiremé&hts risk-adjusted discount rates applied to our future dasls f
under the income approach ranged from 17.5% to 24.8%. Thefa& derived from the weighty of these two methods provided
appropriate valuations that, in aggregate, reasonably recotwited market capitalization, taking into account observatéral
premiums.

In addition to the earnings multiples and the discount rasetodied above, certain other judgmts and estimas are used
to prepare the goodwill impairment test. If market conditionsghaompared to those used in our market approach, or & actu
future results of operations fall below the projections usetthénincome approach, our goodwill could become impaired in the
future.

We believe these two approaches goprapriate valuation techniques and wagally weight the two resulting values
equally as an estimate of business unit ¥alue for the purposes of our impairmerdtiteg. However, we may weigh one value
more heavily than the other wh conditions merit doing so.

At October 1, 2011, our market capitalization exceeded theimguvglue of our consolidated net assets by $1.6 billion and,
except for the Services reporting unit discussed below, thevdtile of all our reporting units substantially exceeded their
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respective carrying amounts as of that datmwever, the fair value for the Downsam, P&l, 1&M, Serices and Allstates
reporting units exceeded their carrying values based on projgaiedh rates and other markiefputs to our impairment test

models that are more sensitive to the risk of future vargac® to competitive market conditions as well as business unit
execution risks. If future variances for these assumptions are significant, the fair values of these business units may not
substantially exceed their carrying valureguture periods. The fair value of tiServices reporting unit exceeded its cargyvalue

by approximately 4% and total goodwill allocated to the reporting unit was approximately $287 million at October 1, 2011. The
valuation model for the Services businesst assumes a recovery in North Amerigamstruction service revenues and profit
margins from 2010 and 2011 levels.

We review our projected growth ratesh@t market inputs used in our impairmésgt models, changes in our business and
other factors that could represent indicatofsmpairment. In 2012, we intend teport the Infrastructure and Minerals besia
units separately and have concluded #zath will be considered a separate répgrunit for goodwill impairment testing puspes.
Subsequent to our October 1, 2011 annughinment test, we reviewed the new Infrasture and Minerals reporting units ama n
indication of impairment was identified.

In the third quarter of 2009, we recognized a goodwill impairment charge of approximately $6 million related to the
Allstates staffing business unit in connection with our angoabwill impairment test on Septéer 30, 2009. The charge was
primarily the result of a decline in the staffing market, the effect of the recession on the market, and our reducedfdhecasts
sales, operating income and cash flowstfis business unit that were identifisgdtough the course of our 2009 annual plagni
process.

Deferred taxes and tax contingencies Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have beeagrézed in the financial statements or talurns. A current tax asset or liability
recognized for the estimated taxes refuneail payable on tax returns for the currgear. A deferred tax asset or lialyilis
recognized for the estimated future taxeef§ attributable to tempamy differences between the financial reporting basisthed
income tax basis of assets and liabilities. The measuremeuntreht and deferred tax assets and liabilities is based wvisipres
of the enacted tax law, and the effects of potential future changes in tax laws or rates are not considered.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we comgi@dner it is more likely thanot that some portion or af
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimateatial of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the genaftigare
taxable income during the periods in which those temporary eifters become deductible. A valion allowance is provided for
deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that thesesiteithnot be realized. We coidaer the scheduled reversal adferred
tax liabilities, projected future taxableciome and tax planning strategies in making assessment. Additionally, we useetasts
of certain tax elements such as taxable income and foreign tax credit utilization and the evaluation of tax planningistrategies
making this assessment of realization.ve®i the inherent uncertaintgvolved with the use of sucassumptions, there can be
significant variation between anticipated and actual results. of December 31, 2011, we haxkt deferred tax assets of
$326 million, which are net of deferred tax liabilities of $207iam and a valuation allowance of $25 million primarily teld to
certain foreign d7.10TD .0045 Tc 5vn foreer future r Tc .0763 (s)4ing
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Legal and Investigation MattersAs discussed in Notes 9 and 10 of our otidated financial statements, as of December
31, 2011 and 2010, we have accrued an estimfithe probable and estimable coststfar resolution of some of our legal and
investigation matters. For other matters for which the liakisityot probable and reasonablyimsble, we have not accruedy
amounts. Attorneys in our legal departmergnitor and manage all claims filed agains and review all pending investigations
Generally, the estimate of probable costs related to these nimtlexseloped in consultationitiv internal and outside legabunsel
representing us. Our estimates are based apamnalysis of potential results, assuming a combination of litigation andnsettle
strategies. The precision of these estimatéapacted by the amount of due diligence we have been able to perform. We &itemp
resolve these matters through settlements, mediation, and @bipeiceedings when possible. If the actual settlement, st
judgments, or fines, after appgatliffer from our estimates, our future finarigi@sults may be matelly and adversely aétted.
We record adjustments to our initial estimates of these type®rdfngencies in the periods when the change in estimate is
identified.

Pensions Our pension benefit obligations and expenses arelagduwsing actuarial models and methods, in accordance
with FASB ASC 715 — Compensation—Retirement Benefits. Twthefmore critical assumptions and estimates used in the
actuarial calculations are the discount fatedetermining the current value of bénhebligations and th expected rate oéturn on
plan assets. Other assumptions and estimates used in datgrbenefit obligations and plaexpenses, including demographic
factors such as retirement age, mortality, and turnover, soeeghluated periodically and upeld accordingly to reflect owrctual
experience.

The discount rate used to determine the benefit obligati@ssdetermined using a cafsbw matching approach, which
uses projected cash flows matched to sptits along a high quality corporate yieldveuto determine the present value oflta
flows to calculate a single equivalent discorate. The expected long-term rate@turn on assets was determined by ahststic
projection that takes into account asskdcaltion strategies, histaal long-term performance afdividual asset classes) analysis
of additional return (net of fees) gentec by active management, risks using steshdaviations and correlations of retuaraong
the asset classes that comprise the plasset mix. Plan assets are comprised guilynof equity and debt securities. As \wave
both domestic and international plans, thassumptions differ based on varying factepecific to each particular country or
economic environment.

The discount rate utilized to determine tbrojected benefit obligain at the measurement débe our U.S. pension plan
decreased to 3.74% at December 31, 2011 #@4% at December 31, 2010. The discoutd tdilized to determine the projected
benefit obligation at the measurement date for our U.K. pengans, which constitutes all of our international plans and &5%
all plans, decreased to 4.90% at December 31, 2011 from Sa#&cember 31, 2010. An additional future decrease in the
discount rate of 25 basis points for oungien plans would increase our projecbemhefit obligation byan estimated $86 mitin
and $2 million for the U.K. and 8. plans, respectively, while a similar incgean the discount rate would reduce our prejgc
benefit obligation by an estimated $81 million and $2 million forh€. and U.S. plansiespectively. Our expected longster
rates of return on plan assets utilized at the measurementrataained unchanged at 7.00% for our U.S. pension plans and
decreased to 6.60% from 7.00% for our international plan.

Unrecognized actuarial gains alodses are generally being recognized overiag®ef 10 to 15 years, which represents the
expected remaining service life of the employee group. Owcognized actuarial gains and lossgise from several factors,
including experience and assumption changes in the obligatiohthe difference between expected returns and actual returns o
plan assets. The difference between actual and expectedsrétudeferred as an unrecognizactuarial gain or loss and is
recognized as future pension expense. Our pretax unrecogungarial loss in accumulated other comprehensive income at
December 31, 2011 was $659 million, of which $27 million is expetidak recognized as a component of our expected 2012
pension expense compared to $21 million in 2011. During 2011nmade contributions to fund outefined benefit plans of
$74 million. We currently expect to make contributions in 2012 of approximately $30 million.

The actuarial assumptions used in detemmg our pension benefits may diffenaterially from actual results due to
changing market and economic conditions, higher or lower wittadreates, and longer or shorter life spans of participantdeWh
we believe that the assumptions used are appropriate, differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions may materially
affect our financial position or results of operations. Oura@lestimates of pension béihexpense and expected pemsio
returns of plan assets are discussed in Note 17 in the accompanying financial statements.

During 2012, plan fiduciaries of the Company's internatiorah jhtend to implement a revidénvestment strategy that
reduces risk associated with pension liabilities by furtheerdifying assets from equities tther asset classes along wikie
consideration of other risk reduction strategies that may include liability hedging.

Variable Interest Entities. We account for variable interest entities/IEs”) in accordance with FASB ASC 810 —
Consolidation which requires the consolidation of VIEs in Whaccompany has both the power to direct the activities of tke VI
that most significantly impact the VIE's economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive the
benefits from the VIE that could potentialie significant to the VIE. If a repanty enterprise meets these conditions théas a
controlling financial interesand is the primary beneficiary of the VIBNe applied the requirements of FASB ASC 810 on a
prospective basis upon adoption at January 1, 2010.
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We assess all newly createdit@s and those with which we become invalie determine whethauch entities are VIEs
and, if so, whether or not we are their primary beneficiary. Most of the entities we assess are incorporated or uninmdnporated
ventures formed by us and our partnef@s)the purpose of executing a project aogmam for a customer, such as a governalent
agency or a commercial enterprise, and are generally dissgde@dcompletion of the project or program. Many of our longiter
energy-related constructigrojects in our Hydrocarbons business segment areueed through such joint ventures. Typically,
these joint ventures are funded by advarfoa®s the project owner, and accordingtgquire little or no quity investment byhe
joint venture partners but may require sutiated financial support from the joint varg partners such as letters of credit
performance and financial guarantees or obligations to fund lossesed by the joint venture. Other joint ventures, sueh a
privately financed initiatives in our Venes business unit, generally require the pastte invest equity and take an owstap
position in an entity that manages anmkrates an asset post construction.

As required by ASC 810, we perform a tjizive assessment to determine whether we are the primary beneficiary once an
entity is identified as a VIE. A qualitative assessment begitiisan understanding of the nature of the risks in the esityell as
the nature of the entity’s activities including terms of the contracts entered into by the entity, ownership interestg thsued b
entity and how they were marketed, andpheies involved in the design of the entitye then identify all of the variabieterests
held by parties involved with the VIE including, among other thimggity investments, subordiedt debt financing, lettersf o
credit, and financial and performance guarantees, and contractézk qgoviders. Once we identify the variable intereses, w
determine those activities which are most significant to tbearic performance of the entind which variable interest futar
has the power to direct those activitieBhough infrequent, some of our assessmeseal no primary beneficiary because the
power to direct the most significant activities that impact the economic performance is held equally by two or more temréble in
holders who are required to provide their consent prior to theudion of their decisions. Most of the VIEs with which we ar
involved have relatively few variable intstse and are primarily related to our equityestment, significat service contras, and
other subordinatefinancial support.

Results of Operations

We analyze the financial results for each of our fousiness groups including the related business units within
Hydrocarbons and IGP. The business grougsented are consistent with our repogattgments discussed in Note 5 to our
consolidated financial statements. While certain of the bssinaits and product service lines presented below do not neeet th
criteria for reportable segmeritsaccordance with FASB ASC 280 — Segmendreng, we believe thisupplemental information
is relevant and meaningful to our investors.

For purposes of reviewing the results okrgiions, “business group income” is ca#tatl as revenue lessst of services

managed and reported by the business grodpaas directly attributable to the busés group. Business group income excludes
unallocated corporate, general, anchadstrative expenses and other nori@ing income and expense items.

Revenue by Business Group

In millions Years Ended December 31,
2011 vs. 2010 2010 vs. 2009
Revenue(1) 2011 2010 $ % 2009 $ %
Hydrocarbons:
Gas Monetization $ 3,044 $2829 $ 215 8% $ 2,755 $ 74 3%
Oil & Gas 488 426 62 15% 576 (150) (26)%
Downstream 557 584 (27) B)% 478 106 22%
Technology 169 130 39 30% 97 33 34%
Total Hydrocarbons 4,258 3,969 289 7% 3,906 63 2%
Infrastructure, Government and Power
(“IGP™):
North American Government driogistics 2,198 3,307 (1,109) (34)% 5,189 (1,882) (36)%
International Government, Defence and
Support Services 378 369 9 2% 288 81 28%
Infrastructure and Minerals 510 271 239 88% 337 (66) (20)%
Power and Industrial 242 352 (110) (31)% 474 (122) (26)%
Total IGP 3,328 4,299 (971) (23)% 6,288 (1,989) (32)%
Services 1590 1,755 (165) (9)% 1,863 (108) (6)%
Ventures 65 55 10 18% 21 34 162%
Other 20 21 Q) (5)% 27 (6) (22)%
Total revenue $ 9,261 $10,099 $ (838) 8% $ 12,105 $ (2,006) (17)%

Q) We often participate on larger projects as a joint venpargner and also provide services to the joint venture as a
subcontractor. The amount included in @avenue represents our share of éaenings (loss) from joint ventures and
revenue from services provided to joint ventures.
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Income (loss) by Business Group

In millions Years Ending December 31,
2011 vs. 2010 2010 vs. 2009
2011 2010 $ % 2009 $ %
Business group income (loss):
Hydrocarbons:
Gas Monetization $ 257 $ 252 $ 5 2% $ 178 $ 74 42%
Oil & Gas 104 90 14 16% 274 (184) (67)%
Downstream 77 117 (40) (349)% 59 58 98%
Technology 75 55 20 36% 49 6 12%
Total job income 513 514 1) — 560 (46) (8)%
Impairment of long-lived assets — (4) 4 100% — (4) —
Gain (loss) on sale of assets 1 — 1 — — — —
Divisional overhead (106) (110) 4 4% (96) (14) (15)%
Total Hydrocarbons 408 400 8 2% 464 (64) (14)%
Infrastructure, Government and Power
(“IGP”):
North American Government and Logistics 212 230 (18) (8)% 113 117 104%
International Government, Defence and
Support Services 128 88 40 45% 71 17 24%
Infrastructure and Minerals 60 62 2) B)% 87 (25) (29)%
Power and Industrial 29 37 (8) (22)% 68 (32) (46)%
Total job income 429 417 12 3% 339 78 23%
Gain (loss) on sale of assets @ — Q) — — — —
Divisional overhead (162) (145) a7 (12)% (151) 6 4%
Total IGP 266 272 (6) (2)% 188 84 45%
Services:
Job income 124 172 (48) (28)% 167 5 3%
Gain (loss) on sale of assets 1 (1) 2 200% — 1) —
Divisional overhead (67) (69) 2 3% (72) 2 3%
Total Services 58 102 (44) (43)% 96 6 6%
Ventures:
Job income (loss) 45 33 12 36% 19 14 74%
Gain on sale of assets 1 3 2) (67)% 2 1 50%
Divisional overhead (4) 3) (1) (33)% (2) (2) (50)%
Total Ventures 42 33 9 27% 19 14 74%
Other:
Job income 16 12 4 33% 9 3 33%
Impairment of long-lived assets — (1) 1 100% — Q) —
Impairment of goodwill — — — — (6) 6 100%
Gain (loss) on sale of assets 1 (2) 3 150% — (2) —
Divisional overhead (8) (7) (1) (14)% (6) (2) 17)%
Total Other 9 2 7 3%0 (3) 5 1670
Total business group income 783 809 (26) (3)% 764 45 6%
Unallocated amounts:
Labor cost absorption income (expense) 18 12 6 50% (12) 23 209%
Corporate general and administrative
expense (214) (212) (2) (L)% (217) 5 2%
Total operating income $ 587 $ 609 $ (22) D% $ 536 $ 73 14%
Hydrocarbons

Gas Monetization. Revenue from Gas Monetization increased in 2011 by $215 million compared to 2010, primarily due to
higher progress on the Gorgon LNG and Escravos GTL proyeish increased revenue by $232 million in the aggregate.
Revenue further increased by approximately $121 million as & ofsigher activity on a FEEProject awarded in late 2010
activity on other projects. Partially off$ing the increases were declines weraie of approximately $142 million in thggaegate
due to lower activity on the Skikda LN&hd Pearl GTL projects as well as the ctetipn of other LNG and GTL projects in 2010.

Gas Monetization job income increased by $5 million in 20Thipaved to 2010. Job income increased by $41 million as a
result of increased activity on the EPCM portion of the Gorgon IpKect, the sale of our interest in an unconsolidated join
venture, the reversal of commercial agent fees on a completed LNG project and activity on other projects. These increases were
partially offset by a decrease of approximately $32 million aritydue to income in 2010 related to change orders assouwidted
the completion of an LNG project that did not recur in 284d lower subcontractor activity on the Skikda LNG project.
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Revenue from Gas Monetization increased in 2010 as comfzagaD9 by $74 million primarily due to increased activity
from the Gorgon LNG and several other LNG projects. Revérom these projects increased $442 million in the aggregate
compared to 2009 primarily as a result of the transition freenRBED to the EPCM portion dfie Gorgon project as well as
absence of losses in 2009 from two joint ventures executing Lgf@qgbs that were substantialpmpleted in 2010. Partially
offsetting these increases in revenue watecline in revenue of approximately $360 million due to lower activity and pragress
the Skikda LNG and Pearl GTLgects as welas projects that were completed in 2009.

Gas Monetization job income increased appmately $74 million in 2010 compared tioe same period of the prior year.
Job income increased $117 million as a restilincreased activity on hEPCM potion of the Gorgon LNG project as well as
change orders on an LNG project executed through a joint eewtich was substantially completed in 2011. Additionally, job
income increased due to the absence of a charge of $8thnm 2009 on an LNG projectesulting from schedule delays,
subcontractor claims and equipment failuréZartially offsetting the increases iobjincome were decrsas of approximately
$60 million in the aggregate on the Escravos and Pearl GTL prajedt®wer activity on anoth&NG project that was complete
in 2009. Additionally in 2010, priarily due to actions and inactis on the part of the customere identified increases ihe
estimated cost to complete an LNG project due to a schedule delay which resulted in a non-cash charge of approximately
$42 million to job income in the third quarter of 2010. Additionalte negotiated a final settlement agreement with oneiiof o
commercial agents who provided servicesvamious Gas Monetization projects whioksulted in a non-cash increase to Gas
Monetization job income of approximately $42 million in the thjucarter of 2010. Prior to the settlement, the agent wasated!
and approved under our policies on business conduct.

Oil & Gas. Revenue from Oil & Gas increasbd $62 million in 2011 compared to 2016lew technical service projects
and additional phases of existing projects primarily in the N®eih, Caspian Sea and GulfMéxico contributed approximately
$127 million to the increase in 2011 revenue, partially offset Hgcrease of approximately $75 million due to lower voluntk a
progress on projects that were either completed or neanngletion during 2011. Job income increased by $14 million magly
a result of the new project awards and increased activity oiingqBojects as well as cloge#r activity on completed prages.

Revenue from Oil & Gas decreased by $150 million, andrjobme decreased by $184 million in 2010 compared to 2009.
The decrease in revenue and job incongirmarily due to favorable hitration award in 2009 on ¢hEPC 1 project performedrf
PEMEX which contributed approximately $183llion to revenues in 2009. Increased revenue and job income related to new
project awards and higher progress on exgspirojects in 2010 partially offset theparct of the EPC1 award recognized in 200
Additional legal costs related to the Bauda arbitration and lower margins projeictshe Caspian Sea and Gulf of Mexiceal
contributed to the decline in job income in 2010.

Downstream. Downstream revenue in 2011 decreased by $27 million compared to 2010 primarily due to several projects
that were either completed or nearing completion in the. yBavenue on these projects @aged approximately $186 million.
This decrease was patrtially offset by additional reven$ 22 million from newly awarded projects started in late 2010 onglu
2011 as well as increased acfjvibn existing projects including the Yanbu andPDuat projects. Downstream job income
decreased $40 million in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to the completion or near completion of projects in Africa and the
Middle East, and only partly offset by additional revenue from new projects.

Downstream revenue in 2010 increased by $106 million eoeapto 2009 primarily due to increases on the Sonangol
FEED refining job in Africa and petrochemical projects ie Middle East, which increased approximately $207 million in the
aggregate as a result of increased activity over the prior Jéase increases in revenue wpagtially offset by lower reanues of
$24 million on the Saudi Kayan project and $61 wiillon other projects nearing completion.

Downstream job income in 2010 increased by approximately $58 million as compared to the same period of the prior year.
The increase was primarily driven by increased activity on sepeojects which resulted in an increase in job income of
$66 million in 2010. Additionally, Downstream job income in 2009 included $17 million in charges on our EBIC ammonia project
due to additional costs related to the commissioning and stafttbp plant which did not recur in 2010. Partially offsejtthese
increases in job income was a chargepgraximately $9 million related to an accouateivable reserve adjustment recorded i
the second quarter of 2010 as well as el@ees on several projects that wermpleted or nearing completion.

Technology. Technology revenue and job income in 2011 increased $39 million and $20 million compared to 2010,
respectively, primarily due to the progress achieved on a nessrgas ammonia, urea and graigin complex project in Brazi
and other petrochemical and awmm®a projects located in Chin&ndia, Indonesia and Korealhese new projects contributed
approximately $73 million to the increase in Technology revendeagproximately $36 million to the increase in Technology job
income in 2011. Partially off4@ig these increases were decreases in revemuglrnncome associated with the completién o
engineering services on severadjpcts located in Turkmenistamdia, China, Korea, and Angola.

Technology revenue and job income in 2010 increased $33 million and $6 million as compared to 2009, respectively,
primarily due to the progress achieved on a number of newagbsoincluding several grassre@mmonia and urea projects in
Brazil, Turkmenistan and India, as well as petrochemicaltplam China. These new peajts contributed approximately
$57 million to the increase in Technology revenue and approxim@gglymillion to the increase in Technology job income in
2010. Partially offsetting these increasesendecreases in revenue and job incossoeiated with the completion of engiriegr
services on several ammonia projects lat@e/enezuela, Trinidad, and India, antartrefining projects in Spain and Russia
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Infrastructure, Government and Power (“IGP”)

North American Government and Logistics (“NAGESrmerly North AmericaiGovernment and Defense”Revenue from
our NAGL Operations decreased by $1.1 billion in the 2011 compar2610, mainly as a result of an overall reduction in the
volume of U.S. military support activities due to troop drawdowd eelated base closures in Iraq and completion of work in
Afghanistan under our LogCAP Il contradRevenue from the LogCAP llI contract declined approximately $1.3 billion in 2011.
As of December 31, 2011, we have concluded our in-theatéropagations under the LogCAP Il contract and will continue to
complete any remaining tasks from Kuwait and Dubai intoye20ll2. Revenue decreases uritier LogCAP Il contract were
partially offset by an increase of approximately $188 million @ased with our LogCAP |V task order that began in mid-2010.

Job income from NAGL decreased by $18 million in 2011 comp@@®10. Lower volume of activity on our LogCAP llI
contract resulted in a reduction to job income of approtdimab46 million. Additionally, recognized LogCAP IIl award fees
declined by approximately $54 million in 2011 compared to 2010. eTdeslines in job income wepatrtially offset by increase
of approximately $69 million related to fixed-fees and loweeneie adjustments recognized for potentially unallowable costs o
the LogCAP lll contract. LogCAP IV task order activity in 20&$ulted in an increase of $17 million to job income as cordpare
to 2010.

Revenue from NAGL decreased approximat®l.9 billion in 2010 compared to 2009. The decrease in NAGL revenue
includes a $2 billion decline resulting from an overall reductiomolume for U.S. military support activities primarily irag
under our LogCAP Il contract. The lower volume was primarily due to reductions in staff and personnel on the projeatyas milit
bases continued to close and combat troop levels declinagytioat 2010. The decreases in revenue on the LogCAP Il project
were partially offset by an increase in revenue of $246 millioa task order under the LogCAP IV contract. Also contrilgutin
the decrease in NAGL revenue in 2010 480 million less revenue as a result aféo volumes of work under the CENTCOM
project.

2010 NAGL job income increased by approximately $117 million ity due to the net impacif the charge related to
the write-off of award fees in 2009 on the LogCAP Il contretviously accrued in 2008 and recognition of award fees in 2010
for periods of performance from May 2008 through May 2010 awaaed in the second and third quarters of 2010. The net
impact of this award fee activity resultedan increase to job income of approxtelg $159 in 2010. The increases in NAGIb|
income due to the award fees were plytiaffset by lower volume o&ctivity on our LogCAP Il contract as a result of thei
reduction in volume of U.S. military support activities in 201Dngrily in Iraq which resulted in a decrease to job income of
$74 million. Additionally, job income on the LogCAP Il contraeicreased due to the absence of a gain of $17 million in 2009
related to the billing of costs incurred in previous periodsted to the litigation with oneur LogCAP Il subcontractorsnd
charges recorded in 2010 of $23 million assedatith potentially unallowable costs.

International Government, Defence aSdipport Services (“IGDSSformerly International Government and Defence).
Revenue from IGDSS increased by $9 million in 2011 comparet®10 primarily due to commeement of service under new
NATO contracts in Afghanistan, reduced cost estimates for thaiméeng period of performander construction activities on ¢h
Allenby & Connaught project and various atmew project awards. These increaseet@nue were partially offset by decremse
in revenue due to lower activity on the Temporary Deployabtodenodation project as well assalnce of new task orders under
the CONLOG contract. Job income increased $40 million in 20frfpaced to 2010 mainly due to the reduced cost estimates on
the Allenby & Connaught project that produced approximatedyrBlion of additional job income during 2011, increased agtivit
on NATO contracts in Afghanistan and operasigelated efficiencies in other contimgg logistics and @nstruction management
projects.

Revenue from IGDSS increased approximately $81 million jabhdncome increased $17 million in 2010 compared to
2009. The increase in revenue was prilparelated to the ongoing presence obdps in Afghanistan where we provide
contingency logistics, operations andim@nance and other services to th&UvioD and NATO under the TDA and NAMSA
projects. Job income in 2010 increasedaa®sult of higher construction margins thie Allenby & Connaught project due to
increased volumes of construction activity as well as contiygeheases related to warrantypéations on other projects.

Infrastructure and Minerals (“I&M"). Revenue from I&M increased approximately $239 million in 2011 compared to
2010 primarily due to the additional project revenue of $iiflion generated by R&S acquired in December 2010 as well as
increased activity on a minerals project in Australia and &p@h project in Qatar which both commenced in late 2010. eThes
increases were partially offsey revenue reductions due to the completion aewprojects in the UK and Australia as welver
overall activity on various infrastructure projects due téeded government spending resulting from flooding in Queensland,
Australia. Job income from I&M decreased $2 million in 2011 coegéw 2010 primarily as a result of project loss provisions
totaling $25 million recognized on three projects acquired from B&&Sto increased cost estimates at completion. These losse
were partially offset by job tome due to increased activity in 2011 on the mailseproject in Australia and the transporjpct in
Qatar as well as project incentives earned on a transport project in Australia.
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Revenue from I&M decreased approximately $66 million in 28diipared to 2009 due to lower overall activity on several
projects. The projects werdther completed in 2010 or scaled down assalteof the global econoim conditions in 2009 and
2010. Additionally, new project awards were either delayedaaceled further contributing to the decrease. Job income from
1&M decreased in 2010 by approximately $25 million primarily assult of the overall decrease in project activity primarily
Australia and fewer project awards.

Power and Industrial (“P&I”). Revenue from P&l decreased by $110 willand job income decreased by $8 million in
2011 as compared to 2010 due to the completion of procureooerstruction and fieldwork agities on various projects during
2011. These decreases were partially otffigeincreased workload and improved margins on various existing engineeringsproject
and the award of several new projects in 2011.

Revenue from P&I decreased by $122 million in 2010 compared to 2009 largely as a result of the completion of fieldwork
on projects with Georgia Power and Procter & Gamble in e@ 2and reduced workload on the Red River project as it neared
completion. These decreases were partially offset by increased volume on a new waste-to-energy refurbishment projact in Florid
and increased scope on other existing prsjectob income from P&I decreased by $@llion in 2010 primarily as a result of
completion of the Georgia Power and Procter & Gamble projeetgr Iprofits on the Red River @ect as it neared completion,
and the effect of a non-recurring $9 million gain in 2009 fromectithn of a fully-reserved pregt receivable. These de@dmwere
partially offset by improved job income of $10 million relatedconstruction mobilization on the waste-to-energy refurbishmen
project.

Services

Services revenue in 2011 decreased by $165 million compagai0. Revenue declined by approximately $303 million in
our U.S. Construction Group and $93 milliondor Canada operations primarily as a lesficompletion or near completion of
several large projects. These declinesengartially offset by increases in revenue of approximately $208 million in oudiBgil
Services group due to higher activity on savéospital projects and approximately $35 million in our Industrial Serviceggro
from increased construction, maintenance and services undev anuki-site contract throughout the Eastern and Gulf Coast
regions of the U.S. Job income decreased in 2011 compar@2810 by $48 million primarily due to the decline in U.S.
Construction Group and Canada activity resulting from completiorear completion of severalgpects which was partially afét
by the increased Building Group prajectivity on the hospital projects.

Services revenue in 2010 decreased by $108 million compgar@®09. Revenue declined $95 million in our U.S.
Construction Group and a combined $93 million in our Building gang Canada operations. The primary driver for the declines
was the completion several projects or prigdming near completion and the lacknefv project awards. These declines were
partially offset by an increase in revenue of $82 million froon Industrial Services group pramly as a result of increased
construction maintenance and services under a new multi-sitecioior DuPont throughout the Eastern and Gulf Coast regions
the U.S., the Atlanta Public Beols project, as well as the irased levels of turnaround wabkased in Canada. Job income
increased by approximately $5 million in 2010 compared to 2009. The increase in job income resulted from the incregsed activit
on the multi-site DuPont project, the AtlafRablic Schools and the Hunt Refining mcis as well as favorable change ordera
power plant contract. These increases were partially offsttebpwer profits on projects in our Canadian and US Constructi
operations that are nearing completion.

Ventures

Our Venture's operations consadtinvestments in joint ventures accounteddader the equity method of accounting, net
of tax. Ventures revenue was $65 moifliand job income was $45 million in 2011 compared to revenue of $55 million and job
income of $33 million in 2010. The increase in revenue and joimie is primarily attributable to increased sales volume and
higher ammonia prices related to the EBIC ammonia plant in Egypt.

Ventures revenue was $55 million and job income was $33omilli 2010 as compared to revenue of $21 million and job
income of $19 million in 2009. The increase in revenue is pilyratributable to the consolidation of Fasttrax Limited uplos
adoption of ASC 810 in the first quarter of 2010. Fasttrax Laomgehe primary contracting entity with the U.K. MoD in ajpct
that owns and operates heavy equipment transport vehicles fdrikhenilitary. This variable interest entity, in which wevieaa
50% ownership interest, was previously accounted for usingdbiéy method of accountingVentures job income increased
during 2010 primarily due to the consolidation of Fasttrax Ltavelsas improved performance tbfe EBIC ammonia plant praje
which became operational in 2009. The EBIC ammonia plafirpgance benefited from a full year of operation in 2010, which
resulted in increased sales volume and higi@monia prices compared to 2009. In #ddj job income from the Aspire Defence
project improved in 2010 compared to 2009 resulting from theaser in the number of assets being accepted into service and
lower maintenance costs.
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Services Revenue by Market Sector

The Services business group provides construction managemeci hite construction and méemance services to clients
in a number of markets that are also served by our othergsssimits. We believe custonfecus, attention to highly prodtice
delivery, and a diverse market presence are the keys teummess in delivering construati and maintenance services.
Accordingly, the Services business group focuses on these kegstacmrs. The analysis below is supplementally provided t
present the revenue generated by Serviesed on the markets served, some of whiehthe same sectors served by our other
business groups. The perspective highlights thé&etsserved by our Services business group.

Year Ending December 31, 2011

Total
Business Revenue by
Group Services Market
(in millions) Revenue Revenue Sectors
Hydrocarbons:
Gas Monetization $ 3,044 $ — 3 3,044
Oil & Gas 488 165 653
Downstream 557 377 934
Technology 169 — 169
Total Hydrocarbons 4,258 542 4,800
Infrastructure, Government and Power (“IGP"):
North American Gowement and Logistics 2,198 80 2,278
International Government, Defemand Support Services 378 — 378
Infrastructure and Minerals 510 — 510
Power and Industrial 242 968 1,210
Total IGP 3,328 1,048 4,376
Services 1,590 (1,590) —
Other 85 — 85
Total KBR Revenue $ 9,261 $ — 3 9,261
Year Ending December 31, 2010
Total
Business Revenue by
Group Services Market
(in millions) Revenue Revenue Sectors
Hydrocarbons:
Gas Monetization $ 2,829 % — $ 2,829
Oil & Gas 426 297 723
Downstream 584 534 1,118
Technology 130 — 130
Total Hydrocarbons 3,969 831 4,800
Infrastructure, Government and Power (“IGP”):
North American Gowament and Logistics 3,307 97 3,404
International Government, Defemand Support Services 369 — 369
Infrastructure and Minerals 271 — 271
Power and Industrial 352 827 1,179
Total IGP 4,299 924 5,223
Services 1,755 (1,755) —
Other 76 — 76
Total KBR Revenue $ 10,099 $ —  $ 10,099

44



Year Ending December 31, 2009

Total
Business Revenue by
Group Services Market
(in millions) Revenue Revenue Sectors
Hydrocarbons:
Gas Monetization $ 2,755 $ — % 2,755
Oil & Gas 576 337 913
Downstream 478 538 1,016
Technology 97 — 97
Total Hydrocarbons 3,906 875 4,781
Infrastructure, Government and Power (“IGP"):
North American Governmeand Logistics 5,189 59 5,248
International Government, Defemand Support Services 288 — 288
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The effective tax rate on pretax eags was 5.6%, 32.6%, and 31.5% for ylears ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and
2009, respectively. Our U.S.astory tax rate for all years was 35%. Exahgddiscrete items, oueffective tax rate was
approximately 29.3% for the year endedcBmber 31, 2011. The effective tax ride2011, excluding discrete items, was lower
than the U.S. statutory rate due to falde tax rate differentials on foreign eags and lower tax expense on foreign inednom
unincorporated joint ventures. In 2011, we recognized distagtdenefits including a $69 million tax benefit related to the
arbitration award against KBR associateithvihe Barracuda-Caratinga project inaBit as well as $32 million in tax benefits
related to the reduction of deferred tax liabilities associaiigtl the pending liquidation of an unconsolidated joint veniare
Australia resulting in a net effective taate of approximately 5.6%ln September 2011, an arbitration panel in the Barecud
Caratinga arbitration awarded Petrobrppraximately $193 million whichwill be deductible for tax purposes, and for which we
are indemnified by our former parent, Halliburton. The indemnification payment from Halliburton to KBR will be treated by KBR
for tax purposes as a contribution to cdptad accordingly is not xable income. Consequentiyne arbitration ruling restied in a
tax benefit during 2011. In addition, wecognized other discrete tax benefit@11 totaling approximately $34 million prarily
from favorable return to accrual adjustments, |.R.S. audit adjustments and the execution of tax planning strategies.

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2010owas than our statutory rate primarily due to favorable
rate differentials on foreign earnings, betsefissociated with income from unincorgted joint ventures and several favoeabl
discrete tax items including the true-up of prior year U.8orime taxes and utilization oflditional U.S. foreign tax credituring
2010. The effective tax rate for 2009 was lower than our statuate primarily due to favobde rate differentials on forgn
earnings compared to the U.S. tax rate, the favorable finahdatgion of previously estimated 2008 domestic and foreigabtax
income made in connection with the preparation and filing of20@8 consolidated tax returns and the benefit associated with
income on unincorporated joint ventures.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interestss $60 million, $68 million and $74 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. The decrease in 2011 coragao 2010 resulted from lower noncontrolling interests due to the purchase of the
remaining 44.94% interest in our MWKL subsidiary in 2011. E€hasclines were partially offsély higher earnings on certain
LNG and GTL projects executed bgnsolidated joint ventures.
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Backlog

Backlog represents the dollar amount of revenue we expeeatize in the future as a result of performing work on
contracts awarded to us. We generally include total expectedue in backlog when a contrastawarded and/or the scope is
definitized. In many instanee arrangements included in backlog are dempnonrepetitive in rtare, and may fluctuate
depending on estimated revenue and contradtidar Where contract duration is indefe, projects included in backlog are
limited to the estimated aount of expected revenue within the followingetwe months. Certainontracts provide maximum
dollar limits, with actual authorization fmerform work under the contract beinge&d upon on a periodic basis with the oostr.

In these arrangements, gnihe amounts authorized are included in backlog. For projects where we act solely in a project
management capacity, we only imde our management fee revenue of each grajebacklog. For certain long-term service
contracts with a defined contract term, sashthose associated with privately fioad projects, the amount included in bagkis

limited to five years.

For our projects related to unconsolidajeidt ventures, we have included in ttadble below our percentage ownership of
the joint venture’s estimated revenue in backlog. Howewsause these projects are accounted for under the equity metlyod, o
our share of future earnings from these @ty will be recorded in our revenue. Our backlog for projects related to urdatezbl
joint ventures totaled $1.7 billion at December 31, 2011 andee¢@ber 31, 2010. We also consolidate joint ventures whech ar
majority-owned and controlled or are variable interest entities in which we are the primary beneficiary. Our backlogrnitieded
table below for projects related to consolidated joint vestwith noncontrolling interests includes 100% of the backlogided
with those joint ventures and totaled $3.2 billion at DecerBhe2011 and $4.2 billion at December 31, 2010. All backlog is
attributable to firm orders as of December 31, 2011 and).20Backlog attributable to unfunded government orders was
$395 million at December 31, 2011 and $137 million as of December 31, 2010.

Backlog
(in millions) December 31,
2011 2010
Hydrocarbons:
Gas Monetization $ 3,880 $ 5,509
Oil & Gas 289 325
Downstream 546 525
Technology 258 201
Total Hydrocarbons backlog $4,973 $ 6,560
Infrastructure, Government and Power (“IGP”):
North American Gowement and Logistics 899 1,043
International Governmenefence and Support Services 1,086 1,223
Infrastructure and Minerals 502 446
Power and Industrial 777 177
Total IGP backlog $ 3,264 $ 2,889
Services 1,766 1,771
Ventures 928 821
Total backlog for continuing operations $0,931 $ 12,041

We estimate that as of December 31, 2011, 59% of moklog will be executed within one year. As of
December 31, 2011, 25% of our backlog was attributable td-fixiee contracts and 75% was attributable to cost-reimbursable
contracts. For contracts that contain bidthd-price and cost-reimbursable componews classify the components as eithred-
price or cost-reimbursable according to the composition of the contract except for smaller contracts where we charaxtérize the
contract based on the predominant component.

Hydrocarbons backlog declined approxteig $1.6 billion primarily due to wi performed in our Gas Monetization
business unit on the Escravos GTL, Skikda LNG, Pearl GTL and other projects partially offset by an increase in estimated
reimbursable project costs on the Gorgon LNG project in Australia.

IGP Backlog increased by $375 million as a result of reawmrds in our P&I business tirof a fixed-price waste-to-
energy plant expansion project and a reimbursable contract for an integrated gasification combined cycle plant consigattion pro
as well as other new awards in our I&M and IGDSS business uHitsse increases in new awards were partially offset by work
performed on existing pregts and other adjustmis in the NAGL and IGDSS business units.

Services backlog remained essentially unchanged as wddemped in the Building Group was offset by new awards and
other adjustments in the U.S., Canadd Industrial Services product lines.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our operating cash flow can vary signifitly from year to year and are affected by the mix, terms and percentage of
completion of our engineering and construction projects. \iém oéceive cash through advanced billings to our customengron o
larger engineering and construction projects and those of asokaated joint ventures. Joint venture cash balances ateditoi
joint venture activities and are not avaikalfbr general cash needs, use on othereptejor distributions to us without prer
approval by the respective joint venture. As client cash advances are used in the execution of a project, they areéhreagbered t
regular or milestone billings to the customéro the extent our net investmenttire operating assets of a project is gretitan
available project cash, we may utilize other cash on hand, ailabiity under our Credit Agreement, to satisfy any periodic
operating cashequirements.

Engineering and construction prdiggenerally require us to provide credit supp@iour customers in the form of letters of
credit, surety bonds or guarantees. Odlitalio obtain new project awards in thetdive may be dependent on our ability to
maintain or increase our letter of credit and surety bondingcdgp which may be further depdent on the timely release of
existing letters of credit and surety bonds. As the needréalit support arises letters of credit will be issued undeCoedit
Agreement or arranged with our banks on a bilateral, syndicatether basis. We believe weveaadequate letter of credit
capacity under our existing Credit Agreemantl bilateral lines, as well as adequsiieety bond capacity under our existiimges
to support our operations and currbatklog for the next twelve months.

Cash and equivalents totaled $966 million at Decembe@ll] and $786 million at December 31, 2010, which included
$244 million and $145 million, respectively, of cash held by ot jentures that we consolidate for accounting purposes.

As of December 31, 2011, we had restricted cash of $5 mgliomarily related to the amounts held on deposit with certain
banks to collateralize standby letterscoddit as well as amounts held on deposit wéltain banks to establish foreign cgg@®ns.
Of this, $3 million is included in “Other current assetsida$2 million is included in “Other assets” in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Our excess cash is generally investeditimee time deposits with commercial bankih an Individual Rating of B or better
by Fitch or money market funds governed under rule 2&-the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940 and rated AAA by
Standard & Poor’s or Aaa by Moody’s Irsters Service, respectively. As of Dedmn 31, 2011, substantially all of our excess
cash was held in time deposits with commeroganks with the primary objectives pfeserving capital and maintaining liquidit

We generally do not provide for U.S. federal and statemiectaxes on the accumulated but undistributed earnings of non-
United States subsidiaries. Tavas provided as necessary with respect to earnings that are considered not permanesthdreinve
For all other non-U.S. subsidiaries, no U.S. taxes are provided because such earnings are intended to be reinvestgddndefinitel
finance foreign activities. Theseecumulated but undistributed foreign earningsld be subject to additional tax if remitteat
deemed remitted, as a dividend. Determination of the amouwntre€ognized deferred U.S. income tax liability is not pradécab
however, the potential foreign tax credit associated with tferréel income would be availabto reduce the resulting U.Sxt
liabilities. As of December 31, 2011, foreigmash and equivalents that could be sabjto additional U.S. income taxes and
withholding taxes payable to the various foreign jurisdictiomsrifitted, or deemed remitted, as a dividend, excluding cadtbly
consolidated joint ventures, is estima@to be approximately $349 million.

Cash flow activities summary
Years Ended December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010 2009
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities $ 650 $ 549 $ (36)
Cash flows used in investing activities (88) (397) 9)
Cash flows used in financing activities (377) (336) (166)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (5) 7 7
Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents 180 a77) (204)
Cash increase due to consolidation of a variable interest entity — 22 —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents $ 180 $ (155) $ (204)

Operating activities Cash provided by operations totaled $650 arillin 2011, driven primarily by strong earnings and
collections of advances and distributidnem unconsolidated affiliates of $196 million. Cash remitted for income taxesf net
refunds, was approximately $201 million during 2011. In additincontributed approximately $74 million to our pension glan
during 2011, including a one-time contribution of approximatelyréi#lion which had been previously agreed with the trustées
our international U.K. plans. Cash held by consadidgbint ventures increased by approximately $99 million.

Cash provided by operating activities during 2010 was gy driven by strong overall earnings, cash cycle
improvements, and active managernef working capital to support project exeoutiactivities. Cash provided by operations
totaled $549 million and included approxirlg $93 million representing distributiortd earnings from our unconsolidated join
ventures and $116 million represented adeanfrom our clients. Cash held by consolidated joint ventures decreased by
approximately $91 million.
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Investing activities Cash used in investing activities in 2011 totaled $88 million which was primarily due to capital
expenditures of $83 million largely related to information techylarojects and leasehold improvements. Additionally, weema
investments totaling $11 million in an equity method joint venassociated with the lease extension of our corporate hatetgua
and received proceeds of $6 million from the sale of an investment.

Cash used in investing activities for 2010 totaled $397 anilland related to the net cash paid of approximately
$299 million for the acquisition of R&S and Energo Engineeri@gpital expenditures were $66 million in 2010. During 2018, w
paid $20 million for the exclusive right wertain technology under a 25-year licensamgangement. We s made investments
totaling $12 million in several equity method joint ventur€zash used in investing activities for 2009 totaled $9 millioickvh
consisted primarily of capital expenditures, net of salesspasfrom the sale of an investment in a joint venture.

Financing activities Cash used in financing activities for theay ended December 31, 2011 totaled $377 million and
included $178 million of payments to acquire the noncont@linterest in MWKL, $118 million of payments to repurchase
approximately 4 million shares of our common stock, $63 millidated to distributions to owners of noncontrolling interésts
several of our consolidated joint ventures, $30 million relatedividend payments to our shareholders, and $15 million of
payments on debt related to the Fastiék as well as the payment of financedwmuter software purchased in 2010. These
payments were partiallyffset by a return of cash of approximately $17 millused to collateralizgandby letters of credit

Cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 totaled $336 million and included $233 million of
payments to repurchase approximately 10 million shares afommmon stock, $91 million related to distributions to noncoiigl|
interests of several of our consolidated joint ventures, &&dntillion related to dividend payments to shareholders. These
payments were partially offset by retwohcash used to collateralize standby letters of credit of approximately $28 million.

Cash used in financing activities was $166 million for ylear ended December 31, 2009 and included $54 million for
distributions to noncontrolling terests of several of our consolidated joiahtures, $32 million retad to dividend paymés to
our shareholders and $31 million for payments to reacquirdlidmshares of our common stock. Additionally, our financing
activities included $44 million related to the net cash colla#@din of our standby letters of credit in accordance vettam
agreements.

Future sources of cashFuture sources of cash include cash fldwen operations, including cash advances from our
clients, cash derived from working capital mamagat and advances from our Credit Agreement.

Future uses of cash-uture uses of cash will primarily relate to wardicapital requirements and acquisitions. In addition,
we will use cash to fund capital expenditunesnsion obligations, operating leaseshadisidends, share repurchases andower
other obligations as they arise. Our capital expenditures wifbtxesed primarily on information technology, real estate and
equipment/facilities. Seedff balance sheet arrangements — committe and other contractual obligationgelow for a schedule
of contractual obligations and other long-terabilities that will require the use of cash.

Credit Agreement

On December 2, 2011, we entered into a $1 billion, five-yearaumed revolving credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement)
with a syndicate of international banksplecing the three-year unsecured revolvamgdit agreement, dated November 3, 2009
(the “Prior Credit Agreement”) which teimated upon closing of the Credit Agreemt. The Credit Agreement expires in
December 2016 and can be used for working capital and the issuance of letters of credit for general corporate purposges. Amount
drawn under the Credit Agreement will bear interest at variaés, per annum, based either on (i) the London interbanieaffe
rate (“LIBOR") plus an applicable margin &f50% to 1.75%, or (ii) a base rate plus an applicable margin of 0.50% to 0.76%, wi
the base rate being equal to the higlaégt) reference bank’s publicly announcedéaate, (b) the Federal Funds Rate pl&$s,
or (c) LIBOR plus 1%. The amount of the applicable margirbéoapplied will be determined by the Company’s ratio of
consolidated debt to consoliddt EBITDA for the prior four fiscal quarters, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The Credit
Agreement provides for fees on letters of credit issued undeCrédit Agreement at a rate equalthe applicable margin for
LIBOR-based loans, except for performance letters of credit, warigtpriced at 50% of such applicable margin. KBR pays an
issuance fee of 0.15% of the face amouna détter of credit upon issuance. KB#so pays a commitment fee of 0.25%, per
annum, on any unused portion oétbommitment under the Credit lsgment. As of Decembai, 2011, there were $245 million
in letters of credit and no advances outstanding.

The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants similar to the Prior Credit Agreement which include financial
covenants requiring mainter@nof a ratio of consolidated debt to consokdaEBITDA not greater than 3.5 to 1 and a minimum
consolidated net worth of $2 billion plus 50% of consolidaieincome for each quarter beginning December 31, 2011, and 100%
of any increase in shareholders’ equity attributable to the sale of equity interests.

The Credit Agreement contains a number of other covenasttictiag, among other things, our ability to incur additional
liens and indebtedness, enter into asset sales, repurchasgiityskares and make certaipég of investments. Our subisides
are restricted in incurring indebtedness, however, they amaitted to incur indebtedness as it relates to purchase money
obligations, capitalizecebhses, refinancing or renewatxgred by liens upon or in propeggquired, constructed or improvedan
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $200 million at anydinganding. Additionally, awsubsidiaries may incur unseed
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indebtedness not to exceed $200 millionaggregate outstanding principal amountaay time. Weare also permitted to
repurchase our equity shares, provided that no such regsestshall be made from proceeds borrowed under the Credit
Agreement, and that the aggregaurchase price and dividends paid after Deceb2011, does not to exceed the Distribution
Cap (equal to the sum of $750 million plus the lesser of (1) $4ll6rmand (2) the amount received by us in connection thieh
arbitration and subsequent litigat of the PEMEX contracts assdussed in Note 4 to our cofidated financial statements)it
December 31, 2011, the remaining availability under the Distribution Cap was approximately $732 million.

Currently, we do not believe we have any significargosure to the ongoing European debt crisis through our banking
relationships. Although we maintain bankin¢atnships with several U.K. and corgintal European banks, very few banks are
located in the more economicatlistressed nations within the European Unioshsas Greece, Ireland, Italy, Portugal or 8pai

Nonrecourse Project Finance Debt

Fasttrax Limited, a joint venture in which we indirectly ow086 equity interest with an wlated partner, was awarded a
contract in 2001 with the U.K. MoD to providefleet of 92 heavy equipment transpor(8HETS”) to the British Army. Undetie
terms of the arrangement, Fasttrax Limited operates and maititairkET fleet for a term of 22 years. The purchase of thEsHE
by the joint venture was financed through a series of bondseskeby the assets of Fasttrainited totaling approximately
£84.9 million and are non-recourse to KBRd its partner including £12.2 million whiavas replaced when the shareholders
funded combined equity and subordinatebdtd® approximately £12.2 million. Ehbonds are guaranteed by Ambac Assurance
UK Ltd under a policy that guarantees the schedule of the penaip interest payments to the bond trustee in the eveohef n
payment by Fasttrax Limited.

The guaranteed secured bonds were issued in two classegiogred Class A 3.5% Index Linked Bonds in the amount of
£56 million and Class B 5.9% Fixed Rate Bonds in the amount of £dilion. Payments on both classes of bonds commenced in
March 2005 and are due in semi-annual instatita over the term of the bonds which @n@021. Subordinated notes payable to
our 50% partner initially beanterest at 11.25% increasing to 16% over the term of the note through 2025. Payments on the
subordinated debt commenced in March 2006 and are daeninannual installments over the term of the note.

The combined principal instadents for both classes of bonds and sulmatéid notes, including inflation adjusted bond
indexation, due for the years ended December 31, 2012 through 2016 totals £6 million in each year and £33 million thereafter. |
accordance with FASB ASC 810 our consolidated financial statements for 2011 include dhetsacd Fasttrax Limited and
accordingly, the cash and equivalents, property, plant and egpipand the non-recourse project financing debt. The secured
bonds are an obligation of Fasttrax Limited and will never bebaalgigation of KBR becausedk are non-recourse to therjoi
venture partners. Accordingly, in the event of a default oriethe loan, the lenders may only look to the resources ofr&astt
Limited for repayment. For additiohiaformation see Note 15 of our consolidated financial statements.

Off balance sheet arrangements

Letters of credit, surety bonds and guarante&s.connection with certain projects, vage required to provide letters of
credit, surety bonds or guarantees to austomers. Letters of credit are providectertain customers and counter-partieshie
ordinary course of business as credjport for contractual performe@ guarantees, advanced pays received from customers
and future funding commitments. We have approximately $lli@bin committed and uncommitted lines of credit to support the
issuance of letters of credit and as of December 31, 2011, and we had utilized $635 million of our credit capacity. @&uegty bon
also posted under the terms of certain contracts primarifiteck to state and local governmieprojects to guarantee our
performance. The letters of credit outstanding included $2HBmissued under our Credit Agreement and $390 million issued
under uncommitted bank lineg December 31, 2011. Of the total letterciEdit outstanding, $185 million relate to our join
venture operations and $14 million of the letters of crediteh&rms that could entitle a bank to require additional cash
collateralization on demand. As the nemitbes, future projects will be supportey letters of credit issued under our Ctedi
Agreement or other lines of credit arranged on a bilateral, syndioatether basis. We believe we have adequate letteedit c
capacity under our Credit Agreement and bilateral lines oftdredupport our operatiorier the next twelve months.
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Commitments and other contractual obligationghe following table summarizes osignificant contratual obligations
and other long-term liabiliteas of December 31, 2011:

Payments Due

Millions of dollars 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total
Operating leases 76 70 64 61 57 470 798
Purchase obligations(a) 28 21 10 1 — — 60
Pension funding obligation (b) 30 21 20 20 19 122 232
Total (c) $134 $112 $94 $82 $76 $592 $1,090

(@ The purchase obligations disclosed above do not includegserobligations that we enter into with vendors in the normal
course of business that support existimgtracting arrangements with our cusésm The purchase obligations with our
vendors can span several years depending on the duration pfofjeets. In general, the sts associated with those
purchase obligations are expensed to correspdthdive revenue earned time related projects.

(b) The pension obligations are comprised of payments relatad tgreement with the trusteafsour international plan. The
agreement calls for minimum contributions @5.5 million in 2012; 3.3 million in 2013; 2.5 million in 2014-2019;
¢10.6 million in 2020 andg 0 million in 2021-2023. The foreign funding ofdi@ns were converted to U.S. dollars using
the conversion rate as of December 31, 2011.

(c) Not included in the total are uncentaax positions recorded pursuant to FASB ASC 740 — Income Taxes which totaled
$120 million, excluding $20 million in interest and penaltie®@Becember 31, 2011. The ultimate timing of when these
obligations will be settled cannot be determined with redder@ssurance and have been excluded from the table above.
Refer to Note 11 in our cooldated financial statements.

The table above does not include our afidated non-recourse project-financebt held by Fasttrax Limited of
$98 million. See Note 15 for additional information.

Other obligations.We had commitments to provide funds to our pebaftinanced projects of $17 million as of December
31, 2011 primarily related to future equitynding on our Allenby and Connaught praje©ur commitments to fund our privatel
financed projects are supported by letters of credit as Hedcabove. At December 31, 2011, all $17 million will become due
within one year.

Other factors affecting liquidity

Government claims Included in receivables in our balance sheetsuaapproved claims for costs incurred under various
government contracts totaling $161 million at December 31, 20%hich $110 million is included in “Account receivable” and
$51 million is included in “Unbilled receivables on uncompletedt@acts.” Unapproved claimslag to contracts where oursts
have exceeded the customer’s funded value of the task order. The $110 million of unapproved claims included in “accounts
receivable” results primarily from de-obligat funding on certain task orders that wals® subject to Form 1’s relating tertain
DCAA audit issues discussed in “U.S. Governiatters.” We believe such disputed costs will be resolved in our favor dt whic
time the customer will be required to obligate funds from apptpnis for the year in which resolution occurs. The remginin
unapproved claims balance of approximately $51 million primeaejyesents costs for which incremental funding is pendiriggin t
normal course of business. Thmjority of costs in this category are norrgdilinded within several months after the costs ar
incurred. The unapproved claims outstanding at December 31,a281donsidered to be probable of collection and have been
previously recognized as revenue.

Liquidated damagesMany of our engineering and consttion contracts have milestone distes that must be met or we
may be subject to penallidor liquidated damages éfaims are asserted ameg were responsible for the delays. These géiyera
relate to specified activities that must be met within a prdjg@ set contractual date or achievement of a specifieddéwvetput
or throughput of a plant we construct. Each contract defihe conditions under which a customer may make a claim for
liquidated damages. Howayén many instances, liquidated damages are rsatrtesl by the customer, but the potential toas s
used in negotiating claimsd closing out the contract.

Based upon our evaluation of our performance and other legigsén we have not accruéat possible liquidated damages

related to several projects, totaling $11 million at Decembe@1] (including amounts related to our share of unconsdfidate
subsidiaries), that we could incur based upanmeting the projects as currently forecasted.
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Transactions with Former Parent

Historically, all transactions between Ilaurton and KBR were recorded as amercompany payable or receivable. In
2005, Halliburton contributed $300 million of the intercompany e KBR equity in the form of a capital contribution. The
remaining portion of the intercompany balance owed to Hatbiouwas converted to Subordindtentercompany Notes in the
amount of $774 million. In connection with our initial public oiifeg in November 2006 and the separation of our business from
Halliburton, we entered into various agmeents, including, among others, a master se
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speculative trading purposes. We generally utilize currency opsiodsorward exchange contracts to hedge foreign currency
transactions entered into in the ordinary course of busires®af December 31, 2011, we had forward foreign exchange ctmtrac

of up to 46 months in duration to excigee major world currencies. The totalogs notional amount of these contracts at
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $352 million, $403 million, and $406 million, respectively. These contracts had fair valu
of $5 million, $6 million and $3 million at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Transactions with Joint Ventures

We perform many of our projects through incorporated and arpocated joint ventures. In addition to participating as a
joint venture partner, we often provide amggring, procurement, consttion, operations or maintenance services to the joint
venture as a subcontractor. Where we provide services totavgoiture that we control and therefore consolidate for financia
reporting purposes, we elingdte intercompany revenues and expenses on am$attions. In situationghere we account for ou
interest in the joint venture under the igumethod of accounting, we do not elirate any portion of our revenues or expense
We recognize the profit on our services provided to joint venthaswe consolidatand joint ventures that we record unttee
equity method of accounting primarily ngithe percentage-of-completion method.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information related to new accounting standards is described in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

U.S. Government Matters
Award Fees

In accordance with the provisions of the LogCAP Il cortirave recognize revenue on cegrvices rendered on a task
order basis based on either a cost-plus-fixed-fee or cost-plesféa and award fee arrangement. The fees are determiaed as
percentage rate applied to a negotiated estimate of the totalfoostach task order. Prior to the fourth quarter of 2Q@9,
recognized award fees on the L@ Il contract using an estimated accrualtieé amounts to be awarded. Once task orders
underlying the work were definitized and award fees were gramedydjusted our estimate of am fees to the actual amounts
earned. We used 72% as our accrual rate through the third quarter of 2009.

On February 19, 2010, KBR was notified by the Award Feerbting Official (“AFDQO”) that a detemination had been
made regarding the Company’s performance for the period Ja@0@8/to April 2008 in Irag. The notice stated that based on
information received from various DoD indiltials and organizations after the dat¢hef evaluation board held in June 200 t
AFDO made a unilateral decision to grant no award fees égpehiod of performance from January 2008 to April 2008. As dtresu
of the AFDQ’s adverse determination we reversed award fe¢shéd previously been estiradtas earned and recognized as
revenue resulting in a net decrease of §bon in 2009. Commencing in the fourth quarter of 2009, we stopped accruind awar
fees and began recognizing them only uponipt@é the award fee letter due to tim@bility to reliaby estimate the amounf fees
to be awarded. We have filed an appeathe ACO related to the decision to gran award fees for the period of performance
from January 2008 to April 2008.

In 2010, we received award fees of $94 million for theogeof performance from May 2008 through May 2010 for task
orders in Iraq and Afghanistan which vexzorded as an increase to revenue.

In 2011, we were awarded and recognized revenue of $41 nidli@ward fees for the period$ performance from March
2010 through February 2011 on task orders in Iraq. No awardofgle are available for periods pérformance subsequent to
February 2011.

In August of 2010, we executed a contract modification td_tig@AP Ill contract on the base life support task order in
Iraq that resulted in an increase to our base fee on costs incurred and an increase in the maximum award fee on negiotiated cost
the period of performance from Septem®@10 through February 2011. During the figaarter of 2011, we finalized negotiat®
with our customer and converted the task order from costhalse-fee and award fee to cost-plus-fixed-fee for the period of
performance beginning in March 2011. Wcognize revenues for the fixed-feemponent on the basis of proportionate
performance as services are performed.

Government Compliance Matters

The negotiation, administration, and satient of our contracts with the U.Sovernment, consisting primarily of DoD
contracts, are subject to audit by the Defe Contract Audit Agency (“DCAA”), which sees in an advisory role to the Defense
Contract Management Agency (“DCMA”) whigk responsible for the administration of aantracts. The scope of these audits
include, among other things, the allowabiligflocability, and reasonableness of imed costs, approval of annual overheaies,
compliance with the Federal 4aisition Regulation (“FAR”) andCost Accounting Standards (“GA), compliance with certain
unique contract clauses, and audits of @ergspects of our internal control systenkssues identified during these audite a
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typically discussed and reviewed with, usnd certain matters are included in audit reports issued by the DCAA, with its
recommendations to our customer’s administeacontracting officer (“ACQO”). We attempt to resolve all issues identified dit au
reports by working directly with the DCAA and the ACO. When agreement cannot be reached, DCAA may issue a Form 1, “Notice
of Contract Costs Suspended and/or pigaved,” which recommends withholding theyipusly paid amounts or it may issue an
advisory report to the ACO. KBR is permitted to respond ésdhdocuments and provide additional support. At December 31,
2011, open Form 1's from the DCAA recommending suspensionyofigrats totaling approximately $361 million associated with
our contract costs incurred in prior years, of which approbely&150 million has been withheld from our current billings.aAs
consequence, for certain of these mattewrs have withheld approximately $70 million from our subcontractors under the payment
terms of those contracts. lnldition, we have outstanding demaletters received from our customer requesting that we remit a
total of $87 million of disapproved costs for iath we do not believe we have a legal oalign to pay. We continue to workittv

our ACO’s, the DCAA and our subcontractors to resolve these igdoesever, for certain of thesmatters, we have filed claims
with the Armed Services Board of Contract Appeals (“ASBCA")har United States Court of Federal Claims (“U.S. COFC").

KBR excludes from billings to the U.S. Government costt tire potentially unallowable, expressly unallowable, or
mutually agreed to be unallowable, or not allocable to goverhmentracts per applicableg@ations. Revenue recorded for
government contract work is reduced at the time we identidyeatimate potentially refundable costs related to issues tlyabena
categorized as disputed or unallowable as a result of cosunseor the audit process. Oestimates of potentially unall@able
costs are based upon, among other things, our internal analyie &dcts and circumstancegsrms of the contracts and the
applicable provisions of the FAR and SAquality of supporting documition for costs incurrecand subcontract terms as
applicable. From time to time, we engagéside counsel to advise us on certairtena in determining whether certain coste
allowable. We also review our analysis and findings withAB€© as appropriate. In some cases, we may not reach agreement
with the DCAA or the ACO regarding potentially unallowable cost&iwmay result in our filing oflaims in various courts shc
as the ASBCA or the U.S. COFC. We oiriglude amounts in revenue related to disduind potentially unallowable costs when
we determine it is probable that such costs will result icttlection of revenue. We generally do not recognize additrewvahue
for disputed or potentially unallowable costs for which revelma® been previously reduced until we reach agreement with the
DCAA and/or the ACO that such costs are allowable.

Certain issues raised as a result of contradtsaadd other investigatiorae discussed below.

Private Security In 2007, we received a Form 1 from the Departmerth®fArmy informing us of their intent to adjust
payments under the LogCAP Il contractsaciated with the cost incurred for the years 2003 through 2006 by certain of our
subcontractors to provide security to th@inployees. Based on that notice, the Army withheld its initial assessment of 2. mi
The Army based its initial assessment on snbcontract wherein, based on communicetiwith the subcontractor, the Army
estimated 6% of the total subcontract costs related to thaterbecurity. We subsequently received Form 1's from the DCAA
disapproving an additional $83 million of costs incurred by uscamdsubcontractors to provide security during the samedserio
Since that time, the Army withheld an additional $25 millionpayments from us bringing thetal payments withheld to
approximately $45 million as of December 31, 2011 out of the Form 1's issued to date of $103 million.

The Army indicated that they believe our LogCAP Il caotrprohibits us and our subcontractors from billing costs of
privately armed security. We believe that, while the LogCARdHtract anticipates that the Army will provide force protectm
KBR employees, it does not prohibit usamy of our subcontractors from using privageurity services to provide force prctien
to KBR or subcontractor personnel. Ind#tn, a significant portion of our subcontracts are competitively bid fixed price
subcontracts. As a result, we do not receligrils of the subcontractors’ cost estimate nor are we legally entitled tarihef; we
have not paid our subcontractors any additional compensatioediarity services. Accordingly, we believe that we are edtitb
reimbursement by the Army for the cost of services provided iy asir subcontractors, even if they incurred costs for grivat
force protection services. Therefore, we do not agree withitimg’s position that such costs are unallowable and that they ar
entitled to withhold amounts incurred for such costs.

We have provided at the Army’s requedbimation that addresses the use of arsetlrity either directly or indirectly
charged to LogCAP lII. In 2007, we filed a complaint in theB&3\ to recover $44 million of the amounts withheld from us. In
2009, KBR and the Army agreed to stay the case pending fudibeussions with the DOJ assdussed further below. The
ASBCA has denied the Army’s latest request to stay theegmdings which are pending a ruling on KBR’s motion for summary
judgment. We believe these sums were piggglled under our contraavith the Army. At this tine, we believe the likelihab
that a loss related to this matter has bieearred is remote. We have not adjaksbur revenues or accrued any amountsem et
this matter. This matter is also the subject of a sepamita Gled by the DOJ for allegedolation of the False Claims Aas
discussed further below under the headingestigations, Qui Tams and Litigation.”

Containers. In June 2005, the DCAA recommended withholding dertmsts associated with providing containerized
housing for soldiers and supporting civilian personnel in Iraq. D8&A agreed that the costs be withheld pending receipt of
additional explanation or documentation to support the subcortrats. During the first quarter of 2011, we received a Form
from the DCAA disapproving approximately $25 million in costs relatecontainerized housing that had previously been deemed
allowable. As of December 31, 2011, approximately $51 millidncosts have been suspended under Form 1's of which
$26 million have been withheld from us by our customer. Wee eithheld $30 million from our subcontractor related to this
matter. In April 2008, we filed a counterclaim in arbitratioaiagt our LogCAP Il subcontractor, First Kuwaiti Trading Compa
to recover the $51 million we paid to the subcontractorctomtainerized housing as further described under the caption First
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Kuwaiti Trading Company arbitration below. During the first quaoe2011, we filed a complaint before the ASBCA to contest
the Form 1's and recover the amounts withheld from us by ouoroest We believe #i the costs incurred associated with
providing containerized housing aemsonable, and we intend to vigorously defemdelves in this matter. We do not beli¢vat

we face a risk of significantoss from any disallowance of these costsektess of the amounts we have withheld from
subcontractors and the loss accruals we have recorded. Aitrthjsve believe the likelihood that a loss in excess of theuam
accrued for this matter is remote.

Dining facilities. In 2006, the DCAA raised questions regarding ollings and pricereasonableness of costs related to
dining facilities in Irag. We respondedttte DCMA that our costs are reasonable. oABDecember 31, 201e have outstandin
Form 1's from the DCAA disapproving $130 million in costs relate these dining facilities until such time we provide
documentation to support the price reasonableness of the rgt#mtesl with our subcontractand demonstrate that the amtsun
billed were in accordance with the contract terms. We bettev@rices obtained for these services were reasonable ardltimten
vigorously defend ourselves on this matter. We filed clainteerlJ.S. COFC or ASBCA to recover $55 million of the $69 million
withheld from us by the customer. The U.S. COFC proceedingshvedd in the fourth quarter of 2011 and we expect a decision i
the second quarter of 2012. With respect to questions raigadireg billing in accordance with contract terms, as of Deeemb
31, 2011, we believe it is reasonably possiblat we could incur losses in excesshef amount accrued for possible subcactisr
costs billed to the customer that weresgibly not in accordance wittontract terms. We are unablo estimate an amount of
possible loss or range of possible loss in excess of the amoun¢dcetated to any costs billéal the customer that wer@in
accordance with the contract terms. However, we do not believiace a risk of significant loss from any disallowance asehe
costs in excess of amounts withheld from subcontractorsof A&#cember 31, 2011, we had withheld $31 million in payments
from our subcontractors pending the resolutibthese matters with our customer.

In 2009, one of our subcontractors, Tamimi, filed for aahibn to recover approximately $35 million for payments we
withheld from them pending the resolution of the Form 1’'s with customer. The arbitration was held under the rules of the
London Court of International Arbitration in London, Englanid.December 2010, the arbitration panel ruled that the subcbntra
terms were not sufficient to hold retesrtifrom Tamimi for price reamableness matters and awardee subcontractor $38 midh
including interest thereon and certain legal costs. We paidwiard to Tamimi during the third quarter of 2011. As notedeb
we have claims pending in the U.S. CO8ICASBCA to recover withholds by our coster related to these amounts from the U.S.
government and we believe it is probatblat we will recover such amounts.

In March 2011, the DOJ filed a counterafain the U.S. COFC alleging KBR enagiees accepted bribes from Tamimi in
exchange for awarding a master agreement for DFAC servidemoni. The DOJ seeks disgorgement of all funds paid to KBR
under the master agreement as well as adrdviees paid to KBR under the related tasters. We have evaluated the DOJ's
counterclaim and believe it to be without merit. Trial ia thS. COFC took place during the fourth quarter of 2011 andnpaist-
briefs by KBR and the DoJ were filed. We expactling from the court in the second quarter of 2012.

Transportation costsin 2007, the DCAA raised a question about our d@npe with the provisions of the Fly America
Act. During the first quarter of 2011, weceived a Form 1 from the DCAA totaling $8llion for alleged violations of the ¥l
America Act in 2004. Subject to certainceptions, the Fly America Act requires Ferleemployees and others performing U.S.
Government-financed foreign air travel to travel by U.S. #iagcarriers. There are times when we transported personnel in
connection with our services for the U.S. military where we matyhave been in compliance with the Fly America Act and its
interpretations through the Federal Acqtiisi Regulations and the Comptroller Geale Included in our December 31, 2011
and 2010 accompanying balance sheets, acarued estimate of the cost incurredtfeese potentially non-compliant flight3he
DCAA may consider additional flights to be noncompliant resulting in potential larger amounts of disallowed costs thannthe amou
we have accrued. Atithtime, we cannot estimate a rargfereasonably possible losses that may have been incurred, ihany, i
excess of the amount accrued. Wk eontinue to work with our custner to resolve this matter.

In the first quarter of 2011, we received a Form 1 froenDICAA disapproving certain pensnel replacement costs totaling
approximately $27 million associated with replacing employeeswere deployed in Iraq and Afghanistan for less than 179 days.
The DCAA claims these replacement costslate the terms of the LogCAP Il contraghich expressly didlaw certain costs
associated with the contractor rotation eshployees who have deployed less thd@A days including costs for transportation,
lodging, meals, orientath and various forms of per dienlcalances. We disagree with tB€AA’s interpretation and applicatn
of the contract terms as it was appliedccbawumstances outside of our control irdihg sickness, deattermination for caies or
resignation and that such coskesld be allowable. We believe the risk ofdaassociated with the disallowance of thesésdss
remote. As of December 31, 2011, we had not accrued any amounts related to this matter.

Construction services From February 2009 through September 2046, received eight Form 1's from the DCAA
disapproving approximately $25 million in costs related to workopmed under our CONCAP Il contract with the U.S. Navy to
provide emergency constructionngees primarily to Government facilities damaged by Hurricanes Katrina and Wilma. The
DCAA claims the costs billed to the U.S. Navy primarily related to subcontract costs that were either inappropriatelydsd, incl
unallowable profit markup or were unreasonahblie. April 2010, we met with the U.S. Mg in an attempt to settle the poterial
unallowable costs. As a result of the meeting, approximatelmiion of the potentially unallowable costs was agreed to be
allowable and approximately $1 million unallowable. Settiemef the remaining disputed amounts is pending a final
determination from the contraayj officer. KBR intends to file a claim with eghthe U.S. COFC or ASBCA if the remaining
amounts are not approved by the contracting officer. As exfe@ber 31, 2011, the U.S. Navy has withheld approximately
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$9 million from us. We believe we undertook adequate andmabte steps to ensure that proper bidding procedures were
followed and the amounts billed to the custmrwere reasonable and not in violatiorntlod FAR. As of December 31, 2011, we
have accrued our estimate of probable loss related to thisrptaitvever, it is reasonably gible we could incur additionkdsses.

Investigations, Qui Tams and Litigation
The following matters relate to ongoing litigationivestigations involving Us. government contracts.

McBride Qui Tam suit. In September 2006, we became aware of a qui tiondided against us in the U.S. District Court
in the District of Columbia by a form@mployee alleging various wrongdoings in therfaf overbillings to our customer oneth
LogCAP lll contract. This case was originally filed pendinggbeernment’s decision whether ot to participate in the duiln
June 2006, the government formally declinegarticipate. The principal allegatis are that our compensation for the prioviof
Morale, Welfare and Recreation (“MWR?”) féities under LogCAP Il is based on the volerof usage of those facilities and that
we deliberately overstated that usage. In accordance withriraato we charged our customer based on actual cost, ndtdrase
the number of users. It was also alleged that, during thedpegdm November 2004 into mid-December 2004, we continued to bi
the customer for lunches, although the winfacility was closed and neerving lunches. There are also allegations regardin
housing containers and our provision of sezgito our employees and contractors. On July 5, 2007, the court granted ouartanotio
dismiss the qui tam claims and to compel arbitration of employment claims including a claim that the plaintiff was unlawfully
discharged. The majority of the plaffig claims were dismissed btie plaintiff was allowed to pursue limited claims pegdi
discovery and future motions. Substantiallyemployment claims wergent to arbitration under the Company’s dispute reswluti
program and were subsequently resolvedun favor. In January 2009, the relatded an amended complaint which is nearing
completion of the discovery process. Trial for this matter habeen scheduled. We beliethe relator’s claim is withoutnerit
and that the likelihood that a loss has been incurred is rerAstef December 31, 20140 amounts havieeen accrued.

First Kuwaiti Trading Company arbitration. In April 2008, First Kuwaiti Trading Company, one of our LogCAP llI
subcontractors, filed for arbitration af subcontract under which KBR had leasetiales related to work performed on our
LogCAP Il contract. The FKTC Aitration is being conducted under the ruleshef London Court on International Arbitrationda
the venue is in the District of Columbia. First Kuwaiti allegeat the did not return or pay rent for many of the vehiclessaeks
damages in the amount of $134 million. We filed a counterdairecover amounts which may ultimately be determined due to
the Government for the $51 million in suspended costs as disdnsges preceding section this footnote titled “Containers To
date arbitration hearings for four subaats have taken place in Washington, Dp@marily related to claims involving uniokl
rents and damages on lost or unreturned vehicles. The @obipanel has awarded approxinigt®16 million to FKTC for clains
involving unpaid rents and damages on lostrareturned vehicles, repair costs ontaiervehicles, damagesuffered as a relwf
late vehicle returns, and interest thereon, net of maintenatmage and security costs awarded to KBR. No payments are
expected to occur until all claims are arbitrated and awimdbzed. Arbitration hearing$or the remaining subcontractsear
expected to resume in September 2012. We believe any damltigeately awarded to First Kuwaiti will be billable under the
LogCAP lIl contract. Accordingly, we have accrued amountsigayend a related unbilled receilalfor the amounts awarded to
First Kuwaiti pursuant to the terms of the contract.

Paul Morell, Inc. d/b/a Tre Event Source vs. KBR, IncTES is a former LogCAP lllubcontractor who provided DFAC
services at six sites in Iraq from mid-2003 to early 2004. Inueepr2008, TES sued KBR in Federal Court in Virginia fombhe
of contract and tortious interference WikES'’s subcontractors by awandi subsequent DFAC contradb the subcontractorsn |
addition, the Government withheld funds from KBR that KBR &aldmitted for reimbursement of TES invoices, and at that time,
TES agreed that it was not entitled to payment until KBR wés Ipathe Government. Eventually KBR and the Government
settled the dispute, and in turn KBR and TES agreed that TESI wocépt, as payment in full with a release of all other slaim
the amount the Government paid to KBR T&S'’s services. In February 2008, TESdike suit in the Federal Court in Virgirtia
overturn that settlement and ra$e, claiming that KBR misrepresented the facthe trial was completed in June 2009 and in
January 2010, the Federal Court issued an order againstfasomof TES in the amount of $15 million in actual damages and
interest and $4 million in punitive damages relating to the sedtierand release entered into by the parties in May 2005. In
February 2010, we filed a notice of appeal with the Federalttrd@lircuit Court of Appeals irRichmond, Virginia and oral
arguments took place in September 2011.Navember 2011, the Court of Appeals uphtd lower court’'s decision. As of
December 31, 2011, we have recorded un-reimbursable exmerseasliability of $19 million for the full amount of the awarded
damages, which was paid to TES in January 2012.

Electrocution litigation. During 2008, a lawsuit was filed against KBRRittsburgh, Pennsylvania in the Allegheny County
Common Pleas Court alleging that the Company was responsiltaa &ectrical incident which resulted in the death of a soldie
This incident occurred at the Radwaniyah Palace Compleis alteged in the suit that the electrocution incident was camgsed
improper electrical maintenance or othezottical work. KBR denies that its condweas the cause of the event and denigalle
responsibility. The case was removed to Federal Court where nmtilismiss was filed. The court issued a stay in the @sgo
of the case, pending an appeal of certain pre-trial motiodsioiss that were previously mied. In August 2010, the Couwsf
Appeals dismissed our appeal concluding @t dot have jurisdiction. Discovery hagen completed and we have re-filed our
motions to dismiss which are scheduledéheard on March 30, 2012. We are not abldetermine the likely outcome nor can
we estimate a range of potential loss, if any, related tarthtter at this time. As of December 31, 2011, no amounts leare b
accrued.
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Burn Pit litigation. From November 2008 through February 2011, KBR wageskewith over 50 lawsts in various states
alleging exposure to toxic materials resmgtfrom the operation of burn pits in Irag Afghanistan in connection with sereg
provided by KBR under the LogCAP Il contract. Each latvhas multiple named plaintiffs collectively representing
approximately 250 individual plaintiffsThe lawsuits primarily allegaegligence, willful and wanton conduct, battery, intarl
infliction of emotional harm, personal injugnd failure to warn of dangerous amdit exposures which has resulted in altbge
ilinesses for contractors and soldiers living and working inbtees where the pits are operated. All of the pending cases h
been removed to Federal Court, the majority of which have t@esolidated for multi-district litigation treatment before ths.
Federal District Court in Baltimore, Maryld. In March 2010, we filed a motion taike an amended consolidated petitioedil
by the plaintiffs which was granted byetiCourt in September 2010. The Court digdcthe parties to propose a plan for ledit
jurisdictional discovery. In Deember 2010, the Court stayed virtually all progegsi pending a decision from the Fourth @itc
Court of Appeals on three othesises involving the Political Question Doctrine and other jurisdictional issues. Due thettentn
uncertainties of litigation and because litigation is at a preliminary stage, veannot at this time accurately predict thigmate
outcome nor can we reliably estimate a range of possible lossy,ifreated to this matter dhis time. Accordingly, as of
December 31, 2011, no amounts have been accrued.

Sodium Dichromate litigation. From December 2008 through September 2009, dases were filed in various federal
district courts against KBR by national guardsman and athiétary personnel alleging exposure to potentially hazardous
chemicals at the Qarmat Ali Water Treatment Plant in Irag in 2003. The majority of the cases have been re-filed andedonsolidat
into two cases with one pending in Haust Texas and one pending in the DistrictGyegon. Collectively, the suit represents
approximately 170 individual plaintiffs all of which are currand former national guardsmerhavclaim they were exposed to
sodium dichromate while escartj KBR employees who were working at the watteatment plant and that the defendants knew or
should have known that the potentially toxic substance existedegtigently failed to protect the guardsmen from expostife
U.S. Corps of Engineers (“USACE”") was contractually obligategrovide a benign site free of war and environmental hazards
before KBR's commencement of work oretlsite. KBR notified the USACE withitwo days after discovering the sodium
dichromate and took effective meass to remediate the site. KBR servicesvjated to the USACE were under the direction and
control of the military and therefore, KBR believes it has adeqiefenses to these claims. KBR will also assert Politisastn
Doctrine and Government Contractor defensadditionally, U.S. Government and oth&udies on the effects of exposure to the
sodium dichromate contaminatian the water treatment plant have found no long teanm to the soldiers. However, due to the
inherent uncertainties of litigation and because the litigatiam flse preliminary stages, we cannot accurately predictltheate
outcome nor can we reliably estimate a range of possible loasy frelated to this matter. Trials have been scheduled for
September 2012 in Houston, Texas and October 2012 for thenc@segon. As of December 31, 2011, no amounts have been
accrued. During the period of time since the first litigation was filed against us, we have incurred legal defense w@sts that
believe are reimbursable under the related customer contracint&id to bill for these costs, and if necessary, file claiitis
either the U.S. COFC or ASBCA to recover the associated revenues recognized to date.

Convoy Ambush Litigation.In April 2004, a fuel convoy in route from €g Anaconda to Baghdad International Airport
for the U.S. Army under our LogCAP Il coatit was ambushed resulting in deaths anérseinjuries to truck drivers hired by
KBR. In 2005, survivors of the drivers killed and those thakevilgured in the convoy, filed suit in state court in Housfaxas
against KBR and several of idfiliates, claiming KBR deliberaty intended that the drivers the convoy would be attackeahd
wounded or killed. The suit also alleges KBR committed fraud ihiitag practices by failing to disclose the dangers aswatia
with working in the Iraq combat zone. The case was removed3oRéderal District Court in dliston, Texas. After numerous
motions and rulings in the trial court aa@peals to U.S. Fifth Circuit Court ofpfeals, in January 2012, the appellate Court
granted KBR'’s appeal on dispositive motiaarsd dismissed the claims of all remaining plaintiffs on the grounds that theisclai
are banned by the exclusive remedy provisions of the Defense Base Act. Prior to the dismissal of the claims against KBR by the
appellate Court, KBR settled the claims of one of the plaintiflse remaining plaintiffs have sought a rehearing of theislsiin
by the Fifth Circuit. We believe the cost of settling with afi¢he plaintiffs is reimburdde under the related customemntact.

We intend to bill for these costs, and if necessary, file claiitts either the U.S. COFC 0ASBCA to recover the associated
revenues recognized to date.

DOJ False Claims Act complaint.In April 2010, the DOJ filed a complaint the U.S. District Court in the District of
Columbia alleging certain violations of the False Claims Actiedl@o the use of private security firms. The complaint efieg
among other things, that we made fals&@andulent claims for payment under the L@GTII contract because we allegedly knew
that they contained costs of services dotthat included improper use of private s@gu We believe thse sums were proper
billed under our contract with the Army and that the use ighf@ security was not prohibited under the LogCAP Il contréct.
June 2010, we filed motions to dismise ttomplaint and in October 2010, the DOJ filed a motion for partial summary judgment t
which we responded before discovexgcurred. In August 2011, the motions oftbparties were dismisdeand the judge ordered
the case to proceed with discovery witlaltscheduled for late 2012. We contirtoebelieve this complaint is without meritVe
have not adjusted our revenues or aedrany amounts related to this matter.
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Legal Proceedings
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”") investigations

In February 2009, KBR LLC, entered a guifilea to violations of th€CPA in the United States District Court, Southern
District of Texas, Houston Dision (the “Court”), related to the Bonny Islandéstigation. KBR LLC pled guilty to one couoft
conspiring to violate the FCPA and fouounts of violating the FCPA, all arising frothe intent to bribe various Nigerian
government officials through commissions paid to agents wgrkin behalf of TSKJ on the Bonny Island project. The plea
agreement reached with the DOJ resolved all criminal chargbe IDOJ’s investigation and called for the payment of a crimina
penalty of $402 million, of which Halliburton was obligated gay $382 million under the terms of the Master Separation
Agreement (“MSA”), while we were obligated to pay $20 millioim addition, we settled a civil enforcement action by the SEC
which called for Halliburton and KBR, jointland severally, to make payments toigl$177 million, all of which was payableg b
Halliburton pursuant to the indemnification under the MSA. ABetember 31, 2010, all criminal and civil penalties to the DOJ
and SEC were paid. We also agreed to a period of orgamabgimbation, during which we retained a monitor who assessed our
compliance with the plea agreement and evaluated our FCPAlianogprogram over a three year period that ended on February
17, 2012, with periodic reports to the DOJ and SEC during the yleageperiod. Pursuant to tpkea agreementith the DOJ ad
the consent judgment with the SEC, the monitor has eettithat KBR’s current anti-corruption compliance program is
appropriately designed and implented to ensure compliance with the FC& other applicable anti-corruption laws.

In addition to the DOJ and SEC investigations, the U.Kio8g Fraud Office (“SFO”) anducted an investigation of
activities by current antbrmer employees of M.W. Kelloggimited (“MWKL") regarding the Bonny Island project. During the
investigation, MWKL self-reported to the SH corporate liability for corruption-reled offenses arising out of the Bonrsjaind
project and entered into a plea negatiatprocess under the “Attorney General’'s @liites on Plea Discussions in Cases of
Serious and Complex Fraud” issued by the Attorney GerieraEngland and Wales. In February 2011, MWKL reached a
settlement with the SFO in which the SFO accepted that MWKLmabparty to any unlawful conduct and assessed a civil penalty
of approximately $11 million inalding interest and reimbursement of certain £adtthe investigation. The settlement terms
included a full release of all claims against MWKL, its current and former parent companies, subsidiaries and other tieigted par
including their respective current or former officers, directmmsl employees with respect tbe Bonny Island project. At
December 31, 2010, we recorded a liability to the SFO of $llibmincluded in “Other current liabilities” in our consoliddte
balance sheet which was paid during the first quarter of 2de to the indemnity from Halliburton under the MSA, we
recognized a receivable from Halliburton of approximately $6 milliofDine to former parent, net” in our consolidated balance
sheet which was paid by Halliburton in the second quarter of 2011.

In addition, Halliburton settled corruption allegation claims i@edeby the Federal Government of Nigeria in late 2010 agains
Halliburton, KBR, and TSKJ Nigeria Limited. The settlement provided a complete release to KBR and all of its affiliates and
related companies in connection wathy liability for matters related the Bonny Island project in Nigeria.

With the settlement of the DOJ, SEC, SFO and Nigerian inatistits, all known investigations the Bonny Island project
have been concluded. We are not aware of any other comugtegations against us by governmental authorities in foreign
jurisdictions.

Commercial Agent Fees

We have both before and after the sefamafrom our former parent used commiat@agents on some of our large-scale
international projects to assist in understanding customer rleedscontent requirements, vendselection criteria and presses
and in communicating information from us redjag our services and pricing. Priorgeparation, it was identified by our fioer
parent in performing its investigation ahti-corruption activities that certain tfese agents may have engaged in activitiat
were in violation of anti-corruption laws at that time and the terms of their agent agreements with us. Accordingly, esshdve c
the receipt of services from and payment of fees to these agess for these agents are included in the total estimatetbco
these projects at their mpletion. In connection with actions taken by U&vernment authorities, we have removed certain
unpaid agent fees from the total estimated costs in the perioge¢haibtained sufficient evidence to conclude such agerdsycle
violated the terms of their contracts with us. In 2009, wleiged project cost estimates $§1 million as a result of makirguch
determinations. In September 2010, we ekett a final settlement agreement with one of our agents in question after theagent
reviewed and approved under our policies orirtess conduct. Under the terms of thitlement agreementhe agent had, amgn
other things, confirmed their understanding of and compliante KBR’s policies on busines®rduct and represented that they
have complied with anti-corruption laws as they relate tar geovices provided to KBR. We negotiated final payment fortiees
this agent on several projects in our Hydrocarbons segmsaulting in an overall reduction of estimated project costs of
approximately $60 million in 2010. We released the remaiaigent fee accruals in 2011 oretBonny Island project which
resulted in an increase of $4 million to operating income.
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Barracuda-Caratinga Project Arbitration

In June 2000, we entered into a contract with Barra&daaratinga Leasing Compar§.V., the project owner and
claimant, to develop the Barracuda and @aga crude oilfields, which are located off the coast of Brazil. Petrobras is a
contractual representative that controls pinoject owner. In November 2007, wesented a settlement agment with the prept
owner to settle all outstandinggpect issues except for the badtsitration discussed below.

At Petrobras’ direction, we replaced certain bolts locatethe subsea flowlines thailé through mid-November 2005,
and we understand that additionaltbdhiled thereafter, which were replacedmstrobras. These faildwblts were identifiedy
Petrobras when it conducted inspections of the bolts. In Mx©6, Petrobras notified us they submitted this matter taatibit
claiming $220 million plus interest for the cost of monitoring eamlacing the defective stud bolts and, in addition, athefcosts
and expenses of the arbitration including the cost of attetrfegs. The arbitration was conducted in New York under the
guidelines of the United Nations CommissiamInternational Trade Law (“UNCITRAL").

In September 2011, the arbitration panel awarded the claiapproximately $193 million.The damages awarded were
based on the panel's estimateréplace all subsea bolisicluding those that did not manifdsteaks, as well as legal anther
costs incurred by the claimant in the arbitration and interestdn since the date of the award. The panel rejected aimemgy
and the case law relied upon by us, that we were only liablftsr that were discoveredive broken prior to the expiratiof the
warranty period that ended on June 30, 2006. As of Decedib&011, we have recorded a liability of $197 million, including
interest, to Petrobras for the failed bolts which is includeé®ther current liabilities.” The liability incurred by us @onnection
with the arbitration is covered by an indemnity from our fernparent, Halliburton. Accomdgly, we have recorded an
indemnification receivable from Halliburton of $197 million pursuemthe indemnification under the MSA which is included in
“Other current assets” as of December 31, 2011. The aidnitraward payable to Petrobras will be deductible for tax purposes
when paid. The indemnification payment will be treated BjRKor tax purposes as a contriion to capital and accordingly mot
taxable. Consequently, the arbitration ruling resulted taxxebenefit during 2011 of $69 million. Halliburton has direatedo
challenge the arbitration awardlasing defective or outside the jurisdictiontioé arbitration panel. This challenge wasdiin the
United States District Court for the Southdistrict of New York on December 16, 201We will continue to be responsiblerfo
all ongoing legal costs associated with this matter. If thdestg® to the arbitration award is successful and the awasbleato
Petrobras is either reduced or reversed fature period, we would reverse the tetbtax benefit previously recognized asharge
to income as tax expense in that period. As of Decemb&031, we do not believe there are any legal limitations on olityabi
to recover the full amount of the cash &diion award and we intend to assert dghts under the indemnity agreement with
Halliburton.

PEMEX Arbitration.

In 1997 and 1998 we entered into three catsravith PEMEX, the project owner, build offshore platfams, pipelines and
related structures in the Bay of Campedaffshore Mexico. The three contractsrev&nown as Engineering, Procurement and
Construction (“EPC”) 1, EPC 22 and EPC 28.three projects encountered significachedule delays and increased costs due t
problems with design work, late delivery and defects in equipnm@reases in scope and atlohanges. PEMXK took possession
of the offshore facilities of EPC 1 in March 2004 after havirgiea@d oil production but prior to our completion of our scope
work pursuant to the contract.

We filed for arbitration with the Inteational Chamber of Commerce (“ICC”) 2004 claiming recovery of damages of
$323 million for the EPC 1 project. PEMEX subsequently filednterclaims totaling $157 million. In December 2009, the ICC
ruled in our favor, and we were awarded a total of apprdei;n&351 million including legal and administrative recovery f&gs
well as interest. PEMEX was awarded apprately $6 million on counterclaims, plusténest on a portion of that sum. In
connection with this award, we recognizedain of $117 million net of tax in 200Bhe arbitration award is legally bindingcon
November 2, 2010, we received a judgment in our favor in the Dis¥ict Court for the Southern District of New York to
recognize the award in the U.S. of approximately $356 million Mesican value added tax and interest thereon until paid.
PEMEX initiated an appeal to the U.S. Coaf Appeals for the Second Circuit and asked for a stay of the enforcement of the
judgment while on appeal. The stay was tgenbut PEMEX was required to post catal of $395 million with the court regrgt
Appellate briefs have been filed by bgthrties and oral arguments were heardheySecond Circuit Court on February 2, 2012.
On February 16, 2012, the Second Circuit issued an order rergahdi case to the District Court to consider if the decisidheo
Collegiate Court in Mexico, described belowould have affected the trial court’s mgj. We believe the possibility of theal
court reversing its own ruling to be remote as U.S. couxts Aatrong record of recognizing and enforcing internationatatibn
awards. However, an unfavorable ruling by the trial court coal@ a material advge impact to our seilts of operations.

PEMEX attempted to nullify the award in Mexico which wagcggd by the Mexican trial court in June 2010. PEMEX then
filed an “amparo” action on the basis that its constitutional righats been violated which was denied by the Mexican court in
October 2010. PEMEX subsequendppealed the adverse decision with the CategCourt in Mexico on the grounds that the
arbitration tribunal did not have jurisdiction and that the dwaolated the public order dflexico. Although these argument
were presented in the initial nullificatiaand amparo actions and were rejectethoth cases, in September 2011, the Coltegia
Court in Mexico ruled in favor of PEMEX on the amparo actidrhe Collegiate Court ruled that PEMEX, by administratively
rescinding the contract in 2004, deprivec thrbitration panel of jurisdiction thesemullifying the arbitration award. The
Collegiate Court decision is contrary to the ruling received fileenlCC as well as all other Miean courts which have denied
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PEMEX's repeated attempts to nullify the arbitration award. a¥e believe the Collegiate Court decision is contrary to Mexic
law governing contract arbitrationHowever, we do not expect the Collegiateu@ decision to affect the outcome of the U.S.
appeal discussed above or our ability to ultimately collect @ arbitration award in the U.S. due to the significant assets
PEMEX in the U.S. as well as the collateral posted by PEMEX thvétcourt registry The circumstances of this matter are @niqu
and in the unlikely event we are not able to collect the atlaitr award in the U.S., we wilursue other remedies includifiing a
North American Free Trade Agreement (“NAFTA”") arbitration @saver the award as an unlawful expropriation of assets by the
government of Mexico.

We were successful in litigating and collecting on valid irdgomal arbitration awards against PEMEX on the EPC 22 and
EPC 28 projects during 2008. Additionally, PEMEXs sufficient assets in the U.S. whichlvedieve we will beable to attachsa
result of the recognition of the ICC arbitration award in th®. Withough it is possible we calfesolve and collect the amts
due from PEMEX in the next 12 months, wdidee the timing of the collection of the avd is uncertain and therefore, we have
continued to classify the amount due from PEMEX as a long teomivable included in “Noncurrent unbilled receivable on
uncompleted contracts” as of December &111. No adjustments have been made to our receivable balance since recognition of
the initial award in 2009. Depending on the timing and amoitithately settled with PEMEX, including interest, we could
recognize an additional gaimpon collection of the award.

In connection with the EPC 1 project, we have approtdipe80 million in outstanding performance bonds furnished to
PEMEX when the project was awarded.eTionds were written by a Mexican bondngany and backed by a U.S. insurance
company which is indemnified by KBR. As a result of th€ I&rbitration award in Decemb2009, the panel determined that
KBR had performed on the project and recovery on the bond®EMEX was precluded. PEMEXdd an action in Mexico in
June 2010 against the Mexican bond company to collect the bossh@ugh the arbitration awarded that the bonds were e
returned to KBR. In May 2011, the Mexican trial court duREMEX could collect the bonds even though PEMEX at the time was
unsuccessful in its attempts to nullify the arbitration awdrde decision was immediately appealed by the bonding company an
PEMEX was not able to call thends while on appeal. In OctaliZ011, we were officially notified that the appellate coulkedu
in favor of PEMEX, therefore allowing PEMEX to call the bondis December 2011, we and the Mexican bond company stayed
payment of the bonds by filing direct amparos in the Mexicamts, and we filed a bond to cover interest accruing during the
pendency of our amparo action. In the évewmr amparo is unsuccessful and the UWnSurance company makes payment to the
Mexican bonding company, we may be required to indemnify ti$ idsurance company. In this event, we will pursue other
remedies including seeking relief in theSJ.District Court for the Southern Distriof New York or the filing of a NAFTA
arbitration to recover the bondsas unlawful expropriation of agseby the government of Mexico.

FAO Litigation

In April 2001, our subsidiary, MWKL, entered into lump-saontracts with Fina AntwerPlefins (FAO), a joint venture
between ExxonMobil and Total, to perform EB&vices for FAO’s revammad expansion of an existing olefins plant in Belgium.
The contracts had an initial value of apgmately €113 million. Upon execution of thentracts, MWKL wagonfronted with a
multitude of changes and issues on the project resulting infisagrti cost overruns and schedule delays. The project was
completed in October 2003. In 2005, after unsuccessful attempisgage FAO in negotiations settle MWKL's outstanding
claims, MWKL filed suit against FAO in the Commercial CourtAgftwerp, Belgium, seeking to recover amounts for rejected
change requests, disruption, schedule dedmysother items. MWKL sought the appoient of a court expert to determine the
technical aspects of the disputes betwi#enparties upon which the judge could rédy allocating liablity and determininghe
final amount of MWKL's claim against FAOFAO filed a counterclaim in 2006 claiming recovery of additional costs for various
matters including, among others, projectnagement, temporary offices, security, fineng costs, deficient work items and
disruption of activities some of which weligee is either barred by the language in the contract or has not been adequately
supported. Although the court expert hssuied several preliminary reports whicipgort our claim receivable, a final repbes
yet to be issued that addresses the full value of KBR’s claifes currently expect the court expert to release a final re@pdtine
2012. We do not believe we face a rislsighificant loss associated with the vabighe claim receivable recorded on oatdnce
sheets or FAO’s counterclaims. As of December 31, 2011, no amounts have been accrued related to the counterclaim.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Discussion about Market Risk
Information relating to market risk is included in “ltemManagement’s Dis@sion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations” under the caption “Financial Insttrivarket Risk” and Note 14f our consolidated financial
statements and the information discussed therein is incorporated by reference into this Item 7A.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Page No.
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The related financial statemenhsdules are included undeart IV, Item 15 othis annual report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
KBR, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sh&®®, Inc. and subsidiariess of December 31, 2011 and 2010,
and the related consolidated statements of income, sharehadaity, comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2011. Ttweselidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinitrese consolidated financ&htements based on our asdit

We conducted our audits in accordance white standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan padorm the audit to obtain reasonable asseabout whether the financial statersent

are free of material misstatement. An iricludes examining, on a test bagsidence supporting the amounts and disclasire

the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the ovdirsdincial statement presetitm. We believe that ouaudits provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financiahtements referred to above present fairlyall material respects, the financgsition
of KBR, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and aadahe results of their operations and their cash flows &r efa
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2@&bhformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 15 to the consolidated falastatements, the Company changed its method of accounting for
variable interest entities on a presgive basis as of January 1, 2010.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards Bfitiie Company Accounting OversigBbard (United States), KBR,
Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as Bécember 31, 2011, based on criteria establishelditérnal Control -
Integrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (COSQ), and our report
dated February 22, 2012 expressed an undg@ldpinion on the effectiveness of then@mny’s internal antrol over financial
reporting.

/sl KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 22, 2012

62



KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(In millions, except for per share data)

Years ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Revenue:
Services $ 9,103 $ 9,962 $ 12,060
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net 158 137 45
Total revenue 9,261 10,099 12,105
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of services 8,463 9,273 11,348
General and administrative 214 212 217
Impairment of long-lived assets — 5 —
Impairment of goodwill — — 6
Gain on disposition of assets, net 3) — (2)
Total operating costs and expenses 8,674 9,490 11,569
Operating income 587 609 536
Interest expense, net (18) a7) 1)
Foreign currency gains (losses), net 3 (4) —
Other non-operating expense — (2) 3)
Income before income taxes and noncontrolling interests 572 586 532
Provision for income taxes (32) (191) (168)
Net income 540 395 364
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (60) (68) (74)
Net income attributable to KBR $ 480 $ 327 $ 290
Net income attributable to KBR per share:
Basic $ 3.18 $ 208 $ 1.80
Diluted $ 3.16 $ 207 $ 1.79
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 150 156 160
Diluted weighted averagecommon shares outstanding 151 157 161
Cash dividends declared per share $ 020 $ 0.15 $ 0.20

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions except share data)

December 31,

2011 2010
Assets

Current assets:
Cash and equivalents $ %66 $ 786
Receivables:

Accounts receivable, net ol@vance for bad debts of $24 and $27 1,227 1,455

Unbilled receivables on uncompleted contracts 435 428
Total receivables 1,662 1,883
Deferred income taxes 297 199
Other current assets 517 394
Total current assets 3,442 3,262
Property, plant, and equipmengt of accumulated depreciation of $364 and $334 (including $75

and $80, net, owned by a varialohéerest entity — see Note 15) 384 355
Goodwill 951 947
Intangible assets, net 113 127
Equity in and advances to related companies 190 219
Noncurrent deferred income taxes 128 103
Noncurrent unbilled receivables on unqaeted contracts 313 320
Other assets 152 84
Total assets $ 5673 $ 5,417

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 761 % 921
Due to former parent, net 53 43
Obligation to former noncontrolling interest (Note 3) 1 172
Advance billings oruncompleted contracts 626 498
Reserve for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts 22 26
Employee compensation and benefits 226 200
Current non-recourse project-finance debt vadable interest entity (Note 15) 10 9
Other current liabilities 585 470
Total current liabilities 2,284 2,339
Noncurrent employee compensation and benefits 470 397
Noncurrent non-recourse project-finance debt edrdable interest entitfNote 15) 88 92
Noncurrent obligation to former noncontiog interest (Note 3) 8 8
Other noncurrent liabilities 169 132
Noncurrent income tax payable 141 128
Noncurrent deferred tax liability 71 117
Total liabilities 3,231 3,213
KBR Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par val®@,000,000 shares authorized, 0 shares issued and outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.001 par valig0,000,000 shares authorized, 172,367,045 and 171,448,067

shares issued, and 148,143,420 and 151,132,049 shares outstanding — —
Paid-in capital in excess of par 2,005 1,981
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (548) (438)
Retained earnings 1,607 1,157
Treasury stock, 24,223,625 shares and 20,3860ares, at cost (569) (454)
Total KBR shareholders’ equity 2,495 2,246
Noncontrolling interests (53) (42)
Total shareholders’ equity 2,442 2,204
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 5673 $ 5,417

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In millions)
Years ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Net income 540 395 364
Other comprehensive income (loss), net aflfanefit (provision):
Net cumulative translation adjustments (19) 5 18
Pension liability adjustments, net of taxes82), $4 and $(5) (89) 24 (15)
Other comprehensive gains (losses) on derivatives:
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives 4) 2 3)
Reclassification adjustments to net income 2 1) 1
Income tax benefit (provision) on derivatives (1) (1) —
Comprehensive income 429 424 365
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (59) (72) (80)
Comprehensive incomeattributable to KBR 370 352 285

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

(In millions)
December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Balance at January 1, $ 2,204 $ 2,296 $ 2,034
Stock-based compensation 19 17 17
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options 7 5 2
Post-closing adjustment related to acquisition of former NCI partner (5) — —
Tax benefit increase (decrease) related to stock-based plans 3 — (7)
Dividends declared to sharehaige (30) (23) (32)
Adjustments pursuant to tax sharing agreement with former parent — (8) —
Repurchases of common stock (118) (233) (31)
Issuance of ESPP shares 3 3 2
Distributions to noncontrolling intests (63) (108) (66)
Investments from noncontling interests — 17 12
Acquisition of noncontrolling interests — (181) —
Consolidation of Fasttrax Limited — 4) —
Other noncontrolling interests activity ) (2) —
Comprehensive income 429 424 365
Balance at December 31, $ 2,442 $ 2,204 $ 2,296

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions)

Years ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $

Adjustments to reconcile net incomentet cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:

540 $ 395 % 364

Depreciation and amortization

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Deferred income taxes

Impairment of long-lived assets

71 62

(158) (137)
(173) 14
— 5

55
(45)
65

Impairment of goodwill — — 6
Other 14 30 1
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables 252 (182) 107
Unbilled receivables on uncompleted contracts (26) 223 156
Accounts payable (110) a77) (355)
Advance billings on urampleted contracts 68 116 (98)
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 31 9 (229)
Reserve for loss on uncompleted contracts 4) (13) (37)
Collection (repayment) of advances from (to) unctidated affiliates, net 14 (16) (18)
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated affiliates 182 93 54
Other assets (28) 33 (247)
Other liabilities (23) 94 72
Total cash flows provided by (ised in) operating activities 650 549 (36)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired — (299) —
Capital expenditures (83) (66) (41)
Investment in equity method joint ventures (11) (12) —
Investment in licensing arrangement — (20) —
Proceeds from sale of investments 6 — 32
Total cash flows used ininvesting activities (88) (397) (9)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest (178) — —
Payments to reacquire common stock (118) (233) (32)
Distributions to noncontrolling intests, net (63) (91) (54)
Payments of dividends to shareholders (30) (32) (32)
Net proceeds from issuance of stock 7 5 2
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 3 — @)
Payments on short-term and long-term borrowings (15) (13) —
Return (funding) of cash collateral on letters of credit, net 17 28 (44)
Total cash flows used in financing activities (377) (336) (166)

4

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (5) 7 7
Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents 180 a77) (204)
Cash increase due to consolidation of a variable interest entity — 22
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period 786 941
Cash and equivalents at end of period $ 966 $
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest $

Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds) $
Noncash operating activities

Other assets (Note 10) $

Other liabilities (Note 10) $
Noncash investing activities

Purchase of computer software $ — 3
Noncash financing activities

Obligation to former noncontrolling interest (Note 3) $ — $

1,145
786 $ 941

22 % 16 $ 7
201 $ 64 $ 166

185 $
(185) $

130 $ 417
(130) $ (417)

(19) $ —
180 $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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KBR, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1. Description of Companyand Significant Accounting Policies

KBR, Inc., a Delaware corporation, wasrfeed on March 21, 2006. KBR, Inc. andstsbsidiaries (collectively, “KBR”) is
a global engineering, construmi and services company supporting the energyrdaarbons, governmentrs&es, minerals, civ
infrastructure, power, indtsal and commercial markets. Headgesed in Houston, Texas, wadfer a wide range of services
through our Hydrocarbons, Infrastructure, Government and PoweP'(fjiGervices and Other busssesegments. See Note 5 for
additional financial information about our business segments.

Principles of consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include the finapasition, results obperations and cash flows of KBR and our
majority-owned, controlled subsidiaries and variable integatities where we are the primary beneficiary (see Note 15). The
equity method is used to account for investments in affiliat@ghich we have the ability to exert significant influence owber
affiliates’ operating and finandigolicies. The cost method is used whendeenot have the ability to exert significant irdhce.

All intercompany accounts and transactians eliminated ironsolidation.

Use of estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States,
requiring us to make estimates and asswnptthat affect the reported amounts sgeds and liabilities and related disclesuat
the balance sheet dates, and the repanmealints of revenues and expenses duringeiperted periods. Actual results couléfet
from those estimates.

Certain prior year amounts have been m&sified to conform to current year presentation on the consolidated balance sheets
and the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Engineering and construction contracts

Revenue from contracts to providenstruction, engineering, design or simié&rvices is reported on the percentage-of-
completion method of accounting. Progress is generally meabassdl upon physical progress, man-hours, or costs incurred,
depending on the type of job. Physical progress is determireed@sbination of input and outpmeasures as deemed apprdpria
by the circumstances. All known anticipated losses on contracts are provided foineénperiod they become evident. Claimsl a
change orders that are in the procedsefig negotiated with customers for extra work or changes in the scope of workuatednc
in contract value when collection is deemed probable. Our cométen require us to pay liglsited damages should we notene
certain performance requirements, including completion of the project in accordance with a scheduled time. We includéean estima
of liquidated damages in contramists when it is deemed probable that they will be paid.

Our revenue includes both equity in thenéags of unconsolidated affiliates anelvenue from sales of services to joint
ventures. We often participate on larger projects as a joinuneepiartner and also provide services to the joint ventuie as
subcontractor. The amount included in our revenue representg agtie earnings from joint veures, impairments of equity
investments in joint ventures, if any, angerue from services provided to joint ventures.

Accounting for government contracts

Most of the services provided to the United States goverhare governed by cost-rdimrsable contracts. Generally,
these contracts may contain base feesx@lfprofit percentage applied to our actoasts to complete the work), fixed femsd
award fees (a variable profit percentaggplied to definitized costs, which is set to our customer’discretion and tiedot the
specific performance measures defined in the contract, suadlerence to schedule, healihd safety, quality of work,
responsiveness, cost perforroarand business management).

Revenue is recorded at the time services are performed, and such revenues include base fees, actual direct project costs
incurred and an allocation of indirect costs. Indirect costsapplied using rates approved dyr government customers. The
general, administrative, and overhead cost reimbursement rates are estimated periodically in accordance with governtent contrac
accounting regulations and may change basedctual costs incurred or based upon the volume of work performed. Revenue is
reduced for our estimate of costs that either are in disputeowitbustomer or have been identified as potentially unallezdy
the terms of the contract oretlfiederal acquisition regulations.

We generally recognize award fees on ltogCAP Il contract using aestimated accrual of tremounts to be awarded.
Once task orders underlying the work are definitized and awardfeeganted, we adjust outiesate of award fees to thetaal
amounts earned. However, as furtdescussed in Note 9, we are currently undblesliably estimate award fees as a resutiwof
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customer’s unilateral decision to grant no award fees foriegugxformance periods. In accordance with the provisionseof th
LogCAP llI contract, we earn profits on osgrvices rendered based on a combinatianfofed fee plus award fees granteddoy
customer. Both fees areeasured as a percentage rate iadplo estimated and negotiated sosfThe LogCAP III customer is
contractually obligated to periadlly convene Award-Fee Boards, which are cdsgul of individuals who have been designated

to assist the Award Fee Determining Official (“AFDQ”) in making award fee determinations. Award fees are based on evaluations
of our performance using criteria set fonhthe contract, which include non-bindingonthly evaluations nt& by our customer

in the field of operations. Although these criteria have hisitlyicbeen used by the Award-Fee Boards in reaching their
recommendations, the amounts of award fees arentiated at the sole discretion of the AFDO.

For contracts containing multiple deliverables entered into gulese to June 30, 2003, we gz each activity within the
contract to ensure that we adhere te $separation guidelines for revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables in aceordanc
with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 605 - Revenue Recognition. For
service-only contracts and service elements of multiple delileebangements, award fees are recognized only when defihitiz
and awarded by the customer. Award fees on governmentgtiitsircontracts are recognized during the term of the contract
based on our estimate of the amount of fees to be awarded.

Accounting for pre-contract costs

Pre-contract costs incurred in anticipation of a specific contract award are deferred only if the costs can be directly
associated with a specific anticipated contract and their recoverability from that contract is probable. Pre-contraetemsts rel
unsuccessful bids are written off no later than the period we are informed that we are not awarded the specific contract. Costs
related to one-time activities such as introducing a new pramuseérvice, conducting business in a new territory, conducting
business with a new class of customer, or comimgnew operations are expensed when incurred.

Legal expenses
We expense legal costs in the period in which such costs are incurred.
Cash and equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with an original matusityhree months or less to bash equivalents. Cash and
equivalents include cash related to contact progress as well as cash held by mmimt ventures that we consolidate for
accounting purposes. Joint venture cash balances are limijeittwenture activities and are not available for other pteje
general cash needs, or distribution tauithout approval of the board of directafthe respective joint ventures. Caskdhzy our
joint ventures that we consolidate for accounting purpdsesed approximately $244 nidh at December 31, 2011 and
$145 million at December 31, 2010. We expect tothseash on these projects to pay project costs.

Restricted cash primarily contsof amounts held in deposit with certain batiksollateralize standbletters of credit as
well as amounts held in deposit with certhanks to establish foreign operationsr ©urrent restricted cash is included'@®ther
current assets” and our non-current restriatadh is included in “Other assets” on @ansolidated financial statements. Our
restricted cash balances are presented in the table below:

December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010

Current restricted cash $ 3 $ 11
Non-current restricted cash 2 10
Total restricted cash $ 5 $ 21

Allowance for bad debts

We establish an allowance for bad dethtough a review of several factors imgding historical collection experience,
current aging status of the customeraagts, financial condition of our customessd whether the receivables involve reiamt.

Goodwill and other intangibles

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair markee vd net assets acquired in business combinations and, in
accordance with FASB ASC 350 Intangibles — Goodwill and Othemreaequired to test goodwill for impairment on an annual
basis, and more frequently when negatigaditions or other triggering events arise. We test goodwill for impairment anasally
of October 1. Our operations are grouped into four segmentsocarbons; Infrastructure, Ganenent & Power; Services; and
Other. Within those segments we operEebusiness units which are also our opegasiegments as defined by FASB ASC 280 —
Segment Reporting and our reporting units as defined by FASB 350. In accordance witfRASB ASC 350, we conduct our
goodwill impairment testing at the reporting unit level which @iasof our 10 business units. The reporting units include Ga
Monetization, Oil & Gas, Downstream, Tewlogy, North American Government & Loties, InternationaGovernment, Defense
and Support Services, Power & Industriafrastructure & Minerals, Services, and Viemts business units, a&ll as the Allsates
staffing business.
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Our annual impairment test for goodwill &ctober 1, 2011 was a quantitative ges using a two-step process that
involves comparing the estimated fair value of each busumgsgo its carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair valoka
business unit exceeds its carrying amount, the goodwill of the lssgimét is not considered impaired; therefore, the sestepdof
the impairment test is unnecessary. If the carrying amounbuos$iaess unit exceeds its failwa, we perform the second gtef
the goodwill impairment tesb measure the amount of goodwill impagnt loss to be recorded, as necessary.

Consistent with prior years, the fair values of business im911 were determined using a combination of two methods,
one based on market earnings multiples of peer companies idefifieach business unit (the market approach), and the other
based on discounted cash flow models witimated cash flows based on internaldasts of revenues and expenses over a four
year period plus a terminal valyperiod (the income approach).

The market approach estimates fair value by applying earaing revenue market multiplesa business unit's operating
performance for the trailing twelve-month period. The markdtiphes are derived from comparable publicly traded companies
with operating and investment characteristics similar to those of each of our reporting units. The income approach astimates f
value by discounting each business unit@nested future cash flows using a weighte@ge cost of capital that reflectsrent
market conditions and the risk profile of each business urlite fair value derived from theeighting of these two methods
provided appropriate valuatiorthat, in aggregate,easonably reconciled to our markedpitalization, taking into account
observable control premiums.

In addition to the earnings multiples and the discount rasetodied above, certain other judgmts and estimas are used
to prepare the goodwill impairment test. If market conditionsghaompared to those used in our market approach, or & actu
future results of operations fall below the projections usetthénincome approach, our goodwill could become impaired in the
future.

We believe these two approaches gpprapriate valuation techniques and wagally weight the two resulting values
equally as an estimate of business unit ¥alue for the purposes of our impairmerdtiteg. However, we may weigh one value
more heavily than the other wh conditions merit doing so.

At October 1, 2011, our market capitalization exceeded thgirguvalue of our consolidated net assets by $1.6 billion and
the fair value of all our individual reptimg units significantly exceeded theilspective carrying amounts as of that ddt#ewever,
the fair value for the P&I, 1&M, Services and Allstates repagrtimits exceeded their carryinglwaes based on projected growt
rates and other market inputs to our impairment test modelarthatore sensitive to the rieskfuture variances due to coetjiive
market conditions as well as business unit execution risks.

We review our projected growth rateshet market inputs used in our impairmésgt models, changes in our business and
other factors that could represent indicatofsmpairment. In 2012, we intend teport the Infrastructure and Minerals besia
units separately and have concluded &zath will be considered a separate répgrunit for goodwill impairment testing purpes.
Subsequent to our October 1, 2011 annughinment test, we reviewed the new Infrasture and Minerals reporting units ama n
indication of impairment was identified.

Impairment of long-lived assets

When events or changes in circumstances indicate thatil@wgassets other than goodwill may be impaired, an evaluation
is performed. For an asset classified all lier use, the estimatedtfue undiscounted cash flovesociated with the assetear
compared to the asset’s carrying amount to determine if a writa-tlofair value is required. When an asset is classifidtblab
for sale, the asset’'s book value is evaluaed adjusted to the lower of its cangi amount or fair value less cost to sell.
Depreciation or amortization is ceased when an asset is classified as held for sale.

We evaluate equity method irstenents for impairment when events or changecircumstances inclte, in management’s
judgment, that the carrying value of such investment may kaperienced an other-than-teanary decline in value. When
evidence of loss in value has occurred, management compasssithated fair value of the investment to the carrying valukeof
investment to determine whether an impainingas occurred. Managemersisesses the fair value of éguity method investment
using commonly accepted techniques, and may use moreottamethod, including, but not limited to, recent third party
comparable sales, internally developestdunted cash flow analysis and analysimfautside advisors. If the estimated featue
is less than the carrying value and manageroensiders the decline in value to be other than temporary, the excess ofyting car
value over the estimated fair value is recognized in the financial statements as an impairment.

Pensions

Our pension benefit obligations and expenses are calculsiegl actuarial models and methods, in accordance with FASB
ASC 715 — Compensation—Retirement Benefits. Two of the motieal assumptions and esties used irthe actuarial
calculations are the discount rate for determining the current wdlbenefit obligations and the expected rate of returplam
assets. Other assumptions and estimatesinsgetermining benefit obligations apthn expenses, including demographic fastor
such as retirement age, mortality, and turnover, are alsoatedl periodically and updated accordingly to reflect our actual
experience.
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Unrecognized actuarial gains alodses are generally being recognized overiag®ef 10 to 15 years, which represents the
expected remaining service life of the employee group. Owcognized actuarial gains and lossegise from several factors,
including experience and assumptions changes in the obligatiohthe difference between expeatreturns and actual returos
plan assets. The difference between actual and expectedsrétudeferred as an unrecognizactuarial gain or loss and is
recognized as future pension expense.

The actuarial assumptions used in detemmg our pension benefits may diffenaterially from actual results due to
changing market and economic conditions, higher or lower wittadreates, and longer or shorter life spans of participantdeWh
we believe that the assumptions used are appropriate, differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions may materially
affect our financial position or results of operations. Oura@lestimates of pension bdiheexpense and expected pemsio
returns of plan assets are discussed furthBiote 17 in the accompanying financial statements.

Income taxes

Deferred tax assets and liab#isi are recognized for the expected future dansequences of events that have been
recognized in the financial statents or tax returns. A current tax asset duiliy is recognized for the estimated taxefundable
or payable on tax returns for the current year. A deferredsset ar liability is recognizefbr the estimated future taxfects
attributable to temporary differences between the financial tiegdrasis and the income taxsimof assets and liabilitiesThe
measurement of current and deferred taxtassed liabilities is based on provisionsthé enacted tax law, and the effects o
potential future changes in tax laws or rates are not considered.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we comgi@dner it is more likely thanot that some portion or aif
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimateatialh of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the genaftigare
taxable income during the periods in which those temporary iffeis become deductible. A valion allowance is provided for
deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that thesesitwill not be realized. We consider the scheduled reversaferfred
tax liabilities, projected future taxablecome and tax planning strategies in makimg assessment. Additionally, we usestasts
of certain tax elements such as taxable income and foreign tax credit utilization and the evaluation of tax planningistrategies
making this assessment of realization.vesi the inherent uncertaintgvolved with the use of suchssumptions, there can be
significant variation between anticipated and actual results.

We have operations in numeraz@untries other than the United States. Conggttyyeve are subject to the jurisdiction of a
significant number of taxing authorities. The income earneithdse various jurisdictions texed on differing bases, inclundj
income actually earned, income deemed earned, and revenuetdasdgthholding. The final determination of our tax liabilities
involves the interpretation of local tax lawsx treaties, and relatezlithorities in each jurisdiction. Changes in the dpega
environment, including changes in tax landacurrency/repatriation controls, could iagp the determination of our tax liatigis
for a tax year.

Income tax positions must meet a mbkely-than-not recognition threshold to becognized. Income tax positions that
previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshaniel recognized in the first sulggeent financial reporting perioith
which that threshold is met. Previouslgcognized tax positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are
derecognized in the first subsequent fiicial reporting period in which that thtesdd is no longer met. The company recogsize
potential interest and penalties related to urgaized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Tax filings of our subsidiaries, unconsdaltdd affiliates, and related entities avatinely examined in the normal course of
business by tax authorities. These examinations may result ssaes@s of additional taxes, which we work to resolve with th
tax authorities and through the judicial pess. Predicting the outcome of disputésdessments involvesnse uncertainty. Faors
such as the availability of settlemgmbcedures, willingness of tax authoritiesniegotiate, and the operation and impatgiadf
judicial systems vary across the different tax jurisdictioms may significantly influence the ultimate outcome. We revieav th
facts for each assessment, and then utilize assumptions amdtestio determine the most likeutcome and provide taxes,
interest, and penalties as needed based on this outcome.

Derivative instruments

At times, we enter into derivative finaial transactions to hedge existing mojected exposures to changing foreign
currency exchange rates. We do not enter into derivativeaitéons for speculative oratting purposes. Weecognize all
derivatives on the balance sheet at falugaDerivatives that are not accountedds hedges under FASB ASC 815 — Derivegiv
and Hedging, are adjusted to fair value and such change®fieeted through the results of operations. If the derivative is
designated as a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge sdhathgefair value of derivatives are either offset agahmest
change in fair value of the hedged asskasilities or firm commitnents through earnings or recognized in other comprerensiv
income until the hedged iteim recognized in earnings.

The ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in fair eals recognized in earnings. Recognized gains or losses on
derivatives entered into to manage foreign exchange riskinelteded in foreign currency gains and losses in the consolidated
statements of income.
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Concentration of credit risk

We have revenues and receivables from transactions withidodl external customers that amount to 10% or more of our
revenues. A significant portion of our renes from services is generated from temt®ns with the Unéd States government,
which was derived almost entirely from ourRGegment. Additionally, a considerablegemtage of revenue from services is
generated from transactions with the Cloev€orporation (“Chevron”), which was deed almost entirely from our Hydrocarbons
segment. No other customers represented dOfbore of consolidated revenues in any
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As required by ASC 810-10, we perforngaalitative assessment to determine whetveare the primary beneficiary once
an entity is identified as a VIE. Thereafter, we continueetevaluate whether we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE in
accordance with ASC 810-10. A qualitative assessment beginamithderstanding of the nature of the risks in the entityedls
as the nature of the entity’s activities including terms of tirgracts entered into by the entity, ownership interestsddsyehe
entity and how they were marketed, andpheies involved in the design of the entityle then identify all of the variabieterests
held by parties involved with the VIE including, among other thimggity investments, subordiedtdebt financing, lettersf o
credit, and financial and performance guarantees, and significant, contracted service providers. Once we identify the variable
interests, we determine those activities which are most significant to the economic performance of the entity and wtech variabl
interest holder has the power to direct those activitigsugh infrequent, some of our assessta reveal no primary bendéicy
because the power to direct the most significant activitiesirtigct the economic performance is held equally by two or more
variable interest holders who are requitegrovide their consent prior to the exgon of their decisions. Most of the VdBwith
which we are involved have relatively few variable interestsamadprimarily related to ourgeity investmentsignificant sevice
contracts, and other suldimated financial support.

Stock-based compensation

We apply the fair value recognition provisions of FASBGA%18-10 for share-based payments to account for and report
equity-based compensation. FASB ASC A08requires equity-based compensation agpeo be measured based on the grant-
date fair value of the award. For performance-based awampeosation expense is measureselaon the grant-date fair valu
of the award and the fair value of theward is remeasured subsequently at eaglorting date through the settlement date.
Changes in fair value during the requisiggvice period or the vesting period ezeognized as compensation cost on a $itdiige
basis over that period. See Note 13 for detailed irdtiom on stock-based compensation and incentive plans.

Additional Balance Sheet Information
Included in “Other current assets” on our consolidatednbalaheets are “Advances to subcontractors” and included in
“Other current liabilities” on our consolidated balance sheets“Retainage payables to subcontractors.” Our “Advances to
subcontractors” and “Retainage payablesubcontractors” for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 is presented below:

December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010
Advances to subcontractors $ 167 $ 181
Retainage payables to subcontractors $ 202 $ 226

Note 2. Income per Share

Basic income per share is based upon the weighted avertagber of common shares outstanding during the period.
Dilutive income per share includes additional common sharesvthdt have been outstanding if potential common shares with a
dilutive effect had been issued, using treasury stock method. A reconciliation oéthumber of shares used for the basid a
diluted income per share calculations is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

Millions of Shares 2011 2010 2009
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 150 156 160
Stock options and restricted shares 1 1 1

Diluted weighted average commshares outstanding 151 157 161

For purposes of applying the two-class method in computinginggr per share, net earningkocated to participating
securities was approximately $2 million, or $0.02 per sharethifiscal year 2011 and approximately $2 million, or $0.01 pe
share, for fiscal years 2010 and 2009. The diluted earnirrgshpee calculation did not include 0.5 million, 1.1 milliondan
2.0 million antidilutive weighted average shares for theryended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.
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Note 3. Business Combinations and Other Transactions
Business Combinations

ENI Holdings, Inc.(the “Robets & Schaefer Company”).On December 21, 2010, we completed the acquisition of 100%
of the outstanding common shares of ENI htadd, Inc. (“ENI”). ENI is the parent to the Roberts & Schaefer Company (“R&S”),
a privately held, EPC services company for material handling and processing systems. Headquartered in Chicago, lllinois, R&S
provides services and associaf@cessing infrastructure to customers ia thining and minerals, p@s, industrial, refining
aggregates, precious andsbanetals industries.

The purchase price was $280 million plus estimated workagtal of $17 million which included cash acquired of
$8 million. The total net cash paid at closing of $289 milliosulsject to an escrowed holdback. As of December 31, 2041, t
remaining escrowed holdback was $27 million and primarily relegesecurity for indemnification obligations. R&S and its
acquired divisions have been integrated into the IGP segment.

The acquisition generated goodwill of approximately $250 million rafnghich is expected to be deductible for income
tax purposes. Goodwill was recognized prinyaais a result of acquiring an assembled workforce, expertise and capabilities in
material handling and processiggstems market, cost saving opportunities amerosynergies. During 2011, we recorded an
increase to goodwill of approximately $4 million primarily ass@zawith additional purchase catsration payable to the i
based upon our estimates of post-closingking capital adjustments and final vation of acquired intangible assets.

Of the total purchase price, $56 million has been allocatedigtomer relationships, trade names and other intangibles.
Customer relationships represemisting contracts and the ungénlg customer relationships abdcklog and will be amortizesh
a straight-line basis over the period in whibe economic benefits are expected todadized. Tradename intangibles in@uitie
Roberts & Schaefer's and Soros brandsaiicoe amortized on a straight-lined besiver an estimated useful life of 8-10 ygea

Energo. On April 5, 2010, we acquired 100% of the outstagccommon stock of Houston-based Energo Engineering
(“Energo”) for approximately $16 million inash, subject to an escrowed holdbackam of $6 million to secure working capita
adjustments, indemnification obligations of the sellers, aneratontingent obligations related to the operation of the éssinAs
a result of the acquisition, we recognized goodwill of $6 arilland other intangible assets of $3 million. Energo provides
Integrity Management (IM) and adweed structural engineering services todffshore oil and gas industry. Energo’s resolfts
operations were integrated imtar Hydrocarbons segment.

Other Transactions

M.W. Kellogg Limited (“MWKL"). On December 31, 2010, we obtained cdrdfdhe remaining 44.94% interest in our
MWKL subsidiary located in the U.K forparoximately £107 million subjédo certain post-closing adjustments. The acquisition
was recorded as an equity transaction that reduced noncdontriollerests, accumulated otheomprehensive income (“AOCI”)
and additional paid-in capital by $180 million. We recognizectati transaction costs associated with the acquisition of
approximately $1 million as a direct charto additional paid in capital. Thwtial purchase price of $164 million was pad
January 5, 2011. During the third quaé2011, we settled various post-closing atljuents that resulted in a decreas#imid-
in capital in excess of par” of approximately $5 million. Wepalgreed to pay the former noncontrolling interest 44.94%tarfef
proceeds collected on certain receivables owed to MWKL. Additigriae former noncontrolling interest agreed to indemn#y u
for 44.94% of certain MWKL liabilities to be settled and paidthe future. As of December 31, 2011, we have liability of
approximately $8 million classified on our balance sheetNamcurrent Obligation to former noncontrolling interest” and
$1 million classified on our balance sheet as “Obligatiofotmer noncontrolling interest” reflecting our estimate of 44.9%
future proceeds from certain receivables owed to MWKL.

LNG Joint Venture. On January 5, 2011, we sold our 50% inteiesi joint venture to our joint venture partner for
approximately $22 million. The joint venture was formed to execute an EPC contract for construction of an LNG plant in
Indonesia. We recognized a gain on the sale of our interest of approximately $8 million which is included in “Equitygs efrnin
unconsolidated affiliates, net” in our consolidaitecbme statement for year ended December 31, 2011.

Technology License Agreemeng&ffective December 24, 2009, watered into a collaboration agreement with BP p.l.c. to
market and license certain technology. In conjunction withatrangement, we acquired a lisergranting us the exclusivigt
to the technology. In January 2010, astipaconsideration for the lense, we paid an initiae& of $20 million, which wilbe
amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life or the 25-year life of the arrangemenentli/e cu
estimate the useful life to be 25 years.
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Note 4. Percentage-of-Completion Contracts

Revenue from contracts to providenstruction, engineering, design, or imservices is reported on the percentage-of-
completion method of accountingsing measurements of progress toward detigm appropriate for the work performed.
Commonly used measuremente physical progress, man-hours, and costs incurred.

Billing practices for these projects are governed by dbstract terms of each project based upon costs incurred,
achievement of milestones, or pre-agressthedules. Billings do natecessarily correlate withevenue recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Billings in €xad recognized revenue are recorded in “Advance billings on
uncompleted contracts.” When billings are less than recogmeezhue, the difference is recorded in “Unbilled receivables on
uncompleted contracts.” With the exception of claims and chanlgesothat are in the processhafing negotiated with custonse
unbilled receivables are usually billed during normal billing psses following achievement of the contractual requirements.

Recording of profits and losses on percentage-of-completionactsmtiequires an estimate of the total profit or loss over the
life of each contract. This estimate requires consideration ofammalue, change orders and claims reduced by costsddamd
estimated costs to complete. Anticipated losses on contracts ardeck@o full in the period they become evident. Excepd in
limited number of projects that have sigoéfnt uncertainties in the estimation ostx we do not delay income recognitiamtilu
projects have reached a spedifigercentage of completion. Generally, profits are recorded from the commencement date of the
contract based upon the total estimateatraxt profit multiplied by the currepercentage complete for the contract.

When calculating the amount of total praditloss on a percentage-of-completi@miract, we include unapproved claims in
total estimated contract value when t@lection is deemed probable based uponfthe criteria for recognizing unapproved
claims in accordance with FASB ASC 605-35 related to adowyifor performance of construction-type and certain production-
type contracts. Including unamwed claims in this calculation increases the operating income (or reduces the operatihgtloss)
would otherwise be recorded without corsation of the probable unapproved claifobable unapproved claims are recorded to
the extent of costs incurred and include no profit elemerdll loases, the probable unapprévdaims included in determirgn
contract profit or loss are less than the actual claim that will be or has been presented to the customer.

When recording the revenue and the associated unbilledableefor unapproved claims, we only accrue an amount equal
to the costs incurred related to probabiepproved claims. The amounts of unapprovedhd and change orders included in
determining the profit or loss on contracts and recordemiirent and non-current unbilled receivables on uncompleted centrac
are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010
Probable unapproved claims $ 31 $ 19
Probable unapproved change orders 6 10
Probable unapproved change orders relaiethconsolidated subsidiaries — 3

As of December 31, 2011, the probable unapproved claims rétaseveral projects. See N@¢or a discussion of U.S.
government contract clais, which are not included in the table above.

Included in the table above are contracts with probable unapproved claims that will likely not be settled within one year
totaling $19 million for both years ending December 31, 2011 and 201i6h are reflected as a non-current asset in “Noncurren
unbilled receivables on uncompleted contracts” on the consolibatadce sheets. Other probable unapproved claims and change
orders that we believe will be settled within one year, haeen recorded as a current asset in “Unbilled receivables on
uncompleted contracts” on tieensolidated Hance sheets.

Liquidated damages

Many of our engineering and construction contracts have wilesiue dates that stube met or we may be subject to
penalties for liquidated damagesclims are asserted and weraveesponsible for the delayBhese generally relate to syl
activities that must be met witha project by a set contractual date or eebiment of a specified level of output or throogtof a
plant we construct. Each contract defines the conditionsruntizh a customer may makectaim for liquidded damages.
However, in some instances, ligated damages are not asserted by the custbmtethe potential to do S8 used in negotiatg
claims and closingut the contract.

Based upon our evaluation of our performance and other legigkén we have not accruéat possible liquidated damages

related to several projects totaling $11 million at Decendier2011 and $20 million at December 31, 2010 (including amounts
related to our share of unconsolidated flibges), that we could incur based upon completing the projects as currentisfecec
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PEMEX Arbitration. In 1997 and 1998 we entered into three contracts REBNIEX, the project owner, to build offshore
platforms, pipelines rad related structures in the Bay of Campeclffishore Mexico. The three contracts were known as
Engineering, Procurement and ConstructidBRC") 1, EPC 22 and EPC 28. All thremjacts encounteredggiificant schedule
delays and increased costs due to probleitis design work, late delivery and defeatsequipment, increases in scope anceoth
changes. PEMEX took possession of the offsHacilities of EPC 1 in March 2004tef having achieved oil production but prior
to our completion of our scope of work pursuant to the contract.

We filed for arbitration with the Inteational Chamber of Commerce (“ICC”) 2004 claiming recovery of damages of
$323 million for the EPC 1 project. PEMEX subsequently filednterclaims totaling $157 million. In December 2009, the ICC
ruled in our favor, and we were awarded a total of apprdei;n&351 million including legal and administrative recovery f&ees
well as interest. PEMEX was awarded appmately $6 million on counterclaims, plustémest on a portion of that sum. In
connection with this award, we recognizedain of $117 million net of tax in 200Bhe arbitration award is legally bindingdion
November 2, 2010, we received a judgment in our favor in the Dis¥ict Court for the Southern District of New York to
recognize the award in the U.S. of approximately $356 million Mesgican value added tax and interest thereon until paid.
PEMEX initiated an appeal to the U.S. Cioaf Appeals for the Second Circuit and asked for a stay of the enforcement of the
judgment while on appeal. The stay was tgdnbut PEMEX was required to post ca@lal of $395 million with the court regigt
Appellate briefs have been filed by bgthrties and oral arguments were heardheySecond Circuit Court on February 2, 2012.
On February 16, 2012, the Second Circuit issued an order rergahdi case to the District Court to consider if the decididheo
Collegiate Court in Mexico, described belowould have affected the trial court’s mgj. We believe the possibility of theal
court reversing its own ruling to be remote as U.S. couxs aatrong record of recognizing and enforcing internationatatibin
awards. However, an unfavorable ruling by the trial court chal@ a material advee impact to our sailts of operations.

PEMEX attempted to nullify the award in Mexico which wagctgd by the Mexican trial court in June 2010. PEMEX then
filed an “amparo” action on the basis that its constitutional rigats been violated which was denied by the Mexican court in
October 2010. PEMEX subsequendgpealed the adverse decision with the CategCourt in Mexico on the grounds that the
arbitration tribunal did not have jurisdiction and that the dwaolated the public order dflexico. Although these argument
were presented in the initial nullificatiand amparo actions and were rejectethdth cases, in September 2011, the Coltegia
Court in Mexico ruled in favor of PEMEX on the amparo actidrhe Collegiate Court ruled that PEMEX, by administratively
rescinding the contract in 2004, deprive@ thrbitration panel of jurisdiction thesetullifying the arbitration award. The
Collegiate Court decision is contrary to the ruling received fileenlCC as well as all other Miean courts which have denied
PEMEX’s repeated attempts to nullify the arbitration award. alde believe the Collegiate Court decision is contrary to Mexic
law governing contract arbitrationHowever, we do not expect the Collegiateu@ decision to affect the outcome of the U.S.
appeal discussed above or our ability to ultimately collect @@ arbitration award in the U.S. due to the significant assets
PEMEX in the U.S. as well as the collateral posted by PEMEX tivétcourt registry The circumstances of this matter are eniqu
and in the unlikely event we are not able to collect the atlaitr award in the U.S., we wilursue other remedies includifiing a
North American Free Trade Agreement (“NAFTA”) arbitration égaver the award as an unlawful expropriation of assets by the
government of Mexico.

We were successful in litigating and collecting on valid irggomal arbitration awards against PEMEX on the EPC 22 and
EPC 28 projects during 2008. Additionally, PEMEXs sufficient assets in the U.S. whichlvedieve we will beable to attachsaa
result of the recognition of the ICC arbitration award in th8.Although it is possible we calfesolve and collect the amus
due from PEMEX in the next 12 months, wdidee the timing of the collection of the avd is uncertain and therefore, we have
continued to classify the amount due from PEMEX as a long teomivable included in “Noncurrent unbilled receivable on
uncompleted contracts” as of December Z111. No adjustments have been made to our receivable balance since recognition of
the initial award in 2009. Depending on the timing and amoliimhately settled with PEMEX, including interest, we could
recognize an additional gaimpon collection of the award.

In connection with the EPC 1 project, we have approteiyeb80 million in outstanding performance bonds furnished to
PEMEX when the project was awarded.eTionds were written by a Mexican bondngany and backed by a U.S. insurance
company which is indemnified by KBR. As a result of th€ I&rbitration award in Decemb2009, the panel determined that
KBR had performed on the project and recovery on the bond®EMEX was precluded. PEMEXdd an action in Mexico in
June 2010 against the Mexican bond company to collect the bomdsheugh the arbitration awarded that the bonds were e
returned to KBR. In May 2011, the Mexican trial court duREMEX could collect the bonds even though PEMEX at the time was
unsuccessful in its attempts to nullify the arbitration awdrde decision was immediately appealed by the bonding company an
PEMEX was not able to call tHends while on appeal. In Octali2011, we were officially notified that the appellate coulktdu
in favor of PEMEX, therefore allowing PEMEX to call the bandis December 2011, we and the Mexican bond company stayed
payment of the bonds by filing direct amparos in the Mexi@amts, and we filed a bond to cover interest accruing during the
pendency of our amparo action. In the @évemr amparo is unsuccessful and the WnSurance company makes payment to the
Mexican bonding company, we may be required to indemnify ti$e idsurance company. In this event, we will pursue other
remedies including seeking relief in theSJ.District Court for the Southern Distriof New York or the filing of a NAFTA
arbitration to recover the bondsas unlawful expropriation of agdseby the government of Mexico.
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Note 5. Business Segment Information

We provide a wide range of services, but the management bieiness is heavily focused on major projects within each of
our reportable segments. At any given time, a relatively few aumwibprojects and joint ventes represent a substantial tpafr
our operations. Our equity in earningeddosses of unconsolidated affiliates tha¢ accounted for using the equity metlodd
accounting is included in revenaéthe applicable segment.

The following is a descriptn of our reportable segments:

Hydrocarbons. Our Hydrocarbons business segment serves the Hydrocarbon industry by providing services ranging from
prefeasibility studies to designing, anonstruction to commissioning of process fiieis in remote locations around the Vaor
We are involved in hydrocarbon processingaifincludes constructing liquefied natuggls (“LNG”) plants in several countries
Our global teams of engineers also exeamig provide solutions for projects in thiefuel, carbon capture, oil and gas, oiefand
petrochemical markets. The Hydrocarbdmssiness segment includes the Gas Mpaton, Oil & Gas, Downstream, and
Technology business units.

Our Gas Monetization business unit designs @mmstructs facilities that enable our customers to monetize their natural gas
resources. We design and build LNG and-gmliquids (“GTL") facilties that allow for the economical development and
transportation of resources frolocations across the globe. Additionally, wekaasignificant contribubns in gas processing
development, equipment desigmdainnovative construction method®ur Oil & Gas business urdelivers onshore and offshore
oil and natural gas production facilities which include platrftoating production and subsea facilities, and pipelinesaléte
provide specialty consulting services which include field dgraént studies and planning, structural integrity managemetht, an
proprietary designs for ship and semi-submersible hulls. OwnBtoeam business unit provides a complete range of engineering
procurement, construction and constructiorvises (“EPC-CS”) services, as well pgogram and project magement, consulting,
front-end engineering and design (“FEEDY) refineries, petrochemical and otheamis. Our Technology business unit proside
expertise related to differentiated presgechnologies for the camlonetization, petrochemicakfining and syngas markets.

Infrastructure, Government & Power. Our IGP business segment serves thfrastructure, Government & Power
industries delivering effective solutions tiefense and governmental agencies wdddwproviding baseperations facilities
management, border security, engineering, procurement antumtios (“EPC”) services, and distics support. We also provide
project management, constructiomnagement, design and support services foaraay of complex infrasucture initiatives
including aviation, road, rail, maritime, water, waste wateldimg, and pipeline projects. For the industrial manufaogusector,
we provide a full range of EPC servicesatwariety of heavy industrial and adead manufacturing markets, frequently emphayi
our clients’ proprietary knowledge and beologies in strategically critical project$:or the power market, we use our fedlepe
EPC expertise to execute projects whitély a distinctive role in increasingethworld’s power generation capacity from mugip
fuel sources and in enhancing the efficiency and environinamtgpliance of existing power facilities. The IGP business segmen
includes the North Amrican Governmentind Logistics (“NAGL’;, formerly North American Government and Defgnse
International Government, Defencand Support Services (“IGDSS”, formerly International Government and Defejce
Infrastructure and Minerals (“I&M”), andhe Power and Industrial (“P&I") businessitsn In 2012, we intend to report the
Infrastructure and Minerals business units separately. O& &%fjuired business will be included in the new Minerals busines
unit.

Services. Our Services segment delivers full-scope constmctmnstruction managemerfgbrication, operations/
maintenance, commissioning/stgrtand turnaround expertise to customers worldwida broad variety of markets including oil
and gas, petrochemicals and hydrocarbortgssing, power, alternate energy, pulp pager, industrial and manufacturing, and
consumer product industries. egjfically, Services is organized around fourjongproduct lines; U.S. Construction, Industria
Services, Building Group and Canada. OurSUConstruction product line deliversrefit hire construction, construction
management for construction orgyojects to a variety of markets and worksselly with the Hydrocarbons group and Power and
Industrial business unit to provide construction execution suppoail domestic EPC project®©ur Industrial Services produ
line is a diversified maintenance organization operating omlzagbasis providing maintenanam-call construction, turnamod
and specialty services to a variety ofrkes. This group works with all of ourh@r operating units to identify potentialrfpull
through opportunities and to identify upcoming EPC projects atofrtbe 80 plus locations where we have embedded KBR
personnel. Our Building Group product line paes general commercial contractor sersito education, food and beverage,
manufacturing, health care, hospitality adertainment, life science and technologyd mixed-use building clients. Ourr@ala
product line is a diversified constructiondafabrication operation providing directdiconstruction, module assembly, fahtion
and maintenance services to our Canadigtomers. This product line serves a nuntbenarkets including oil and gas customer
operating in the oil sands, pulp and papeining and industrial markets.

Certain of our business units meet thedinition of operating segments contairia FASB ASC 280 — Segment Reporting,
but individually do not meet the quantitatitteesholds as a reportable segment, nor do they share a majority of the aggregati
criteria with another operating segment. These operating segments are reported on a combined basis as “Other” and include our
Ventures and Allstates business units all ag&corporate expenses not included im dperating segments’ results. Our segme
information has been prepared in accoogawith FASB ASC 280 — Segment Reporting.
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Our reportable segments follow the samepaating policies as those described inéb (Significant Accounting Policies).
Our equity in pretax earnings and losses of unconsolidatecf§ilthat are accounted for using the equity method of atoguimt
included in revenue and operating income of the applicable segment.

Reportable segment performance is evaluated by our chiedtmedecision maker using opgng segment income which
is defined as operating segmesvenue less the cost of services and segmesthead directly attributable to the operating
segment. Reportable segment incaemeludes certain cost of services and gerardladministrative expenses directly attribilea
to the operating segment that is managediraported at the corporate level, antpooate general and administrative expengés
believe this is the mostccurate measure of the ongoing pedffility of our operating segments.

Labor cost absorption in the following table representsniec@r expense generated by our central service labor and
resource groups for amounts charged to the operating segdediisonally, in the following table depreciation and amortiaati
associated with corporate assets is allocated to ourtgesagments for determining operating income or loss.

The tables below present infoation on our reportable segments.

Operations by Reportable Segment
Years ended December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010 2009
Revenue:
Hydrocarbons $ 4258 $ 3,969 $ 3,906
Infrastructure, Government and Power 3,328 4,299 6,288
Services 1,590 1,755 1,863
Other 85 76 48
Total revenue $ 9,261 $ 10,099 $ 12,105
Segment operating income:
Hydrocarbons $ 408 $ 400 $ 464
Infrastructure, Government and Power 266 272 188
Services 58 102 96
Other 51 35 16
Segment operating income 783 809 764
Unallocated amounts:

Labor cost absorption income (expense) 18 12 (112)

Corporate general and administrative expense (214) (212) (217)
Total operating income $ 587 $ 609 $ 536
Capital Expenditures:
Hydrocarbons $ - $ 1 $ 2
Infrastructure, Government and Power 3 8 9
Services 3 2 4
Other 77 55 26
Total $ 83 $ 66 $ 41
Equity in earnings (losses) otinconsolidated affiliates, net:
Hydrocarbons $ 32 % 40 $ (30)
Infrastructure, Government and Power 67 40 27
Services 26 33 28
Other 33 24 20
Total $ 158 % 137 % 45
Depreciation and amortization:
Hydrocarbons $ 2 $ 3 % 3
Infrastructure, Government and Power 14 6 5
Services 9 12 19
Other 46 41 28
Total $ 71 $ 62 $ 55
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Within KBR, not all assets are associated with specific setgn Those assets specific to segments include receivables,
inventories, certain identified property, plant and equipmedteguity in and advances telated companies, and goodwill. érh
remaining assets, such as cash and the remaining propertyampiaaetuipment, are consideredb® shared among the segments
and are therefore reported as General corporate assets.

Balance Sheet Information by Reportable Segment

December 31,
Millions of dollars 2011 2010

Total assets:

Hydrocarbons $ 2,836 $ 2,136
Infrastructure, Government and Power 2,827 2,836
Services 604 590
Other (594) (145)
Total assets $ 5673 $ 5,417
Goodwill:

Hydrocarbons $ 249 % 249
Infrastructure, Government and Power 403 399
Services 287 287
Other 12 12
Total $ 951 $ 947
Equity infadvances to related companies:

Hydrocarbons $ 9 ¢ 49
Infrastructure, Government and Power (51) (15)
Services 36 33
Other 196 152
Total $ 190 $ 219

Revenue by country is determined based on the location d€éseprovided. Long-lived asseiyg country are determined
based on the location of tangible assets.

Selected Geographic Information

Years ended December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010 2009
Revenue:
United States $ 1,994 $ 2082 $ 2,550
Iraq 1,969 2,891 4,239
Africa 2,113 2,094 2,260
Other Middle East 707 995 1,224
Asia Pacific (includes Austlia) 1,439 1,030 624
Europe 587 585 607
Other Countries 452 422 601
Total $ 9,261 $ 10,099 $ 12,105

December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010
Long-Lived Assets (PP&E):
United States $ 225 % 178
United Kingdom 97 111
Other Countries 62 66
Total $ 384 $ 355
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Note 6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill

The table below summarizes our goodwill by segment.

Millions of dollars Hydrocarbons IGP Services Other Total
Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 243 $ 149 $ 287 $ 12 $ 691
Acquisition of R&S — 250 — — 250
Acquisition of Energo 6 — — — 6
Balance at December 31, 2010 249 399 287 12 947
Purchase price adjustment — 4 — — 4
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 249 $ 403 $ 287 $ 12 $ 951

The increase in goodwill in 2011 of $4 million was relatecatpurchase price adjustment for R&S. The increase in
goodwill in 2010 was a result of the acquisition of R&S in Deoen010 and Energo in April 2010. See Note 3 for further

discussion of these acquired entities.

In the third quarter of 2009, we recognized a goodwill impairment charge of approximately $6 million related to the
Allstates staffing business unit in connection with our angoabwill impairment test on Septéer 30, 2009. The charge was
primarily the result of a decline in the staffing market, the effect of the recession on the market, and our reducedfdhecasts
sales, operating income and cash flowstfis business unit that were identifistdtough the course of our 2009 annual plagni

process.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of oustr relationships, contractbacklog, trade name licensing agreements and

other. The cost and accumulated amortizatioour intangible assetsere as follows:

December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010
Intangibles notubject to amortization $ 11 $ 11
Intangibles subject tamortization 191 190
Total intangibles 202 201
Accumulated amortization of intangibles (89) (74)
Net intangibles $ 113 $ 127

Intangibles subject to amortization are atized over their estimated useful livef up to 25 years.
amortization expense for the years ended DeceBihe2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented below:

Intangibles
Millions of dollars amortization expense
2009 $ 15
2010 $ 12
2011 $ 16

Our expected intangibles aniaation expense in future periods is presented below:

Expected future

intangibles
Millions of dollars amortization expense
2012 $ 15
2013 $ 14
2014 $ 12
2015 $ 11
2016 $ 10
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Note 7. Property, Plant and Equipment

Other than those assets that have been written down tdaieralues due to impairment, property, plant, and equipment
are reported at cost less accumulated depreciation, whichesadlg provided on the straight-line method over the estimatefll
lives of the assets. Accelerated depreciation methods aresalddor tax purposes, wherever permitted. Upon sale or retitehe
an asset, the related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is recognized.

Property, plant and equipmentaromposed of the following:

Estimated
Useful December 31,
Lives in
Millions of dollars Years 2011 2010

Land N/A $ 31 ¢ 31
Buildings and property improvements 5-44 244 212
Equipment and other 3-20 473 446
Total 748 689
Less accumulated depreciation (364) (334)
Net property, plant and equipment $ 384 $ 355

In the fourth quarter of 2010, we mgmized a $5 million impairent charge on long-lived assets associated with a
technology center in our Hydrocarbons seginprimarily related tocuipment, land and buildings. Our Hydrocarbons segment
intends to replace the functiaf the technology operating center through alleanand joint-ventures with third parties exttthan
direct ownership. As a result of our decision to sell the assetadjusted the carrying values to fair value as of DeceBiber
2010 and such fair value was based on thimtlypaarket prices fosimilar assets.

Note 8. Debt and Other Credit Facilities
Credit Agreement

On December 2, 2011, we entered into a $1 billion, five-yearaumed revolving credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement)
with a syndicate of international banksplecing the three-year unsecured revolvamgdit agreement, dated November 3, 2009
(the “Prior Credit Agreement”) which teimated upon closing of the Credit Agreemh. The Credit Agreement expires in
December 2016 and can be used for working capital and the issuance of letters of credit for general corporate purposges. Amount
drawn under the Credit Agreement will bear interest at variaéss, per annum, based either on (i) the London interbanieaffe
rate (“LIBOR") plus an applicable margin &f50% to 1.75%, or (ii) a base rate plus an applicable margin of 0.50% to 0.76%, wi
the base rate being equal to the higlaégt) reference bank’s publicly announcedéaate, (b) the Federal Funds Rate pl&$s,
or (c) LIBOR plus 1%. The amount of the applicable margirbeéoapplied will be determined by the Company’s ratio of
consolidated debt to consoliddt EBITDA for the prior four fiscal quarters, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The Credit
Agreement provides for fees on letters of credit issued undeCrédit Agreement at a rate equalthe applicable margin for
LIBOR-based loans, except for performance letters of credit, warigtpriced at 50% of such applicable margin. KBR pays an
issuance fee of 0.15% of the face amouna détter of credit upon issuance. KB#so pays a commitment fee of 0.25%, per
annum, on any unused portion of the commitment under the @gdiement. As of December 31, 2011, there were $245 million
in letters of credit and no advances outstanding.

The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants similar to the Prior Credit Agreement which include financial
covenants requiring mainter@nof a ratio of consolidated debt to consokdaEBITDA not greater than 3.5 to 1 and a minimum
consolidated net worth of $2 billion plus 50% of consolidateincome for each quarter beginning December 31, 2011, and 100%
of any increase in shareholders’ equity attributable to the sale of equity interests.

The Credit Agreement contains a number of other covenasttictiag, among other things, our ability to incur additional
liens and indebtedness, enter into asset sales, repurchasgiityskares and make certaipég of investments. Our subisides
are restricted in incurring indebtedness, however, they amaitted to incur indebtedness as it relates to purchase money
obligations, capitalizecebses, refinancing or renewatéxgred by liens upon or in propeggquired, constructed or improvedan
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $200 million at any dimstanding. Additionally, our subsidiaries may incur
unsecured indebtedness not to exceed $200 million in aggregatndingtprincipal amount at any time. We are also perntitted
repurchase our equity shares, provided that no such regsesishall be made from proceeds borrowed under the Credit
Agreement, and that the aggregate purchase price and dividaiddafter December 2, 2011, doext to exceed the Distribution
Cap (equal to the sum of $750 million plus the lesser of (1) i6n and (2) the amount received by us in connection thich
arbitration and subsequent litigation ofetiPEMEX contracts as furthediscussed in Note 4 to our consolidated financial
statements). At December 31, 2011, the remaining availability under the Distribution Cap was approximately $732 million.
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Letters of credit, surety bonds and guarantees

In connection with certain projects, we are required to prdeitiers of credit, surety bonds or guarantees to our customers.
Letters of credit are provided to certain customers and couatéep in the ordinary course of business as credit support fo
contractual performance guarantees, adednpayments received from customensl duture funding commitments. We have
approximately $1.8 billion in committed and uncommitted linesreflit to support the issuance of letters of credit and as of
December 31, 2011, and we had utilized $635 million of our coegliacity. Surety bonds are also posted under the terms of
certain contracts primarily related to staand local government projects to guarardee performance. The letters of credit
outstanding included $245 million issued under our Credit Ageeerand $390 million issued under uncommitted bank lines at
December 31, 2011. Of the total letters of credit outstanding, $185 million relate to our joint venture operations afidrba# mil
the letters of credit have terms that could entitle a ban&qoire additional cash collatemdtion on demand. As the neadses,
future projects will be supported by letters of credit issued under our Credit Agreement or other lines of credit arranged on a
bilateral, syndicated or other basis. Walieve we have adequate letter @fdit capacity under our Credit Agreement andtbilal
lines of credit to support our opéms for the next twelve months.

Nonrecourse Project Finance Debt

Fasttrax Limited, a joint venture in which we indirectly owB086 equity interest with an wlated partner, was awarded a
contract in 2001 with the U.K. Ministry @efence (“MoD”) to provide a fleet of 92hvy equipment transporters (“HETS”) teth
British Army. Under the terms of the arrangement, Fasttratédihroperates and maintains the HET fleet for a term of 22.years
The purchase of the HETs by the joint weetwas financed through a series of bor@sused by the assets of Fasttrax Limited
totaling approximately £84.9 million and are non-recourseBR l&ind its partner including £12ndllion which was replaced wine
the shareholders funded combined equaityl subordinated debt opgroximately £12.2 million. The bonds are guaranteed by
Ambac Assurance UK Ltd under a policy thahtantees the schedule oétprinciple and interest paents to the bond trustee i
the event of non-payment by Fasttrax Limited. See Note rl&diditional details on Fasttréimited non-recourse project finae
debt of a VIE that is consolidated by KBR. The secured borelsmrobligation of Fasttrax Lited and will never be a debt
obligation of KBR because they are non-recourse to the jointireepartners. Accordingly, in the event of a default ongha t
loan, the lenders may only look to the resosiraeFasttrax Limited for repayment.

Note 9. United States Government Contract Work

We provide substantial work under our government contrattetonited States DepartmeriftDefense (“DoD”) and other
governmental agencies. These contractai@elour worldwide United States Army letics contracts, knowas LogCAP 11l and
\YA

Given the demands of working in Iraq and elsewhere ferUtS. government, as discusskirther below, we have
disagreements and have experienced pedace issues with the various governmeustomers for which we work. When
performance issues arise under any of our government contracts, the government retains the right to pursue remedies, which coul
include termination, under any affected cant. If any contract were so termingtege may not receive award fees under the
affected contract, and our ability to seeduture contracts could be adverselfeeted, although we would receive payment fo
amounts owed for our allowable costs undest-ceimbursable contractOther remedies that could be sought by our government
customers for any improper activities or performance issues insardzions such as forfeiture of profits, suspension of pasn
fines, and suspensions or dahant from doing business with the government. Harmtthe negative publicity that could arisenfi
disagreements with our customers or sanctams result thereof could have an adeeeffect on our putation in the indusgr
reduce our ability to compete for new contsa and may also have a te@dal adverse effect on obusiness, financial conditn,
results of operations, and cash flow.

We have experienced and expect to be a party to vadiaisis against us by employees, third parties, soldiers,
subcontractors and others that have arisenof our work in Iraq such as clainfigsr wrongful termination, assaults against
employees, personal injury claims by third parties and armgopeel, and subcontractor clainvghile we believe we conduct iou
operations safely, the environmeiriswhich we operate often lead to these types of claims. We believe the vast majorityeof th
types of claims are governed by the Defense Base Act or peelchydother defenses. We havdispute resolution program under
which most employment claims are subjéztbinding arbitration. Howeve as a result of amendments to the Department of
Defense Appropriations Act of 2010, certaipég of employee claims cannot be compgkttebinding arbitration. An unfavorabl
resolution or disposition of these mattersildohave a material adverse effect on business, results of operations, finahci
condition and cash flow.

Award Fees

In accordance with the provisions of the LogCAP Il cortirave recognize revenue on cegrvices rendered on a task
order basis based on either a cost-plus-fixed-fee or cost-plesféa and award fee arrangement. The fees are determiaed as
percentage rate applied to a negotiated estimate of the totalfoostach task order. Prior to the fourth quarter of 2Q@9,
recognized award fees on the L@ Il contract using an estimated accrualtied amounts to be awarded. Once task orders
underlying the work were definitized and award fees were gramedydjusted our estimate of am fees to the actual amounts
earned. We used 72% as our accrual rate through the third quarter of 2009.
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On February 19, 2010, KBR was notified by the AFDO thatetermination had been made regarding the Company’s
performance for the period January 2008 to April 2008 in Irag.nbliee stated that based oricirmation received from varigu
DoD individuals and organizations after the date of the etiatuboard held in June 2008etWFDO made a unilateral decisitm
grant no award fees for the period of performance from January 2008 to April 2008. As a result of the AFDO’s adverse
determination we reversed award fees thed previously been estimated as eammad recognized as revenue resulting in a net
decrease of $65 million in 2009. Commencing in the foagularter of 2009, we stopped accruing award fees and began
recognizing them only upon receipt of the awie letter due to the inability to relighestimate the amouof fees to be warded.
We have filed an appeal to the ACO rethte the decision to grant no award feestfie period of performance from Januarp20
to April 2008.

In 2010, we received award fees of $94 million for theogeof performance from May 2008 through May 2010 for task
orders in Iraq and Afghanistan which vezorded as an increase to revenue.

In 2011, we were awarded and recognized revenue of $41 nidli@ward fees for the period$ performance from March
2010 through February 2011 on task orders in Irag. No awarghdols are available for periods of performance subsequent to
February 2011.

In August of 2010, we executed a contract modification td_tiggCAP Ill contract on the base life support task order in
Iraq that resulted in an increase to our base fee on costs incurred and an increase in the maximum award fee on negiotiated cost
the period of performance from SeptemB@t0 through February 2011. During the fagstrter of 2011, we finalized negotiat®
with our customer and converted the task order from costhalse-fee and award fee to cost-plus-fixed-fee for the period of
performance beginning in March 2011. Wcognize revenues for the fixed-feemponent on the basis of proportionate
performance as services are performed.

Government Compliance Matters
The negotiation, administration, and satient of our contracts with the U.Sovernment, consisting primarily of DoD

contracts, are subject to audit by the Defe Contract Audit Agency (“DCAA”"), which sees in an advisory role to the Defense
Contract Management Agency (“DCMA”) whigk responsible for the administration of our
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The Army based its initial assessment on snbcontract wherein, based on communicetiwith the subcontractor, the Army
estimated 6% of the total subcontract costs related to the gpdgeatirity. We subsequentlycedved Form 1's from the DCAA

disapproving an additional $83 million of costs incurred by uscamdsubcontractors to provide security during the samedserio
Since that time, the Army withheld an additional $25 millionpayments from us bringing thetal payments withheld to

approximately $45 million as of December 31, 2011 out of the Form 1's issued to date of $103 million.

The Army indicated that they believe our LogCAP llI caotrprohibits us and our subcontractors from billing costs of
privately armed security. We believe that, while the LogCARdHtract anticipates that the Army will provide force protectm
KBR employees, it does not prohibit usamy of our subcontractors from using privageurity services to provide force pretien
to KBR or subcontractor personnel. Ind#wn, a significant portion of our subcontracts are competitively bid fixed price
subcontracts. As a result, we do not receietails of the subcontractors’ cost estimate nor are we legally entitled wrihei; we
have not paid our subcontractors any additional compensatioediarity services. Accordingly, we believe that we are edtitb
reimbursement by the Army for the cost of services provided lyr asir subcontractors, even if they incurred costs for grivat
force protection services. Therefore, we do not agree withitimg’s position that such costs are unallowable and that they ar
entitled to withhold amounts incurred for such costs.

We have provided at the Army’s requedbmmation that addresses the use of arsezlrity either directly or indirectly
charged to LogCAP lll. In 2007, we filed a complaint in theB&2\ to recover $44 million of the amounts withheld from us. In
2009, KBR and the Army agreed to stay the case pending fudtbarssions with the DOJ assdussed further below. The
ASBCA has denied the Army’s latest request to stay theegmdings which are pending a ruling on KBR’s motion for summary
judgment. We believe these sums were piggglled under our contraavith the Army. At this tine, we believe the likelihab
that a loss related to this matter has bieearred is remote. We have not adjaksbur revenues or accrued any amountsem et
this matter. This matter is also the subject of a separita Gled by the DOJ for allegedolation of the False Claims Aas
discussed further below under the headingestigations, Qui Tams and Litigation.”

Containers. In June 2005, the DCAA recommended withholding certaists associated with providing containerized
housing for soldiers and supporting civilian personnel in Iraq. DB®A agreed that the costs be withheld pending receipt of
additional explanation or documentation to support the subcowrtrats. During the first quarter of 2011, we received a Form
from the DCAA disapproving approximately $25 million in costs relatecontainerized housing that had previously been deemed
allowable. As of December 31, 2011, approximately $51 millidncosts have been suspended under Form 1's of which
$26 million have been withheld from us by our customer. Wee heithheld $30 million from our subcontractor related to this
matter. In April 2008, we filed a counterclaim in arbitratioaiagt our LogCAP Il subcontractor, First Kuwaiti Trading Compa
to recover the $51 million we paid to the subcontractorctomtainerized housing as further described under the caption First
Kuwaiti Trading Company arbitration below. During the first quaoe2011, we filed a complaint before the ASBCA to contest
the Form 1's and recover the amounts withheld from us by ouornest We believe #t the costs incurred associated with
providing containerized housing aemasonable, and we intend to vigorously defemdelves in this matter. We do not beli¢vat
we face a risk of significantoss from any disallowance of these costsektess of the amounts we have withheld from
subcontractors and the loss accruals we have recorded. Aitrthjswve believe the likelihood that a loss in excess of tteuam
accrued for this matter is remote.

Dining facilities. In 2006, the DCAA raised questions regarding ollings and pricereasonableness of costs related to
dining facilities in Irag. We respondedttte DCMA that our costs are reasonable. oABDecember 31, 201e have outstandin
Form 1's from the DCAA disapproving $130 million in costs relate these dining facilities until such time we provide
documentation to support the price reasonableness of the rgtgmtesl with our subcontractand demonstrate that the amtsun
billed were in accordance with the contract terms. We bettev@rices obtained for these services were reasonable ardltimten
vigorously defend ourselves on this matter. We filed clainteerlJ.S. COFC or ASBCA to recover $55 million of the $69 million
withheld from us by the customer. The U.S. COFC proceedingshvedd in the fourth quarter of 2011 and we expect a decision i
the second quarter of 2012. With respect to questions raigadireg billing in accordance with contract terms, as of Deeemb
31, 2011, we believe it is reasonably possiblat we could incur losses in excesshef amount accrued for possible subcactisr
costs billed to the customer that weresgibly not in accordance wittontract terms. We are unablo estimate an amount of
possible loss or range of possible loss in excess of the amoun¢dcetated to any costs billéal the customer that wer@in
accordance with the contract terms. However, we do not believiace a risk of significant loss from any disallowance afehe
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In March 2011, the DOJ filed a counteratain the U.S. COFC alleging KBR enoglkees accepted bribes from Tamimi in
exchange for awarding a master agreement for DFAC servideoni. The DOJ seeks disgorgement of all funds paid to KBR
under the master agreement as well as adirdviees paid to KBR under the related tastters. We have evaluated the DOJ's
counterclaim and believe it to be without merit. Trial ia thS. COFC took place during the fourth quarter of 2011 andnpalist-
briefs by KBR and the DoJ were filed. We expactling from the court in the second quarter of 2012.

Transportation costsin 2007, the DCAA, raised a question about oungiiance with the provisions of the Fly America
Act. During the first quarter of 2011, weceived a Form 1 from the DCAA totaling $6llion for alleged violations of the ¥l
America Act in 2004. Subject to certainceptions, the Fly America Act requires Fedleemployees and others performing U.S.
Government-financed foreign air travel to travel by U.S. fiigcarriers. There are times when we transported personnel in
connection with our services for the U.S. military where we matyhave been in compliance with the Fly America Act and its
interpretations through the Federal Acquisi Regulations and the Comptroller Geale Included in our December 31, 2011
and 2010 accompanying balance sheets, @&carued estimate of the cost incurredtfeese potentially non-compliant flight§he
DCAA may consider additional flights to be noncompliant resulting in potential larger amounts of disallowed costs thannthe amou
we have accrued. Atithtime, we cannot estimate a ramgfereasonably possible losses that may have been incurred, ihany, i
excess of the amount accrued. Wk eontinue to work with our cusimer to resolve this matter.

In the first quarter of 2011, we received a Form 1 froemDICAA disapproving certain pemsnel replacement costs totaling
approximately $27 million associated with replacing employeeswete deployed in Iraq and Afghanistan for less than 179 days.
The DCAA claims these replacement costlate the terms of the LogCAP Il contraghich expressly didlaw certain costs
associated with the contractor rotationeshployees who have deployed less thd@@ days including costs for transportation,
lodging, meals, orientath and various forms of per dienlcabances. We disagree with tB&€AA’s interpretation and applicain
of the contract terms as it was appliedcci@wumstances outside of our control irdihg sickness, deattermination for caues or
resignation and that such cosk®sld be allowable. We believe the risk ofdaassociated with the disallowance of thesésdss
remote. As of December 31, 2011, we had not accrued any amounts related to this matter.

Construction services From February 2009 through September 2046, received eight Form 1's from the DCAA
disapproving approximately $25 million in costs related to workopmed under our CONCAP Il contract with the U.S. Navy to
provide emergency constructionngees primarily to Government facilities damaged by Hurricanes Katrina and Wilma. The
DCAA claims the costs billed to the U.S. Navy primarily related to subcontract costs that were either inappropriatelyded, incl
unallowable profit markup or were unreasonabie April 2010, we met with the U.S. Mg in an attempt to settle the poterjal
unallowable costs. As a result of the meeting, approximatelmi$ion of the potentially unallowable costs was agreed to be
allowable and approximately $1 million unallowable. Settiemef the remaining disputed amounts is pending a final
determination from the contraayj officer. KBR intends to file a claim with eghthe U.S. COFC or ASBCA if the remaining
amounts are not approved by the contracting officer. Asesfember 31, 2011, the U.S. Navy has withheld approximately
$9 million from us. We believe we undertook adequate andmahe steps to ensure that proper bidding procedures were
followed and the amounts billed to the cuséwrwere reasonable and not in violatiortieé FAR. As of December 31, 2011, we
have accrued our estimate of probable loss related to thisrptaitvever, it is reasonably sgible we could incur additionkdsses.

Investigations, QuiTams and Litigation
The following matters relate to ongoing litigationivestigations involving LS. government contracts.

McBride Qui Tam suit. In September 2006, we became aware of a qui tam action filed against us in the U.S. District Court
in the District of Columbia by a form@mployee alleging various wrongdoings in therfaf overbillings to our customer oneth
LogCAP lll contract. This case was originally filed pendinggbeernment’s decision whether ot to participate in the duiln
June 2006, the government formally declinegarticipate. The principal allegatis are that our compensation for the prioviof
Morale, Welfare and Recreation (“MWR?”) féities under LogCAP 1l is based on the volerof usage of those facilities and that
we deliberately overstated that usage. In accordance withniraapwe charged our customer based on actual cost, ndtdrase
the number of users. It was also alleged that, during thedpiedm November 2004 into mid-December 2004, we continuedl to bi
the customer for lunches, although the winfacility was closed and naerving lunches. There are also allegations regardin
housing containers and our provision of seFsito our employees and contractors. On July 5, 2007, the court granted oartaotio
dismiss the qui tam claims and to compel arbitration of employment claims including a claim that the plaintiff was unlawfully
discharged. The majority of the plaffig claims were dismissed btie plaintiff was allowed to pursue limited claims pegdi
discovery and future motions. Substantiallyemployment claims wergent to arbitration under the Company’s dispute reswluti
program and were subsequently resolvedun favor. In January 2009, the relatbed an amended complaint which is nearing
completion of the discovery process. Trial for this matter habeen scheduled. We beliethe relator’s claim is withouterit
and that the likelihood that a loss has been incurred is remstef December 31, 20149 amounts havieeen accrued.

First Kuwaiti Trading Company arbitration. In April 2008, First Kuwaiti Trading Company, one of our LogCAP IlI
subcontractors, filed for arbitration af subcontract under which KBR had leasetisles related to work performed on our
LogCAP Il contract. The FKTC hitration is being conducted under the ruleshef London Court on International Arbitrationca
the venue is in the District of Columbia. First Kuwaiti allegeat the did not return or pay rent for many of the vehiclessaeks
damages in the amount of $134 million. We filed a counterdiairecover amounts which may ultimately be determined due to
the Government for the $51 million in suspended costs as discimstiee preceding section of this footnote titled “Contaifiers
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To date arbitration hearingsrffour subcontracts have taken place in WasbimgD.C. primarily relatet to claims involving npaid

rents and damages on lost or unreturned vehicles. The @obipanel has awarded approximgt®16 million to FKTC for clains
involving unpaid rents and damages on lostrmeturned vehicles, repair costs onta@iervehicles, damagesuffered as a relswf

late vehicle returns, and interest thereon, net of maintenatm®ge and security costs awarded to KBR. No payments are
expected to occur until all claims are arbitrated and awmdbzed. Arbitration hearing$or the remaining subcontractsear
expected to resume in September 2012. We believe any damltigeately awarded to First Kuwaiti will be billable under the
LogCAP Il contract. Accordingly, we have accrued amountsigayend a related unbilled receilalfior the amounts awarded to
First Kuwaiti pursuant to the terms of the contract.

Paul Morell, Inc. d/b/a Tre Event Source vs. KBR, IncTES is a former LogCAP lllubcontractor who provided DFAC
services at six sites in Iraq from mid-2003 to early 2004. Inugepr2008, TES sued KBR in Federal Court in Virginia fombhe
of contract and tortious interference wWikES’s subcontractors by awandi subsequent DFAC contradb the subcontractorsn |
addition, the Government withheld funds from KBR that KBR &aldmitted for reimbursement of TES invoices, and at that time,
TES agreed that it was not entitled to payment until KBR wés Ipathe Government. Eventually KBR and the Government
settled the dispute, and in turn KBR and TES agreed that TESIwoaépt, as payment in full with a release of all other elaim
the amount the Government paid to KBR T&S'’s services. In February 2008, TESdike suit in the Federal Court in Virgintia
overturn that settlement and ra¢e, claiming that KBR misrepresented the facthe trial was completed in June 2009 and in
January 2010 the Federal Court issued an order against usinofaTES in the amount of $15 million in actual damages and
interest and $4 million in punitive damages relating to the settierand release entered into by the parties in May 2005. In
February 2010, we filed a notice of appeal with the Federaltfra@ircuit Court of Appeals irRichmond, Virginia and oral
arguments took place in September 2011.November 2011, the Court of Appeals upheld the lower court’s decision. As of
December 31, 2011, we have recorded un-reimbursable exmarssesliability of $19 million for the full amount of the awarded
damages, which was paid to TES in January 2012.

Electrocution litigation. During 2008, a lawsuit was filed against KBRHittsburgh, Pennsylvania in the Allegheny County
Common Pleas Court alleging that the Company was responsitda fectrical incident which resulted in the death of a soldie
This incident occurred at the Radwaniyah Palace Compleis alteged in the suit that the electrocution incident was cansed
improper electrical maintenance or othezotfical work. KBR denies that its condweas the cause of the event and denigalle
responsibility. The case was removed to Federal Court where nmiilismiss was filed. The court issued a stay in the @sgo
of the case, pending an appeal of certain pre-trial motiodsoiss that were previously mied. In August 2010, the Cowt
Appeals dismissed our appeal concluding @ dot have jurisdiction. Discovery hagen completed and we have re-filed our
motions to dismiss which are scheduledéoheard on March 30, 2012. We are not &bldetermine the likely outcome nor can
we estimate a range of potential loss, if any, related tanthiter at this time. As of December 31, 2011, no amounts lesare b
accrued.

Burn Pit litigation. From November 2008 through February 2011, KBR wageskewith over 50 lawsts in various states
alleging exposure to toxic materials resgtfrom the operation of burn pits in Irag Afghanistan in connection with sergi
provided by KBR under the LogCAP IIl contract. Each latvhas multiple named plaintiffs collectively representing
approximately 250 individual plaintiffsThe lawsuits primarily allegaegligence, willful and wanton conduct, battery, intaml
infliction of emotional harm, personal injugnd failure to warn of dangerous amdit exposures which has resulted in altbge
illnesses for contractors and soldiers living and working inbdees where the pits are operated. All of the pending cases h
been removed to Federal Court, the majority of which have temsolidated for multi-district litigation treatment before ths.
Federal District Court in Baltimore, Maryld. In March 2010, we filed a motion taikeé an amended consolidated petitioedil
by the plaintiffs which was granted byetiCourt in September 2010. The Court deddhe parties to propose a plan for lgdit
jurisdictional discovery. In Dember 2010, the Court stayed virtually all prodegsl pending a decision from the Fourth Gitc
Court of Appeals on three othesises involving the Political Question Doctrine and other jurisdictional issues. Due thettentn
uncertainties of litigation and because litigation is at a preliminary stage, veannot at this time accurately predict thigmate
outcome nor can we reliably estimate a range of possible lossy,ifrelated to this matter ahis time. Accordingly, as of
December 31, 2011, no amounts have been accrued.

Sodium Dichromate litigation.From December 2008 through September 2009, five eemesfiled in various federal district
courts against KBR by national guardsman and other militagopael alleging exposure to potentially hazardous chemicdie at t
Qarmat Ali Water Treatment Plant in Iraq in 2003. The majaftthe cases have been re-filmdd consolidated into two cases
with one pending in Houston, Texas and one pending in thedDisfrDregon. Collectively, the suit represents approximdaféety
individual plaintiffs all of which are curr¢ and former national guardsmen who clahmy were exposed to sodium dichromate
while escorting KBR employees who were wiatkat the water treatmentgoit and that the defendants knew or should have known
that the potentially toxic substee existed and negligently failed to protea tjuardsmen from exposure. The U.S. Corps of
Engineers (“USACE") was contractually obligated to provide @idgresite free of war and environmental hazards before KBR’s
commencement of work on the site. KBR rietifthe USACE within two days after daseering the sodium dichromate and took
effective measures to remediate the sK&R services provided to the USACE were under the direction and control of theymilit
and therefore, KBR believes it has adequate defenses to dlaéss. KBR will also assert Political Question Doctrine and
Government Contractor defensefdditionally, U.S. @vernment and other studies on théeefs of exposure to the sodium
dichromate contamination at thater treatment plant have found long term harm to the soldiers. However, due to the inhere
uncertainties of litigation and because litigation is in the preliminary stageswe cannot accurately predict the ultimatgcome
nor can we reliably estimate a range of possible loss, if aiayedeto this matter. Trialsave been scheduled for Septemb@l2
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in Houston, Texas and October 2012 for the case in Oregoonf Bacember 31, 2011, no amounts have been accrued. During the
period of time since the first litigation wdiled against us, we have incurred legal defense costs that we believe aresaditebu
under the related customer contract. Wenidtto bill for these costs, and if neceysdile claims with either the U.S. C@For
ASBCA to recover the associated revenues recognized to date.

Convoy Ambush Litigation.In April 2004, a fuel convoy in route from @ Anaconda to Baghdad International Airport
for the U.S. Army under our LogCAP Il coatit was ambushed resulting in deaths anérseinjuries to truck drivers hired by
KBR. In 2005, survivors of the drivers killed and those thakevilgured in the convoy, filed suit in state court in Housfaxas
against KBR and several of idfiliates, claiming KBR deliberaty intended that the drivers the convoy would be attackeahd
wounded or killed. The suit also alleges KBR committed fraud ihiitag practices by failing to disclose the dangers aswatia
with working in the Iraq combat zone. The case was removedSoFederal District Court iHlouston, Texas. After numerous
motions and rulings in the trial court aa@peals to U.S. Fifth Circuit Court ofpfeals, in January 2012, the appellate Court
granted KBR'’s appeal on dispositive moticared dismissed the claims of all remaining plaintiffs on the grounds that theisclai
are banned by the exclusive remedy provisions of the Defense Base Act. Prior to the dismissal of the claims against KBR by the
appellate Court, KBR settled the claims of one of the plaintiflse remaining plaintiffs have sought a rehearing of theislsiin
by the Fifth Circuit. We believe the cost of settling with @fiehe plaintiffs is reimbursaélunder the related customer tawt.

We intend to bill for these costs, and if necessary, file claiitts either the U.S. COFC 0ASBCA to recover the associated
revenues recognized to date.

DOJ False Claims Act complaint.In April 2010, the DOJ filed a complaint the U.S. District Court in the District of
Columbia alleging certain violations of the False Claims Actiedl@o the use of private security firms. The complaint efieg
among other things, that we made fals&@andulent claims for payment under the L@GTII contract because we allegedly knew
that they contained costs of services dotthat included improper use of private s@gu We believe thse sums were proper
billed under our contract with the Army and that the use ighf® security was not prohibited under the LogCAP Il contréct.
June 2010, we filed motions to dismise ttomplaint and in October 2010, the DOJ filed a motion for partial summary judgment t
which we responded before discovexgcurred. In August 2011, the motions oftbparties were dismisdeand the judge ordered
the case to proceed with discovery witlaltscheduled for late 2012. We contirtoebelieve this complaint is without meritVe
have not adjusted our revenues or aedrany amounts related to this matter.

Other Matters

Claims. Included in receivables in our consolidated balanestshare unapproved claims for costs incurred under various
government contracts totaling $161 million at December 31, 20&hich $110 million is included in “Accounts receivable” and
$51 million is included in “Unbilled receivables on uncompletedt@cts.” Unapproved claimslag to contracts where oursts
have exceeded the customer’s funded value of the task ofides. $110 million of unapprovedaims included in Accounts
receivable results primarily from de-obligdtfunding on certain task orders that wals subject to Form 1's relating tortzgn
DCAA audit issues discussed above. We beligwch disputed costs will be resolvedin favor at which time the customer Wil
be required to obligate funds from appiiafions for the year in which resolutiarccurs. The remaining unapproved claims
balance of approximately $51 million primarily represents costs/fich incremental funding is pending in the normal coufse o
business. The majority of costs in this category are normatiged within several months aftéhe costs are incurred. The
unapproved claims outstanding at December 31, 2011 are constdebed probable of collection and have been previously
recognized as revenue.

Note 10. Other Commitments and Contingencies
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) investigations

In February 2009, KBR LLC, entered a guifilea to violations of th€ CPA in the United States District Court, Southern
District of Texas, Houston Dision (the “Court”), related to the Bonny Islandéstigation. KBR LLC pled guilty to one couoft
conspiring to violate the FCPA and fouounts of violating the FCPA, all arising frothe intent to bribe various Nigerian
government officials through commissions paid to agents wgrkin behalf of TSKJ on the Bonny Island project. The plea
agreement reached with the DOJ resolved all criminal charghs IDOJ’s investigation and called for the payment of a crimina
penalty of $402 million, of which Halliburton was obligated gay $382 million under the terms of the Master Separation
Agreement (“MSA”), while we were obligated to pay $20 millioim addition, we settled a civil enforcement action by the SEC
which called for Halliburton and KBR, jointland severally, to make payments toigl$177 million, all of which was payableg b
Halliburton pursuant to the indemnification under the MSA. ABetember 31, 2010, all criminal and civil penalties to the DOJ
and SEC were paid. We also agreed to a period of orgamabgimbation, during which we retained a monitor who assessed our
compliance with the plea agreement and evaluated our FCPAlianogprogram over a three year period that ended on February
17, 2012, with periodic reports to the DOJ and SEC during the yleageperiod. Pursuant to thiea agreementith the DOJ ad
the consent judgment with the SEC, the monitor has eettithat KBR’s current anti-corruption compliance program is
appropriately designed and inephented to ensure compliance with the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws.

In addition to the DOJ and SEC investigations, the U.Kio8e Fraud Office (“SFO”) anducted an investigation of
activities by current antbrmer employees of M.W. Kelloggimited (“MWKL") regarding the Bnny Island project. During the
investigation, MWKL self-reported to the SR corporate liability for corruption-reled offenses arising out of the Bonrgjaind
project and entered into a plea negatiatprocess under the “Attorney General’'s @liites on Plea Discussions in Cases of
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Serious and Complex Fraud” issued by the Attorney GerieraEngland and Wales. In February 2011, MWKL reached a
settlement with the SFO in which the SFO accepted that MWKLmabparty to any unlawful conduct and assessed a civil penalty
of approximately $11 million inalding interest and reimbursement of certain cadtthe investigation. The settlement terms
included a full release of all claims against MWKL, its current and former parent companies, subsidiaries and other tiegted par
including their respective current or former officers, direcmmsl employees with respect the Bonny Island project. At
December 31, 2010, we recorded a liability to the SFO of $llibmincluded in “Other current liabilities” in our consoliddte
balance sheet which was paid during the first quarter of 2@de to the indemnity from Halliburton under the MSA, we
recognized a receivable from Halliburton of approximately $6 milliotDine to former parent, net” in our consolidated balance
sheet which was paid by Halliburton in the second quarter of 2011.

In addition, Halliburton settled corruption allegation claims dsdeby the Federal Government of Nigeria in late 2010 agains
Halliburton, KBR, and TSKJ Nigeria Limited. The settlement provided a complete release to KBR and all of its affiliates and
related companies in connection waéthy liability for matters related the Bonny Island project in Nigeria.

With the settlement of the DOJ, SEC, SFO and Nigerian iigaismns, all known investigations in the Bonny Island project
have been concluded. We are not aware of any other comugitegations against us by governmental authorities in foreign
jurisdictions.

Commercial Agent Fees

We have both before and after the sefpamafrom our former parent used comniat@agents on some of our large-scale
international projects to assist in understanding customer rleedscontent requirements, vandselection criteria and presses
and in communicating information from us redjag our services and pricing. Priordeparation, it was identified by our fioer
parent in performing its investigation ahti-corruption activities that certain tifese agents may have engaged in activitiat
were in violation of anti-corruption laws at that time and the terms of their agent agreements with us. Accordingly, esshdve c
the receipt of services from and payment of fees to these adess for these agents are included in the total estimatetbco
these projects at their mpletion. In connection with actions taken by U&vernment authorities, we have removed certain
unpaid agent fees from the total estimated costs in the periodiehaibtained sufficient evidence to conclude such agerdsicle
violated the terms of their contracts with us. In 2009, weaed project cost estimates $%1 million as a result of makirguch
determinations. In September 2010, we atet a final settlement agreement with one of our agents in question after theagent
reviewed and approved under our policies orifass conduct. Under the terms of thitlement agreementhe agent had, amgn
other things, confirmed their understanding of and compliante KBR'’s policies on busines®rduct and represented that they
have complied with anti-corruption laws as they relate tar geovices provided to KBR. We negotiated final payment fortiees
this agent on several projects in our Hydrocarbons segmsulting in an overall reduction of estimated project costs of
approximately $60 million in 2010. We released the remaiaigegnt fee accruals in 2011 oretBonny Island project which
resulted in an increase of $4 million to operating income.

Barracuda-Caratinga Poject Arbitration

In June 2000, we entered into a contract with Barra&daaratinga Leasing Comparg.V., the project owner and
claimant, to develop the Barracuda and @aga crude oilfields, which are located off the coast of Brazil. Petrobras is a
contractual representative that controls finoject owner. In November 2007, wesettted a settlement agment with the preft
owner to settle all outstandinggpect issues except for the bodtbitration discussed below.

At Petrobras’ direction, we replaced certain bolts locatethe subsea flowlines thailéd through mid-November 2005,
and we understand that additionaltbdhiled thereafter, which were replacedRstrobras. These faildablts were identifiecy
Petrobras when it conducted inspections of the bolts. In MA@8, Petrobras notified us they submitted this matter taaibit
claiming $220 million plus interest for the cost of monitoring eeplacing the defective stud bolts and, in addition, alhefcosts
and expenses of the arbitration including the cost of atterrfegs. The arbitration was conducted in New York under the
guidelines of the United Nations CommissmmInternational Trade Law (“UNCITRAL").

In September 2011, the arbitration panel awarded the claiapproximately $193 million.The damages awarded were
based on the panel's estimateréplace all subsea bolisicluding those that did not manifdsteaks, as well as legal anther
costs incurred by the claimant in the arbitration and interestdin since the date of the award. The panel rejected aumemg
and the case law relied upon by us, that we were only liablmftr that were discovered @ broken prior to the expiratiof the
warranty period that ended on June 30, 2006. As of Decedih@011, we have recorded a liability of $197 million, including
interest, to Petrobras for the failed bolts which is includé®ther current liabilities.” The liability incurred by us aonnection
with the arbitration is covered by an indemnity from our farnparent, Halliburton. Accomgly, we have recorded an
indemnification receivable from Halliburton of $197 million pursutmthe indemnification under the MSA which is included in
“Other current assets” as of December 31, 2011. The aidnitraward payable to Petrobras will be deductible for tax purposes
when paid. The indemnification payment will be treated ByRKor tax purposes as a contritmn to capital and accordingly it
taxable. Consequently, the arbitration ruling resulted texxebenefit during 2011 of $69 million. Halliburton has direaisdo
challenge the arbitration award lasing defective or outside the jurisdictiontloé arbitration panel. This challenge wasdiin the
United States District Court for the Southdistrict of New York on December 16, 201We will continue to be responsiblerfo
all ongoing legal costs associated with this matter. If thdesig® to the arbitration award is successful and the awasableaip
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Petrobras is either reduced or reversed fature period, we would reverse the tetbtax benefit previously recognized asharge
to income as tax expense in that period. As of Decemb&031, we do not believe there are any legal limitations on olityabi
to recover the full amount of the cash &dtion award and we intend to assert dghts under the indemnity agreement with
Halliburton.

FAO Litigation

In April 2001, our subsidiary, MWKL, entered into lump-seontracts with Fina Antwerp Olefins (FAO), a joint venture
between ExxonMobil and Total, to perform EB&vices for FAO’s revammad expansion of an existing olefins plant in Belgium.
The contracts had an initial value of ampgmately €113 million. Upon execution of thentracts, MWKL wagonfronted with a
multitude of changes and issues on the project resulting infisagrti cost overruns and schedule delays. The project was
completed in October 2003. In 2005, after unsuccessful attempisgage FAO in negotiations settle MWKL's outstanding
claims, MWKL filed suit against FAO in the Commercial CourtAsftwerp, Belgium, seeking to recover amounts for rejected
change requests, disruption, schedule dedagsother items. MWKL sought the appoient of a court expert to determine the
technical aspects of the disputes betwienparties upon which the judge could rédy allocating liabiity and determininghe
final amount of MWKL's claim against FAOFAO filed a counterclaim in 2006 claiming recovery of additional costs for various
matters including, among others, projectnagement, temporary offices, security, fioeng costs, deficient work items and
disruption of activities some of which weligee is either barred by the language in the contract or has not been adequately
supported. Although the court expert hssuied several preliminary reports whickpgort our claim receivable, a final repbes
yet to be issued that addresses the full value of KBR’s claifescurrently expect the court expert to release a final re@pdtine
2012. We do not believe we face a risksighificant loss associated with the vabfehe claim receivable recorded on oatdnce
sheets or FAQ'’s counterclaims. As of December 31, 2011, no amounts have been accrued related to the counterclaim.

Environmental

We are subject to numerous environmerital, and regulatory gaiirements related to our ap#ions worldwide. In the
United States, these laws and regulatioctude, among others: the Comprehensimgibnmental Response, Compensation, and
Liability Act; the Resources @servation and Recovery Act; the Clean Air Abe Federal Water Pollution Control Act; and the
Toxic Substances Control Act. In additito federal and state lawsd regulations, other countriagiere we do business dfte
have numerous environmental regulatory nemuents by which we must abide iretmormal course of our operations. These
requirements apply to our business segmeifitsre we perform construction and indisdtmaintenance services or operate and
maintain facilities.

We continue to monitor conditions at sites owned or prelyjomsned and until further information is available, we are
only able to estimate a possible rangeesfiediation costs. These locations weimarily utilized for manufacturing or fabdation
work and are no longer in operation. The ab¢hese facilitiesreated various environmental issuncluding deposits of nads,
volatile and semi-volatile compounds, and hydrocarbons impastirface and subsurface soils and groundwater. The range of
remediation costs could change dependimgour ongoing site analysis and the timiand techniques used to implement
remediation activities. We do not expect costs related tor@maental matters will have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position or results @berations. Based on the information prely available to us, we have accrued
approximately $7 million for the assessment and remediation csisiated with all environmental matters, which represéats t
low end of the range of estimated possiblestsit could be as much as $11 million.

We have been named as a potentiallgpomsible party (“PRP”) ivarious clean-up actionskien by federal and state

agencies in the U.S. Based on the est@ges of these actions, &we unable to determine whethvee will ultimately be deeed
responsible for any costs asided with tlese actions.
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Leases

We are obligated under operating leasescjpaily for the use of land, officesgeipment, field facilies, and warehouses.
We recognize minimum rental expenses ovetehm of the lease. When a lease corgta fixed escalation of the minimum rent
rent holidays, we recognize the related rent expense on ghstiae basis over the lease teamd record the difference laten
the recognized rental expense and the amqayable under the lease asedeed lease credits. Weave certain leases forfiok
space where we receive allowances for leasehold improvements. We capitalize these leasehold improvements as property, plant,
and equipment and deferred leasedits. Leasehold improvemeiee amortized over the shorter of their economic useful dves
the lease term. Total rent expense $a45 million, $165 million, and $233 million #011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.tUfa
total rental payments on noncancelable operating leases are as follows:

Future rental

Millions of dollars payments
2012 $ 76
2013 $ 70
2014 $ 64
2015 $ 61
2016 $ 57
Beyond 2016 $ 470

Eldridge Park | Building Lease.On September 30, 2010, we executed aeleggeement for office space located in
Houston, Texas for the purpose of expanding our leased offimee. The non-cancelable lease term expires on December 31,
2018. The lease term includes a rent holiday from the begjrofithe lease through December 31, 2011; and a total combined
leasehold improvement allowance of $4 million. Annual baesd, excluding termination fees, based on currently planned

occupancy ranges from $1.6 million to $1.8 million.

In February 2010, we executed two keaamendments for office space located in two separate office buildings in
Houston, Texas for the purpose of signifitarexpanding our current leased office spand to extend the original term oéth
leases to June 30, 2030. These
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Note 11. Income Taxes
The components of the provision (bat)dbr income taxes are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010 2009
Current income taxes:
Federal $ 19 $ 56 $ 3)
Foreign 183 118 99
State 3 3 7
Total current 205 177 103
Deferred income taxes:
Federal (110) 15 (39)
Foreign (62) 2) 105
State (1) — (1)
Total deferred (173) 14 65
Provision for income taxes $ 32 $ 191 $ 168

The United States and foreign components of income fromtinuing operations before income taxes and noncontrolling

interests were as follows:

Years ended December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010 2009
United States $ 12 105 $ (128)
Foreign 560 481 660
Total $ 572 % 586 $ 532

The reconciliations between the actual provision fornmedaxes on continuing operais and that computed by

applying the United States statutory rate to income fronmiraging operations before income taxes and non
as follows:

Years ended December 31,

controlling intexests

2011 2010 2009

U.S. statutory federal rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Rate differentials on foreign earnings (3.8) (2.9) (2.3)
Non-deductible expenses — — 0.4
State and local income taxes 0.4 0.2 0.9
Prior year foreign, federal and state taxes (6.0) 2.1 (2.0)
Barracuda arbitration award indemnification (12.1) — —
Australian joint venture (5.6) — —
Valuation allowance (1.4) 0.2 1.7
Taxes on unincorporated joint ventures (2.8) (2.6) (2.0)
Other permanent items, net 0.9 0.6 (1.2)
Total effective tax rate on pretax earnings 5.6% 32.6% 31.5%
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We generally do not provide U.S. federal and state income taxes on the accumulated but undistributed earnings of non-
United States subsidiaries except for certain entities in Mexicbcertain other joint ventureBaxes are provided as necays
with respect to earnings thateaconsidered not permanently reinvested. Footér non-U.S. subsidiaries, no U.S. taxes are
provided because such earnings are intended to be reinvested indefinitely to finance foreign activities. These accumulated but
undistributed foreign earnings could be subject to additional texnitted, or deemed remitted, as a dividend. Determinafitime
amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. incame liability is not practicable; howevethe potential foreign tax credit assdeih
with the deferred income would be available to reduce the resulting U.S. tax liabilities.

KBR is subject to a tax sharing agreemprimarily covering periods prior to ¢hApril 2007 separation from Halliburton.
The tax sharing agreement provides, in pdrat KBR will be responsibléor any audit settlements directly attributable ® it
business activity for periods prior to its separation from HalldsurtAs of December 31, 2011, we have recorded a $45 millio
payable to Halliburton for tax related itemunder the tax sharing agreement. See N6téor further discussion related torou
transactions with Halliburton.

The primary components of our deferred é&asets and liabilities artde related valuation alleances are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010
Gross deferred tax assets:
Depreciation and amortization $ 7% 11
Employee compensation and benefits 183 159
Construction contract accounting 131 109
Loss carryforwards 49 63
Insurance accruals 29 30
Allowance for bad debt 11 11
Accrued liabilities 48 23
Barracuda arbitration award indemnification 71 —
Other 29 4
Total $ 558 % 410
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Construction contract accounting $ 92) $ (104)
Intangibles (40) (39)
Depreciation and amortization (27) (16)
Deferred foreign tax credit carryforward (12) (8)
Other (37) (95)
Total $ (207) $ (262)
Valuation Allowances:
Loss carryforwards (25) (32)
Net deferred income tax asset $ 326 $ 116

At December 31, 2011, we had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $150 million of which $79 million
will expire by 2021and $71 million can be carried forward indefinitely.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, our valuation allowance decreased from $32 million to $25 million primarily as a
result of changes in our estimate of the amount of our neatipfosses in certain foreigmcations that expired duringeatyear or
that we do not believe we will be able to utilize.

KBR is the parent of a group of domestic companies that amboers of a U.S. consolidated federal income tax return. We
also file income tax returns in various states and foreiggdjations. With few exceptionsye are no longer subject to examtion
by tax authorities for U.S. federal or gta&nd local income tax for years befof#@, or for non-U.S. income tax for yeaesfdre
1998.
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We account for uncertain tax positioims accordance with guidance in FASBSC 740 which prescribes the minimum
recognition threshold a tax position taken wpexcted to be taken in a tax returméguired to meet befe being recognizeih the
financial statements. A renciliation of the beginning and ending amoahtincertain tax posons is as follows:

Millions of dollars 2011 2010 2009
Balance at January 1 $ 95 $ 41 $ 22
Increases in tax positions for current year 37 64 —
Increases in tax positions for prior years 11 — 24
Decreases in tax positions for prior year (5) 9) 3)
Reductions in tax positions for audit settlements @) — )
Reductions in tax positions fetatute expirations (11) — —
Other — (1) —
Balance at December 31 $ 120 $ 95 $ 41

The total amount of uncertain tax positions that, if recogniremlld affect our effective tax rate was approximately
$105 million as of December 31, 2011. The difference betweeartiosint and the amounts reflected in the tabular recormiliati
above relates primarily to deferred Uf€deral and non-U.S. income tax benefitsumcertain tax positions related to U.Sddeal
and non-U.S. income taxes. In the next twelve monthsréaisonably possible that our uncertain tax positions could clnge
approximately $33 million due to the expirations of the statute of limitations.

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncetdxinpositions within the provision for income taxes in our
consolidated statement of income. As of December 31, 20120®] we had accrued approximately $20 million and $23 million,
respectively, in interest angknalties. During the year ended December 311,2PQ10 and 2009, we aegnized approximately
$4 million, $10 million and $1 million, respectively in net interest and penalties charges related to uncertain tax positions.

As of December 31, 2011, the uncertain tax positions and acitrigzdst and penalties were not expected to be settled
within one year and therefore are classified in noncurrentriactax payable. Increases tax positions for 2011 includes
approximately $31 million related to balance sheet reclassifications from tax-related liability accounts and therefoheeidamot
impact on the effective tax rate in 2011. The remaining #&®mof increase in 2011 relates primarily to uncertain tax tps
that were not previously accrued andnsequently, had an unfavorable impatbur effective tax rate in 2011.
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Note 12. Shareholders’ Equity

The following tables summarize our shareholders’ equity activity:

Paid-in Accumulated
Capital in Other
Excessof Retained Treasury Comprehensive  Noncontrolling
Millions of dollars Total Earnings Stock Income (Loss) Interests
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 2,034 $ 2,091 $ 596 (196) $ (439) $ (18)
Stock-based compensation 17 17 — — — —
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options 2 2 — — — —
Tax benefit decrease related to stock-based plans (@) ©) — — — —
Dividends declared to shareholders 32) — 32) — — —
Repurchases of common stock (31) — — (31) — —
Issuance of ESPP shares 2 — — 2 — —
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (66) — — — — (66)
Investments by noncontrolling interests 12 — — — — 12
Comprehensive income:
Net income 364 — 290 — — 74
Other comprehensive income, net of tax (provision):
Cumulative translation adjustment 18 — — — 15 3
Pension liability adjustment, net of tax of $(5) (15) — — — (18) 3
Other comprehensive gains (losses) on derivatives:
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives 3) — — — 3) —
Reclassification adjustments to net income (loss) 1 — — — 1 —
Comprehensive income, total 365
Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 2,296 $ 2,103 $ 854 $ (225) $ (444) $ 8
Stock-based compensation 17 17 — — — —
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options 5 5 — — — —
Dividends declared to shareholders (23) — (23) — — —
Adjustment pursuant to tax sharing agreement with
former parent (8) 8) — — — —
Repurchases of common stock (233) — — (233) — —
Issuance of ESPP shares 3 — 1) 4 — —
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (108) — — — — (108)
Investments by noncontrolling interests 17 — — — — 17
Acquisition of noncontrolling interests (181) (136) — — (19) (26)
Consolidation of Fasttrax Limited 4) — — — — 4)
Other noncontrolling interests activity (1) — — — — 1)
Comprehensive income:
Net income 395 — 327 — — 68
Other comprehensive income, net of tax (provision):
Net cumulative translation adjustment 5 — — — 3 2
Pension liability adjustment, net of tax of $4 24 — — — 22 2
Other comprehensive gains (losses) on derivatives:
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives 2 — — — 2 —
Reclassification adjustments to net income (loss) 1) — — — (1) —
Income tax benefit (provision) on derivatives Q) — — — 1) —
Comprehensive income, total 424
Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 2204 $ 1,981 $ 1,157 $ (454) $ (438) $ (42)
Stock-based compensation 19 19 — — — —
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options 7 7 — — — —
Post-closing adjustment related to acquisition of former
NCI partner 5) 5) — — — —
Tax benefit increase related to stock-based plans 3 3 —_ — —_ —
Dividends declared to shareholders (30) — (30) — — —
Repurchases of common stock (118) — — (118) — —
Issuance of ESPP shares 3 — — 3 —_ —
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (63) — — — — (63)
Other noncontrolling interests activity ) — — — — )
Comprehensive income:
Net income 540 — 480 — — 60
Other comprehensive income, net of tax (provision):
Cumulative translation adjustment (29) — — — (18) 1)
Pension liability adjustment, net of tax of $(32) (89) — — — (89) —
Other comprehensive gains (losses) on derivatives 3) — — — 3) —
Comprehensive income, total 429
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 2,442 $ 2,005 $ 1,607 $ (569) $ (548) $ (53)
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Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010 2009
Cumulative translation adjustments $ (70) $ (52) $ (54)
Pension liability adjustments 471) (382) (386)
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives (7) (4) (4)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (548) $ (438) $ (444)

Accumulated comprehensive loss for years ended Decedihe011, 2010 and 2009 include approximately $16 million,
$14 million, and $8 million for the amortization of actuarial loss, net of taxes.

Shares of common stock

Millions of shares and dollars Shares Amount
Balance at December 31, 2009 171 $ —
Common stock issued — —
Balance at December 31, 2010 171 —
Common stock issued 1 —
Balance at December 31, 2011 172 $ —

Shares of treasury stock

Millions of shares and dollars Shares Amount
Balance at December 31, 2009 10 $ 225
Treasury stock acquired, net of ESPP shares issued 10 229
Balance at December 31, 2010 20 454
Treasury stock acquired, net of ESPP shares issued 4 115
Balance at December 31, 2011 24 $ 569
Dividends

We declared dividends totaling $30 million in 2011 and $23 million in 2010. As of December 31, 2011, we had accrued
dividends payable g§7 million.

Note 13. Stock-based Compesation and Incentive Plans
Stock Plans

In 2011, 2010, and 2009 stock-based compensation aweeds granted to emplegs under KBR stock-based
compensation plans.

KBR 2006 Stock and Incentive Plan

In November 2006, KBR established the KBR 2006 Stock arehlive Plan (KBR 2006 Plan) which provides for the grant
of any or all of the following types of stock-based awards:

X  stock options, including incentive stooptions and nonqualified stock options;
X  stock appreciation rights, in tandewith stock options or freestanding;

X restricted stock;

X restricted stock units;

x cash performance awards; and

X  stock value equivalent awards.
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Under the terms of the KBR 2006 Plan, 10 million shares of camstock have been reserved for issuance to employees and
non-employee directors. The plan specified tito more than 3.5 million shares can be awarded as restricted stock or destricte
stock units or pursuant to cash perfanoe awards. At December 31, 2011, approximately 4.2 million shares were available for
future grants under the KBR 2006 Plan, of which approximat8lyn@lion shares remained available for restricted stock awards

restricted stock unit awards.

KBR Stock Options

Under KBR’s 2006 Plan, effective as of thesihg date of the KBR initial public offiag, stock options are granted with an
exercise price not less than the fair market value of the corstook on the date of the grant and a term no greater thagaif. y
The term and vesting periods are established at the discodtitie Compensation Committee at the time of each grant. We
amortize the fair value of the stock options over the vegignipd on a straight-line basis. Options are granted from shares
authorized by our board of directors. Total number of stodkmpgranted and the assumptions used to determine the tarofal

granted options were as follows:

Years ended December 31,

KBR stock options assumptions summary 2011 2010

Granted stock options (millions of shares) 0.6 0.8

Weighted average expected term (in years) 6.2 6.5

Weighted average grant-date fair value per share $ 16.78 $ 9.49

Years ended December 31,
KBR stock options range assumptions summary 2011 2010
Range Range
Start End Start End

Expected volatility range 4401 % 53.17 % 4491 % 48.03 %
Expected dividend yield range 052% 079 % 0.74 % 0.95 %
Risk-free interest rate range 122% 276 % 1.76 % 2.84 %

For KBR stock options granted in 2011, 2010 and 2009, the faie wdloptions at the date of grant was estimated using the
Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model. The expected volatfit{BR options granted in each year is based upon a blended
rate that uses the historical and imphedatility of common stock foKBR and selected peers. The expected term of KBR roptio
granted in each year is based upon theame=of the life of the option and the vesting period of the option. The simpkfiedate
of expected term is utilized as we lack sufficient history tonege an expected term for KBR options. The estimated dididen
yield is based upon KBR’s annualized dividend rate divided éyrtarket price of KBR’s stock on the option grant date. The ri
free interest rate is based upon the yield of US governissured treasury bills or notes on the option grant date.

The following table presents stock optiagranted, exercised, forfeited andoerd under KBR stock-based compensation
plans for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Exercise Price  Term Value (in
KBR stock options activity summary Number of Shares per Share (years) millions)
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 2,948,646 $ 15.29 6.84 $ 4477
Granted 641,914 36.26
Exercised (517,974) 14.12
Forfeited (129,488) 23.91
Expired (42,899) 15.65
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 2,900,199 $ 19.75 6.75 $ 28.58
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 1,538,278 $ 14.62 5.26 $ 20.38

The total intrinsic values of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 were $10 million,
$4 million, and $1 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2011, there was $10 million of unrecognized compensatidn cost, ne
of estimated forfeitures, related to non-vested KBR stock optexpected to be recognized over a weighted average period of
approximately 1.92 years. Stock option compensation egpeas $7 million in 2011, $5 million in 2010, and $4 million in 2009
Total income tax benefit recognized in net income forkstiased compensation arrangements was $2 million in 2011 and 2010,

and $1 million in 2009.
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KBR Restricted stock

Restricted shares issued under the KBR’'s 2006 Plan are ezbtdstto sale or dispositi. These restrictions lapse
periodically over an extended period of timet exceeding 10 years. Restrictions may also lapse for early retirement and other
conditions in accordance with our established policies. Upanirtation of employment, shares which restrictions have not
lapsed must be returned to us, resulting in restricted stofitémes. The fair market value of the stock on the date oft gsa
amortized and ratably charged to incomerdkie period during which the restrictionp$a on a straight-line basis. For aveawdth
performance conditions, an evaluation is madeh quarter as to the likelihood oé therformance criteria being met. Stocledxd
compensation is then adjusted to reflect the number of shares expected to vest and the cumulative vesting period met to date.

The following table presents the restricgtdck awards and restricted stock ugitanted, vested, and forfeited during 2011
under KBR’s 2006 Stock and Incentive Plan.

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Number of Fair Value
Restricted stock activity summary Shares per Share
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2010 1,137,443 $ 21.13
Granted 274,948 35.16
Vested (492,473) 21.94
Forfeited (86,420) 24.23
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2011 833,498 $ 24.95

The weighted average grant-date fair value per shareicted KBR shares granted to employees during 2011, 2010, and
2009 were $35.16, $21.28, and $12.34, respalyti Restricted stock compensatiexpense was $12 million for 2011 and 2010,
and $13 million for 2009. Total income tax benefit recognizedehincome for stock-basemmpensation arrangements was
$4 million in 2011 and 2010, and $5 million in 2009. Asécember 31, 2011, there was $15 million of unrecognized
compensation cost, net of estimated forfeig related to KBR’s nonvested restricidck and restricted stock units, whish
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period pé&€ The total fair value of shares vested was $16 miltion i
2011, $13 million in 2010, and $12 million in 2009 based on the weigiwehge fair value on theesting date. The total fair
value of shares vested was $11 million in 2011, $12 millio20ib0, and $15 million in 2009 based on the weighted-average fair
value on the date of grant.

KBR Cash Performance Based Award i (“Cash Performance Awards”)

Under KBR’s 2006 Plan, for Cash Performance Awards giaintéhe year 2011 performance is based 100% on average
Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”), as compared to the avaiageof KBR's peers. For Cash Performance Awards granted in the
year 2010, performance is based 75% on average Total ShareRetden (“TSR”), as compared to the average TSR of KBR’s
peers, and 25% on KBR’s Return on Cap{t®#OC”). For awards granted in theear 2009, performance is based 50% on
cumulative TSR, as compared to our peer group and 50% on KBR® The cash performance adiainits may only be paid in
cash. In accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 718-80T8R portion of the performance award units are classified as
liability awards and remeasured at the end of each reportingdpatrifair value until settlement. The fair value approach thee
Monte Carlo valuation method which analyzbee companies comprising KBR’s peer groapnsidering volatily, interest rate,
stock beta and TSR through the grant date. The ROC calcuiatlmased on the company’s weighted average net income from
continuing operations plus (interest expens (1-effective tax rate)), divided by average monthly capital from continuing
operations. The ROC portion of the Cash Performance Award is also classified as a liability award and remeasured at the end of
each reporting period based on our estimate of the amount to be paid at the end of the vesting period.

Under KBR’s 2006 Plan, in 2011, we granted 28.0 milliorfggenance based award units (“Cash Performance Awards”)
with a three-year performance period from January 1, 201Detember 31, 2013. In 2010, we granted 25.2 million Cash
Performance Awards with a three-year performance period f@amoary 1, 2010 to December 31, 2012. In 2009 we granted
20.4 million Cash Performance Awards wétlperformance period from January 1, 200Bécember 31, 2011. Cash Performance
Awards forfeited totaled approximately 6 million in 2011daim 2010, and 4 million in 2009. At December 31, 2011, the
outstanding balance for Cash Performance Award units was @lichmNo Cash Performance Awards will vest until such earned
Cash Performance Awards, if any, are paid, subject to appbtred performance results by the certification committee.

Cost for the Cash Performance Awards is accrued over the requisite service period. For the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, we recognized $34 milliomi#izé, and $30 million, respectively, in expense for thaslCa
Performance Awards. The expense associated with these optioctuded in cost of serviceand general and administrative
expense in our consolidated statements of income. The lidbiligwards included in “Employee compensation and benefits” on
the consolidated balance sheet were $52 million at Dece3ih@011 of which $22 million will become due within one year, and
$48 million at December 31, 2010.
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KBR Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)

Under the KBR ESPP, eligible employees may withhold udG® of their earnings, subjeto some limitations, to
purchase shares of KBR’s common stock. Unless KBR’s Boardretiis shall determine otherwjseach six-month offering
period commences at the beginning of February and August ofyeach Employees who participate in the ESPP will receive a
5% discount on the stock price at the end of each sixhmmntchase period. During 2011 and 2010, our employees purchased
approximately 105,000 and 169,000 shares,e@sgely, through the KBR ESPP. Thesargs were reissued from our treasury
share account.

Stock-based compensation

The grant-date fair value of employee share options is estimaieg option-pricing models. If an award is modified after
the grant date, incremental compensation isostcognized immediately fmee the modification. Té benefits of tax deductisnn
excess of the compensation cost recognized for the options¢eraebenefits) are classified as additional paid-in-capital,cash
retained as a result of these excess tax benefits is presetitedsiatement of cash flowsfagancing cash inflows.

Stock-based compensation summary table Years ended December 31
Millions of dollars 2011 2010 2009
Stock-based compensation $ 19 $ 17 $ 17
Total income tax benefit recognizadnet income for stock-based

compensation arrangements $ 6 $ 6 $ 6
Incremental compensation cost $ 1 $ 2 3 1
Tax benefit increase (decrease) related to stock-based plans $ 3 $ $ (7)

Incremental compensation cost resulted from modificationsediquisly granted stock-basewards which allowed certain
employees to retain their awards after leaving the compdfiycess tax benefits realized from the exercise of stock-based
compensation awards has been recognizexdiasin capital in excess of par.

Note 14. Financial Instruments and Risk Management

Foreign currency risk Techniques in managing foreign currency risklude, but are not limited to, foreign currency
investing and the use of currency derivative instruments. Wetsely manage significant expa®s to potential foreign exahge
losses considering current market conditjdogure operating activities and the asatsil cost in relation to the perceivesk of
loss. The purpose of our foreign currency rnisknagement activities is to protect us from the risk that the eventual Uz8.cdalh
flow resulting from the sale and purchase of products and seiwidesesign currencies will be adversely affected by chamges
exchange rates.

We manage our foreign currency exposure through the userrehcy derivative instrumentss it relates to the major
currencies, which are generally the curresocdf the countries in which we do thejonity of our international business. Tlees
contracts generally have an egtion date of two years or less. Forward exchamgeracts, which are commitments to buy et s
a specified amount of a foreign currency at a specified priddiame, are generally used to manage identifiable foreignrayre
commitments. Forward exchange contracts and foreign exchatige opntracts, which conveyahright, but not the obligatioio
sell or buy a specified amount of foreign ety at a specified price, are generalbgd to manage exposures related totassel
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency. None of the &wdvor option contracts are exchange traded. While derivative
instruments are subject to fluctuationssalue, the fluctuations are generallyset by the value of the underlying exposibeing
managed. The use of some cocitsamay limit our ability to benefit from favorihfluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

Foreign currency contracts are not utilizedmanage exposures in some currendigs primarily to the lack of available
markets or cost considerations (non-traded currencies). mpmtto manage our working capital position to minimize foreign
currency commitments in non-traded curres@@&d recognize that pricing for the sees and products offered in these coestri
should cover the cost of exchange rate tmteons. We have historically incurré@dnsaction losses in non-traded currencies.

Assets, liabilities and forecasted cadlow denominated in foreign currenciesWe utilize the derivative instruments
described above to manage the foreign cugrexposures related to specifssets and liabilitieshat are denominated inriggn
currencies; however, we have not elected to account foe theguments as hedges for accounting purposes. Additionally, we
utilize the derivative instruments described above to manageafsted cash flow denominated in foreign currencies generally
related to long-term engineering and comstion projects. Since 2003, we have dedigthdhese contracts related to engimegri
and construction projects as cash flowddpes. The ineffective portion of these hedges is included in operating income in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income. During 2011, 2010 and 2009 no hedge ineffectiveness was recognized.
Unrealized gains and losses include amowttsbutable to cash flow hedges pladeg our consolidated and unconsolidated
subsidiaries and are included in other comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. We had $0 in
unrealized net gains or losses, $2 million in unrealized net gains, and $1 million in unrealized net losses on thesénedghdlow
as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Changedimitig or amount of the future cash flow being hedgeddcoul
result in hedges becoming ineffective and, as a result, the amiuntealized gain or loss associated with that hedge wmild
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reclassified from other comprehensive income into earningBe&ember 31, 2011, the maximum length of time over which we
are hedging our exposure to the variabilityfuture cash flow associated with fare currency forecastettansactions is 46
months.

Notional amounts and fair market valuesThe notional amounts of open forwacdntracts and options held by our
consolidated subsidiaries were $352 million, $403 million, $4@6 million at December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.
The notional amounts of our foreign exchange contracts do notadfgnmepresent amounts exchandsdthe parties, and thusea
not a measure of our exposure or of the cash requirementagdiatihese contracts. The amounts exchanged are calculated by
reference to the notional amounts and by oteans of the derivatives, such as excharajes. These contract assets hadira f
value of $5 million and $6 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Credit risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject us to canatons of credit risk arprimarily cashequivalents,
investments and trade receivables. It is our practice te jplac cash equivalents in tindeposits and high-quality securgiaith
various banks, financial institutions amvéstment managers. We derive the mtgjoof our revenues from engineering and
construction services to the energy industry and servicesdevo the United States govermmheThere are concentrations of
receivables in the United States and the United Kingdom.nVdtain an allowance for losses based upon the expected
collectability of all tade accounts receivable.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk withiadividual counterparty related tr derivative contracts. We
select counterparties based on their profitability, balance sheet and a capacity for timely payment of financial commitiménts wh
unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events.

Interest rate risk.Certain of our unconsolidated subsitia and joint-ventures are exposednterest rate risk through their
variable rate borrowings. This variabkge exposure is managed with interest mtaps. We had unrealized net losses on the
interest rate swaps held by our unconsolidated subsidiandsjoint-ventures of approximately $4 million, $5 million, and
$4 million as of December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.

Fair market value of financial instrumentsThe carrying amount of variable ratng-term debt approximates fair market
value because these instruments reflect stathanges to interest rates. The cagyamount of short-terrfinancial instrumets,
cash and equivalents, receivables, anedaats payable, as reflectedtime consolidated balanceegts, approximates fair niat
value due to the short maturities of theésstruments. The currency derivative instruments are carried on the balance &ieet at
value and are based upon third party quotes.

FASB ASC 820-10 addresses fair value measients and disclosures, defining fealue, establishing a framework for
using fair value to measure assets anbilitees, and expanding disclosas about fair value measments. This standard ajgs
whenever other standards require or peasgets or liabilities to be measuredait value. ASC 820-10 establishes a thiiee-
value hierarchy, categorizing the inputs used to measiuneafae. The hierarchy cdre described as follows:

x Level 1 — Observable inputs such as unadjusted quoted foiddsntical assets or lidlies in active markets.

x Level 2 —Inputs other than the quoted prices in active mata&tsire observable either ditly or indirectly, such as
quoted prices for similar assets or lidglds; quoted prices that are inaictive markets; inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable for the asset or liability; inpdts that are derived principally from or corroborated by
observable market data by correlation or other means.

x Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there is litteno market data, which require the reporting entity to
develop its own assumptions.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are included below:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Total at Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
Millions of dollars 2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
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Note 15. Equity Method Investmens$ and Variable Interest Entities

We conduct some of our operations through joint ventures whichn grartnership, corporatendivided interest and other
business forms and are principally accounted for using the emeitiyod of accounting. Additionally, the majority of our join
ventures are also variable interestit@® which are further described under “Vat&a Interest Entities”. The following ia
description of our significant investments agoted for on the equity method of accounting that are not variable interéssenti

Equity Method Investments

Brown & Root Condor Spa (“BRC”)BRC is a joint venture in which we ownd@% interest. During the third quarter of
2007, we sold our 49% interest and other rights in BRC tot&miafor approximately $24 million resulting in a pre-tax gdin o
approximately $18 million which was included in “Equity in eags (losses) of unconsolidated affiliates” on the consolidated
statements of income. In the fourth quarter of 2008, we fidedrbitration with the ICC in Paris, France in an attempotoef
collection. A final arbitration hearing occurred in January 2Gid.ia May 2011, we received a favorable arbitration awardtwhi
approximates our outstanding accounts recégvahlance. In 2011, we collected the remaining $18 million due from Sonadrach f
the sale of our interest in BRC.

MMM. MMM is a joint venture formed under a Partners Agredmrelated to the Mexicoantract with PEMEX. The
MMM joint venture was set up under Miean maritime law in order to hold navigatipermits to operate in Mexican waters. The
scope of the business is to render servioesnaintenance, repair and restoratadroffshore oil and gas platforms and pgons
of quartering in the territorial wate of Mexico. KBR holds a 50% interest in the MMM joint venture.

Consolidated summarized financial information for all joirdlyned operations including variahieerest entities that are
accounted for using the equity rhetl of accounting is as follows:

Balance Sheets
December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010
Current assets $ 2,151 $ 2,694
Noncurrent assets 3,828 3,949
Total assets $ 5979 $ 6,643
Current liabilities $ 1,111 $ 1,658
Noncurrent liabilities 4,468 4,541
Member’s equity 400 444
Total liabilities and member'squity $ 5979 $ 6,643

Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31,

Millions of dollars 2011 2010 2009

Revenue $ 2,638 $ 2497 $ 2,535
Operating income $ 666 $ 617 $ 221
Net income $ 314 $ 334 $ 63

Unconsolidated VIEs

The following is a summary of the significant variable inteesdities in which we have a significant variable interest, but
we are not the primary beneficiary:

Year ended December 31, 2011

Maximum
Unconsolidated VIEs VIE Total assets VIE Total liabilities exposure to loss
(in millions, except for percentages)
U.K. Road projects $ 1,393 $ 1,520 $ 30
Fermoy Road project $ 228 $ 249 $ 2
Allenby & Connaught project $ 2,954 $ 2,916 $ 37
EBIC Ammonia project $ 693 $ 389 $ 40
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Year ended December 31, 2010
Unconsolidated VIEs VIE Total assets VIE Total liabilities

(in millions, except for percentages

U.K. Road projects $ 1,506 $ 1,531
Fermoy Road project $ 240 $ 269
Allenby & Connaught project $ 2,913 $ 2,885
EBIC Ammonia project $ 604 $ 388

U.K. Road projects.We are involved in four privately financed projeatecuted through joint ventures, to design, build,
operate, and maintain roadways for certain government agendies United Kingdom. We have 25% ownership interest in
each of these joint ventures and account for them usingcthiéy enethod of accounting. The joint ventures have obtained
financing through third parties that is nonrecourse to the yainture partners. These jointr¥eres are variable interesttities;
however, we are not the primary benefigiaf these joint ventures. Our maximuexposure to loss represents our equity
investments in these ventures.

Fermoy Road projectWe participate in a privately fimaed project executed through certiimt ventures formed to design,
build, operate, and maintain a toll roadsiouthern Ireland. The joint venturesrevdunded through debt and were formed with
minimal equity. These joint ventures are variable interestieesn however, we are not the primary beneficiary of the joint
ventures. We have up to a 25% ownership interest in the psgjEot ventures, and we are accounting for these intereisis e
equity method of accounting.

Allenby & Connaught projectin April 2006, Aspire Defence, a joint ventupetween us, Carillion Bl and two financial
investors, was awarded a privately finangedject contract, the Allenby & Connaught project, by the U.K. MoD to upgrade and
provide a range of services to the British Army’s garrison&l@ershot and around Salisbury Plain in the United Kingdom. In
addition to a package of ongoing services to be delivered3®/gears, the project includes a nine-year construction program
improve soldiers’ single livingechnical and administrative asomodations, along with leisueand recreational facilities. gpire
Defence manages the existing properties ianaesponsible for design, refurbishmeodnstruction and integration of new and
modernized facilities. We indirectly own a 45% interest ipifes Defence, the project company that is the holder of the 85-ye
concession contract. In addition, we own a 50% interest in@ago joint ventures that provide the construction and tlatea
support services to Aspire Defence. As of December 31, 20t lperformance through the construction phase is supported by
$57 million in letters of credit. Furthermore, our financiadl grerformance guarantees are joint and several, subject &incert
limitations, with our joint venture partners. The projectusded through equity and subordiraebt provided by the prae
sponsors and the issuance of publicly held senior bonds whidlormecourse to us. The entities we hold an interest inagiagie
interest entities; however, we are not thiengry beneficiary of these #ities. We account for ounterests in each of thentities
using the equity method of accounting. Our maximum exposuwrertsiruction and operating joimenture losses is limited tbe
funding of any future losses incurred by those entities underrdsgiective contracts with the project company. As of Dbeem
31, 2011, our assets and ligkes associated with our invesent in this project, within guconsolidated balance sheet, wer
$22 million and $2 million, respectively. The $35 million differerfeetween our recorded liabilities and aggregate maximum
exposure to loss was primarily related to our equity investsrend $17 million remaining commitment to fund subordinated debt
to the project in the future.

EBIC Ammonia projectWe have an investment in a development corpmrdtiat has an indirect interest in the Egypt Basic
Industries Corporation (“EBIC”) ammonia guit project located in Egypt. We parfed the engineering, procurement and
construction (“EPC”) work for the projechd continue to provide operations and maiatece services for the facility. We own
65% of this development corporation arwhsolidate it for financial reporting purpss The development igoration owns a 25%
ownership interest in a company that aitates the ammonia plant which is considered a variable interest entity. The
development corporation accounts for itgd@stment in the company using the equitythod of accounting. The variable interest
entity is funded through debt and equity. Indebtedness of EBIC itsd#ebt agreement is non-recourse to us. We are not the
primary beneficiary of the variable intereshtity. As of December 31, 2011, owsats and liabilities associated with our
investment in this project, within our consolidated balasteeet, were $60 million and $17 million, respectively. The $2omil
difference between our recorded liabiliti@sd aggregate maximum exposure to loss me&ed to our investment balance and
other receivables in the project as of December 31, 2011.
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Consolidated VIEs

The following is a summary of the significant VIEs where we are the primary beneficiary:

Year ended December 31, 2011

Consolidated VIEs VIE Total assets _ VIE Total liabilities

(in millions, except for percentages)

Fasttrax Limited project $ 103 $ 108
Escravos Gas-to-Liquids project $ 326 $ 381
Pearl GTL project $ 153 $ 146
Gorgon LNG project $ 546 $ 607

Year ended December 31, 2010

Consolidated VIEs VIE Total assets  VIE Total liabilities

(in millions, except for percentages)

Fasttrax Limited project $ 106 $ 112
Escravos Gas-to-Liquids project $ 356 $ 423
Pearl GTL project $ 174 $ 167
Gorgon LNG project $ 347 $ 372

Fasttrax Limited project.Effective January 1, 2010, upon the adoption of the newly issued guidance in FASB ASC 810 —
Consolidation, we determined that we are the primary bengfiofathis project entity because we control the activities rinast
significantly impact economic performance of the entity. Thisabéeiinterest entity, in whiclwe have a 50% ownership inést,
was previously accounted for using the equity method of accounting because no party absorbed the majority of the expected losse
which was the determining factor undee tiuperseded standard. We have applied the requirements of FASB1ASEh a
prospective basis from the date of adoption. Upon consolidatighiofoint venture, consolided current assets increaseg b
$26 million primarily related to cash and equivalents, cons@é@labncurrent assets increased by $89 million related torpyppe
plant and equipment, consolidated current liabilities irsgdady $10 million primarily related to accounts payable, and m@rtu
liabilities increased by $112 million related to the outstandingosebonds and subordinated debt issued to finance the JV’s
operations. No gain or loss was recognized by KBR upon consofidaitithis VIE. Assets cdateralizing the JV’s senior bosd
included cash and equivalents of $21 million and property, @adt.equipment of approximately $80 million, net of accumdlate
depreciation of $38 million as of December 31, 2010. The bonite @PV, being non-recourse to KBR, are shown on the face of
our consolidated balance sheet astiNecourse project-finance debt.”

In December 2001, the Fasttrax Joint Venture (the “JV”) was created to provide to the U.K. MoD a fleet of 92 new heavy
equipment transporters (“HETS”) capalbliecarrying a 72-ton Challenger Il tank. &8V owns, operates and maintains the HET
fleet and provides heavy equipment transportation services ®rifish Army. The purchase of the assets was completed# 20
and the operating and service gauts related to the assets extend through 202&. JV's entity structure includes a parentity
and its 100%-owned subsidiary, Fasttrax Ltd (the “SPV"BRKand its partner own each 50% of the parent entity.

The JV's purchase of the assets was funded through thencsswof several series guateed secured bonds totaling
approximately £84.9 million issued by the SPV including £12.2 enilivhich was replaced in 2005 when the shareholders funded
combined equity and subordinated debt of approximately £aRlidn. The bonds are guaranteed by Ambac Assurance U.K. Ltd
under a policy that guarantees the scheduleriotiple and interest payments t@thond trustee in the event of non-paynignt
Fasttrax. The total amount of non-recourse project-financeadebtVIE consolidated by KBR isummarized in the following
table. Assets collateralizing the JV's senior bonds include aad equivalents of $23 milli@nd property, plant, and equipnt of
approximately $75 million, net of accumulated depreciation of $45 million as of December 31, 2011.

Consolidated amount of non-recase project-finance debt of a VIE

Millions of Dollars December 31, 2011
Current non-recourse project-finance deba VIE consolidated by KBR $ 10
Noncurrent non-recourse project-financétdef a VIE consolidated by KBR $ 88
Total non-recourse project-finance debt of a VIE consolidated by KBR $ 98
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The guaranteed secured bonds were issued in two classesicgref Class A 3.5% Index Linked Bonds in the amount of
£56 million and Class B 5.9% Fixed Rate Bonds in the amouBt6f7 million. Principal payments on both classes of bonds
commenced in March 2005 and are due in semi-annual installovgtshe term of the bonds which end in 2021. Subordinated
notes payable to the 50% partner initially bear interedtl&25% increasing to 16% over the term of the note through 2025.
Payments on the subordinated debt commentétiarch 2006 and are due in semi-annuatatiments over the term of the note.
The following table summarizes the combined principal instaits for both classes of bondsd subordinated notes, including
inflation adjusted bond indexation over the nex¢fyears and beyond as of December 31, 2011:

Millions of pounds Debt Payments
2012 £ 6
2013 £ 6
2014 £ 6
2015 £ 6
2016 £ 6
Beyond 2016 £ 33

Escravos Gas-to-Liquids (“GTL") project. During 2005, we formed a joint ven&rto engineer and construct a gas
monetization facility. We own 50% equity interest in the joint venture and determined that we are the primary beneficiasy which
consolidated for financial reporting purpos@ere are no consolidated assets twdtateralize the joint venture’s obligatis.
However, at December 31, 2011 and 2018,jtint venture had approximately $119 million and $84 million of cash, respectively,
which mainly relate to advanced billings in connectidtihhe joint venture’s obligations under the EPC contract.

Pearl GTL project. In July 2006, we were awarded, through a 50%@emvjoint venture, a contract with Qatar Shell GTL
Limited to provide project management atust-reimbursable engineeringocurement and construmii management services for
the Pearl GTL project in Ras Laffan, Qatar. The project, wivigh substantially complete as Décember 31, 2011, consists of
gas production facilities and a GTL plant. The joint ventureissidered a VIE. We consolidate the joint venture for firnc
reporting purposes because wetheeprimary beneficiary.

Gorgon LNG project.We have a 30% ownership in an Australian jointtuee which was awarded a contract by Chevron for
cost-reimbursable FEED and EPCM\ees to construct a LNG plant. The joint venture is considered a VIE, and, as a result of
our being the primary beneficiamye consolidate this joint ventufer financial reporting purposes.

Note 16. Transactions with Former Parent

Historically, all transactions between Iiaurton and KBR were recorded as aneirtompany payable or receivable. In
2005, Halliburton contributed $300 million of the intercompany hmdan KBR equity in the form of a capital contribution. The
remaining portion of the intercompany balance owed to Hattibuwas converted to Subordindtentercompany Notes in the
amount of $774 million. In connection with our initial public oifg in November 2006 and the separation of our business from
Halliburton, we entered into various agmeents, including, among others, a mastgrasgion agreement, transition services
agreements, a tax sharing agreement, and mauegpa in full on the $774 million notes payable.

Pursuant to our master separation agreement, we agrigettbonify Halliburton for, amongther matters, all past, present
and future liabilities related to our business and operationsaieed to indemnify Halliburton for liabilities under various
outstanding and certain additional credit support instrumelasnge to our businesses and for liabilities under litigaticatters
related to our business. Halliburton agreed to indemnify msafoong other things, liabilitiesnrelated to our business, fogrtain
other agreed matters relating to the investigation of FCPAreated corruption allegations and the Barracuda-Caratingacproje
and for other litigation matters related to Halliburton’s busine See Note 10. Under th®nsition services agreements,
Halliburton provided various interim corporate support services @nd we provided various interim corporate support sertice
Halliburton. The tax sharing agreement provides for certain silbmsaof U.S. income tax lialities and other agreements Wwetn
us and Halliburton with spect to tax matters.

As of December 31, 2011, “Due to former parent, net$ wpproximately $53 million and was comprised primarily of
estimated amounts owed to Halliburton under the tax sharirepmgnt for income taxes. Our estimate of amounts due to
Halliburton under the tax sharing agreement was approximately $45 million at December 31, 2011 and relates to income tax
adjustments paid by Halliburton subsequenbur separation that wedirectly attributable to us, primarily for the yearsnfr@001
through 2006. The remaining balance of $8 million included in “@uUermer parent, net” as of December 31, 2011 is assdciate
with various other amounts payable to Hallibartrising under the other separation agreements.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, Halliburton provided r@téaid demanded payment for sfgraintly greater amounts that

it alleges are owed by us under the taxisigaagreement for various other tax-rethteansactions pertaining to periods ptio our
separation from Halliburton. We believe that the amount in theadd is invalid based on our int@l assessment of Halliburis
methodology for computing the claim. Basedadvice from internal and external legaunsel, we do not lieve that Hallibuton
has a legal entittement to payment of theoant in the demand. However, althoughlvetieve we haveppropriately accrued fo
amounts owed to Halliburton based on our interpretation otakesharing agreement, there may be changes to the amounts
ultimately paid to or received from Halliburton undee tax sharing agreement upon final settlement.
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Included in “Other assets” is an income tax receivabippfoximately $18 million related to a foreign tax credit generated

as a result of a final settlement we p&ida foreign taxing authority in 2011 fordisputed tax matter that arose prior tar o
separation from Halliburton. In order taath the tax credit, we requested, and Hallibnragreed to and did file an amendg®.
Federal tax return for the period in which the disputed &iliiy arose. However, Hallibton notified us during the fourttuarter

of 2011 that it does not intend to remit to us the refund receivembe received by Halliburton as a result of the amenstad.
KBR disputes Halliburton’s position on this matter and beligvéss legal entittement to the $18 million refund. We intend
vigorously pursue collection of this amount and certain othexconded counterclaims. The timin§ultimate resolution of #se
matters will depend in part on future dission with Halliburton, which if not fitful, could lead to arbitration under thertns of

the separation agreements.

As discussed above under “Barracuda-CagatiProject Arbitration,” we have recex an indemnification receivable due
from Halliburton of approximately $197 millioassociated with our estineat liability in the boltsmatter which is included in
“Other current assets” as of December 31, 2011.

Note 17. Retirement Plans
We have various plans that cover our esypks. These plans include defined coution plans and defined benefit plans.

x  Our defined contribution plans provide retirement bendfitseturn for services rendered. These plans provide an
individual account for each participant and have terms tleaifgghow contributions to the participant’s account are to
be determined rather than tamount of pension benefits the participartbiseceive. Contributigs to these plans are
based on pretax income and/or disiomary amounts determined on an annbasis. Our expense for the defined
contribution plans totaled $71 million in 2011, $64 roifliin 2010, and $61 million in 2009. Additionally, we
participate in a Canadian multi-employer plan to Whiee contributed $10 million in 2011, $12 million in 2010, and
$17 million in 2009;

x  Our defined benefit plans are funded penglans, which define an amount ofhgen benefit to be provided, usually
as a function of age, years of service, or compensation

We account for our defined benefit pension plan in accordaithd=ASB ASC 715 — Compensation — Retirement Benefits,
which requires an employer to:

X recognize on its balance sheet the fundatust(measured as the diface between the fair value of plan assets and
the benefit obligation) of pension plan;

X recognize, through comprehensive inconetain changes in the funded statua afefined benefit plan in the year in
which the changes occur;

X measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the end of the employer’s fiscal year; and
x disclose additional information.
Benefit obligation and plan assets

We used a December 31 mea&suent date for all phs in 2011 and 2010. Plan ass&henses, and obligation for
retirement plans are presented in the following tables.

Pension Benefits

Benefit obligation United States Int’l United States Int’|
Millions of dollars 2011 2010
Change in projected benefit obligation
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 81 $ 1538 $ 80 $ 1,528
Service cost — 1 — 1
Interest cost 4 86 4 85
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — 25 — (52)
Actuarial (gain) loss 8 62 3 27
Other — (2) — —
Benefits paid (5) (50) (6) (51)
Projected benefit obligation at end of period $ 88 $ 1,660 $ 81 $ 1,538
Accumulated benefit obligation at endgsriod $ 88 $ 1,660 $ 8l $ 1,538
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Pension Benefits

United United
Plan assets States Intl States Intl
Millions of dollars 2011 2010
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginnarigreriod $ 65 $ 1,286 $ 57 $ 1,231
Actual return on plan assets ) 33 8 134
Employer contributions 6 68 6 14
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — 19 — (42)
Benefits paid (5) (50) (6) (51)
Other — (2) — —
Fair value of plan assets at endpefiod $ 64 $ 1,354 $ 65 $ 1,286
Funded status $ 24) $ (306) $ (16) $ (252)

Amounts recognized on the consolidated balance sheet
Noncurrent liabilities $ (24) $ (306% (16) $ (252)

Weighted-average assumptins used to determine

benefit obligations at measurement date
Discount rate 3.74% 4.90% 4.84% 5.45%
Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A N/A

Assumed long-term rates of return qhan assets, discount rates for estingp benefit obligations, and rates of
compensation increases vary for the diffenglains according to the local economanditions. The expected long-term rate of
return on assets was determined by a stochastic projectiotakieatinto account asset allocation strategies, historicaitéomg
performance of individual asset classes, an analysis of addliteinen (net of fees) generated by active management, riskg u
standard deviations and corretats of returns among the asset classes that ceenie plans’ asset miThe discount ratesed to
determine the benefit obligations was detfeed using a cash flow matching approachicivluses projected cash flows matched t
spot rates along a high quality corporate djielirve to determine the present valueash flows to calculate a single equira
discount rate.

Plan fiduciaries of the Company’s retirement plans seestment policies ral strategies and oversee its investment
direction, which includes saléng investment managers, nmmissioning asset-liability studiemnd setting long-term strategic
targets. Long-term strategicviestment objectives include preserving the fundatlstof the plan and balancing risk andimet
and have a wide diversificatiaf asset types, fund strategesd fund managers. Targetesbet allocation ranges are guidek,
not limitations, and occasionally plan fiduciaries wpaove allocations above or below a target range.

The targeted asset allocation ranges for the Internaptanes for 2012 and 2011, by asset class, are as follows:

International Plans — Asset Class 2012 Targeted 2011 Targeted
Percentage Range Percentage Range
Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum
Equity securities 56% 61% 56% 61%
Fixed income securities 35% 40% 35% 40%
Cash equivalents and other assets — 2% — 4%

The targeted asset allocation ranges for the Domestis fibr 2012 and 2011, bgset class, are as follows:

Domestic Plans — Asset Class 2012 Targeted 2011 Targeted
Percentage Range Percentage Range
Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum
U.S. equity securities 19% 28% 34% 51%
Non-U.S. equity securities 31% 47% 15% 22%
Fixed income securities 29% 43% 30% 44%
Cash equivalents 1% 2% — 2%
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The inputs and methodology used for valuing securities are riotl@ation of the risk associated with investing in those
securities. The following is a description of the primary véidmamethodologies used for assets measured at fair value:

x Common Stocks and Corporate Bonds: Valued at thenglqwice reported on the active market on which the

individual securities are traded.

x Corporate Bonds, Government Bonds Multgage Backed Secuet: Valued at quoted pgs in markets that are
not active, broker dealer quotations,abher methods by which all significanpints are observablejther directly

or indirectly.

x Common Collective Trust Funds: Valued at the net asdee yzer unit held at year end as quoted in an active

market or as quoted by the funds.

x Mutual Funds: Valued at the net asset value of shealelsat year end as quoted in the active market.
x Real Estate: Valued at net asgalue per unit held at yeand as quoted by the manager.
x Annuities: Valued by computing the present value efdkpected benefits based on the demographic information

of the participants.

x Other: Estimated income to be received on the Plan assets as computed by our trustee

The methods described above may producearavédue calculation thamay not be indicative ofiet realizable value or
reflective of future fair values. Furthernepiwhile the Plan believes its valuatiorethods are appropriate and consisterth wiher
market participants, the use of differentthoelologies or assumptions to determine thir value of certain financial instremts
could result in a different fair valumeasurement as of the reporting date.

A summary of total investments for KBR'simon plan assets measured at fair value is presented below. See Note 14 for a
detailed description of fair value measments and the hierarcegtablished for Level 1, 2 and 3 valuation inputs.

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Millions of dollars Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Asset Category at December 31, 2011
United States plan assets
U.S. equity securities $ 15 % 13 2 $ —
Non-U.S. equity securities 26 24 2 —
Government bonds 4 — 4 —
Corporate bonds 17 9 8 —
Mortgage backed securities 1 — 1 —
Cash and cash equivalents 1 — 1 —
Total U.S. plan assets $ 64 $ 46 $ 18 $ —
International plan assets
U.S. equity securities $ 67 $ 67 $ — $ —
Non-U.S. equity securities 689 689 — —
Government bonds 259 — 259 —
Corporate bonds 264 — 264 —
Other bonds 6 1 5 —
Annuity contracts 5 — — 5
Real estate 8 — 8 —
Cash and cash equivalents 51 51 — —
Other 5 — — 5
Total international plan assets $ 1,354 $ 808 $ 536 $ 10
Total plan assets at December 31, 2011 $ 1,418 $ 854 $ 554 $ 10
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Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Millions of dollars Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Asset Category at December 31, 2010

United States plan assets
U.S. equity securities $ 28 $ 27 $ 1 $ —
Non-U.S. equity securities 15 15 — —
Government bonds 4 — 4 —
Corporate bonds 15 8 7 —
Mortgage backed securities 1 — 1 —
Cash and cash equivalents 2 2 —

Total U.S. plan assets $ 65 $ 52 $ 13 $

International plan assets
U.S. equity securities $ 57  $ 57  $ — $ —
Non-U.S. equity securities 591 571 20 —
Government bonds 269 — 269 —
Corporate bonds 293 19 274 —
Other bonds 2 2 — —
Annuity contracts 5 — — 5
Real estate 8 — 8 —
Cash and cash equivalents 52 52 —
Other 9 — — 9

Total international plan assets $ 1,286 $ 701 $ 571 $

Total plan assets at December 31, 2010 $ 1,351 $ 753 $ 584 $

The fair value measurement of plan assefi®ig significant unobservable inputevgl 3) changed each year due to the

following:

Level 3 fair value measurement rollforward for 2011

Annuity
Millions of dollars Total Contracts Other
International plan assets
Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 14 $ 5 $ 9
Purchases, sales and settlements (4) — (4)
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 10 $ 5 $ 5

Level 3 fair value measurement rollforward for 2010

Annuity
Millions of dollars Total Contracts Other
International plan assets
Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 13 $ 6 $ 7
Purchases, sales and settlements 1 Q) 2
Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 14 $ 5 $ 9

The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss thanbayet been recognized as components of net periodic

benefit cost at December 31, 2011, net of tax were as follows:

Millions of dollars

Pension Benefits
United States Int'l

Net actuarial loss, net of tax of $15 and $173, respectively

$ 27 $

Total in accumulated other comprehensive loss

$ 27 $

444

444
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Expected cash flows

Contributions. Funding requirements for each plan are determinsddban the local laws of the country where such plan
resides. In certain countries the fundieguirements are mandatory while in otheumtries they are discretionary. We estp®
contribute $26 million to our international pension glamd $4 million to our domestic plan in 2012.

Benefit paymentS.he following table presents the expedbetefit payments over the next 10 years.

Pension Benefits

Millions of dollars United States Int’l
2012 $ 6 $ 51
2013 $ $ 53
2014 $ 7% 54
2015 $ 7% 56
2016 $ 7% 58
Years 2017 — 2021 $ 27 % 317

Net periodic cost

Pension Benefits

United
States Int'l United States Int'l United States Int'l
Millions of dollars 2011 2010 2009
Components of nefperiodic benefit
cost
Service cost $ — 1% — % 1% — 3 2
Interest cost 4 86 4 85 5 7
Expected return on plan assets (4) (98) 3) (90) (4) (84)
Settlements/curtailments — — — — 1 (4)
Recognized actuarial loss 1 20 1 18 1 11
Net periodic benefit cost $ 1 % 9 % 2 3 14 $ 3 3 2
Weighted-averageassumptions used to
determine net periodic benefit cost Pension Benefits
United United United
States Int'l States Int'l States Int’l
2011 2010 2009
Discount rate 4.84%  5.45% 5.35% 5.84% 6.15% 5.98%
Expected return on plan assets 7.009%9.00%  7.00% 7.00% 7.63% 7.00%
Rate of compensation increase N/A NA N/A NA N/A 4.00%

Estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated abrprehensive income, net of tax, into net periodic
benefit cost in 2012 are as follows:

Pension Benefits

Millions of dollars United States International
Actuarial (gain) loss $ 1 % 18
Total $ 1 $ 18
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Note 18. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2011, the FASB issuAdcounting Standards Update (“ASJUNo. 2011-09, Compensation-Retirement
Benefits-Multiemployer Plans (Subtopic 715-80)isclosures about an Employer’s f@pation in a Multiemployer Plan. ASU
2011-09 is intended to provide additional thscires about an employer’s financialigations to a multiemployer pension plan
and, therefore, help financial staterteeusers have a better understanding ef ¢cbmmitments and risks involved with its
participation in multiemployer pension plans. For public entithRSU 2011-09 is effective for annual periods for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2011 rlgadoption is permissible. ASU 2011-09 shohi&applied retrospectively for all prior pedis
presented. We adopted this ASU effectivecBmber 31, 2011, which did not have a mialtémpact on ouffinancial statement
disclosures.

In September 2011, The FASB issued ASU No. 2011-08hditites - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill
for Impairment. ASU 2011-08 is intended to simplify how entitest goodwill for impairment. ASU 2011-08 permits an entity to
first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is "likalg than not" that the fair value of a reporting unitasd than its
carrying amount as a basis for determiningethier it is necessary to perform the tstep goodwill impairment test described i
Topic 350, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other. Tinere-likely-than-not threshold is defih@s having a likelihood of more than?s0
ASU 2011-08 is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairntests performed for fiscal years beginning after Decenther 1
2011. The adoption of this accounting standard did not haveeiatampact on our financial position, results of operaticash
flows and disclosures.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, Compedhe Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive

Income. This ASU allows an entity the option to present tteé &6 comprehensive income, themponents of net income, ane th
components of other comprehensive income e
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Note 19. Quarterly Data(Unaudited)

Summarized quarterly financial data for the years endszelDber 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented in the following table.
In the following table, the sum of basic and diluted “Net incattgbutable to KBR per shardbr the four quarters may diffe
from the annual amounts due to the requirezthod of computing weighted average numtfeshares in the respective periods.
Additionally, due to the effect of rounding, the sum of théviidual quarterly earnings per share amounts may not equal the
calculated year eamjs per share amount.

Quarter

(in millions, except per share amounts) First Second Third Fourth Year
2011
Total revenue $ 2321 % 2,45% 2,387 $ 2,096 $ 9,261
Operating income 144 169 138 136 587
Net income 117 127 191 105 540
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (12) (27) (6) (15) (60)
Net income attributable to KBR 105 100 185 90 480
Net income attributable to KBR per share :
Net income attributable to KBR per share — Basi $ 069 $ 065 $ 123 $ 060 $ 3.18
Net income attributable to KBR per share — Ditlite $ 069 $ 065 $ 122 $ 060 $ 3.16
2010
Total revenue $ 2,631 $ 6&Z1 $ 2,455 % 2342 % 10,099
Operating income 99 199 163 148 609
Net income 59 122 117 97 395
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (13) (16) (20) (29) (68)
Net income attributable to KBR 46 106 97 78 327
Net income attributable to KBR per share :
Net income attributable to KBR per share — Basi  $ 029 $ 0.66 $ 062 $ 052 % 2.08
Net income attributable to KBR per share — Ditlite $ 029 $ 066 $ 062 $ 051 $ 2.07
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures
None

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Management’s Evaluation of Didosure Controls and Procedures

In accordance with Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the SecaritieExchange Act of 1934 as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), we carried out an evaluation, undke supervision and with the participatiohmanagement, including our Chief Exdeat
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of thefectiveness of our disclosure controlsdaprocedures as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on that satibn, our Chief Executive Officer and i€h Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective asegkmber 31, 2011 to provide reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted uhdeExchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, antecepor
within the time periods specified in the Securities and BExgdaDommission’s rules and form@ur disclosure controls and
procedures include controls and procedutlesigned to ensure that information regdito be disclosed in reports filed or
submitted under the Exchange Act is acclatad and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, ltova timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal ContrbOver Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control ovendialareporting that occurred dng the three months ended
December 31, 2011 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s intermaterontrol
financial reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintainiaguade internal control ovemnfincial reporting as defined in
the Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(ffernal control over financial repanti, no matter how well designed, has inheren
limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to feetieé can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and pred@ma Further, because of changes in dtods, the effectiveness of internal canit
over financial reporting may vary over time.
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Report of Independent Regested Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
KBR, Inc.:

We have audited KBR, Inc.’s internal control over finanoigdorting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoridgganizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO. KBR, Inc.’s management is responsilite maintaining effective iternal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectivenesinbérnal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanyiagagement’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial ReportingOur responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting bsed on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standardssdPublic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan padorm the audit to obtain reasonable assce about whetheffective internal conbl
over financial reporting was maintained ih mlaterial respects. Our audit includedaibing an understanding of internal tah
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a mategakmess exists, and testing analuating the design and openati
effectiveness of internal control based thie assessed risk. Our audit also inclupediorming such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believeuhatidit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a psscdesigned to provide reasoraddsurance regarding the riilidy

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statésnésr external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over findmejporting includes those policies and procedures that (idipe

to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, tedguaad fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions @btsets of

the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accountirapf@#n and that receipts and expenditures of the company are

being made only in accordance with authations of managemennd directors of the compangnd (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely ci&e of unauthorized acquisition, use, disposition of the company’s assetsttha

could have a material effegh the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadeguee be
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of comgdiavith the policies or pcedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, KBR, Inc. maintained, in all material respeetfective internal control over financial reporting as of Deoen31,
2011, based orcriteria established idnternal Control - Integrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We also have audited, in accordance with the standarde éfublic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of KBR, las.of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and théeckleonsolidated statements of income,
shareholders’ equity, comprehensive income, and cash flonsatidr of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2011, and our report dated February 22, 28#essed an unqualified opinion on th@snsolidated fiancial statements

/s KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 22, 2012
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the KBR, Inc. Company Proxy Statement for
our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the KBR, Inc. Company Proxy Statement for
our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficiaDwners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the KBR, Inc. Company Proxy Statement for
our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the KBR, Inc. Company Proxy Statement for
our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated hebpgineference to the KBR, Inc. Company Proxy Statement for
our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

1.Financial Statements:
(@) The report of the Independent Registered P#dounting Firm and the fiancial statements of the
Company as required by Part Il, Item 8, areddeld on page 62 and pages 63 through 110 of this annual
report. See index on page 61.

2.Financial Statement Schedules: Page No.
(@) KPMG LLP Reporbn supplemental schedule 117
(b)  Schedule ll—Valuation and qualifying accounts for the three years ended December 31, 2011 118

Note: All schedules not filed with this report requitBdRegulations S-X have beemitted as not applicable
or not required, or the information required has kieeluded in the notes to financial statements.
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3. Exhibits:

Exhibit

Number Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of B|a3008, by and among KBR,dn BE&K, Inc., and Whitehawk
Sub, Inc., (incorporated by reference to Exhibittd. KBR’s Current Report on Form 8-K; File No. 001-33416)

3.1 KBR Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpmratincorporated by refereacto Exhibit 3.1 to KBR'’s
registration statemeémn Form S-1; Registration No. 333-133302)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylawsk@&R, Inc. (incorporated by referente Exhibit 99.1 Charter to KBR’s current
report on Form 8-K filed January 23, 2012; File No. 1-33146)

4.1 Form of specimen KBR common staertificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to KBR's registration
statement on Form S-1; Registration No. 333-133302)

10.1 Master Separation Agreement between Halliburtomp@aoy and KBR, Inc. dated as of November 20, 2006

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’srent report on Form 8-K ¢ed November 20, 2006; File
No. 001-33146)

10.2 Tax Sharing Agreement, datedbédanuary 1, 2006, by and between Halliburton Company, KBR Holdings, LLC
and KBR, Inc., as amended effective February 26, Z0@brporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to KBR’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006; File No. 001-33146)

10.3 Amended and Restated Regtiira Rights Agreement, dated as ofbReary 26, 2007, between Halliburton
Company and KBR, Inc. (incorporated by referencExbibit 10.3 to KBR’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2006; File No. 001-33146)

104 Transition Services Agreement dated as of Nove2Hhe2006, by and between Halliburton Energy Services, Inc.
and KBR, Inc. (KBR as service provider) (incorporatedréfgrence to Exhibit 10.4 to KBR’s current repont o
Form 8-K dated November 20, 2006; File No. 001-33146)

10.5 Transition Services Agreement dated as of Nove2he2006, by and between Halliburton Energy Services, Inc.
and KBR, Inc. (Halliburton as servipeovider) (incorporated by referenceHEahibit 10.5 to KBR'’s current repor
on Form 8-K dated November 20, 2006; File No. 001-33146)

10.6 Employee Matters Agreement dated as of Noeerd®, 2006, by and between Halliburton Company and KBR,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 tBRs current report on Form 8-K dated November 20, 2006;
File No. 001-33146)

10.7 Intellectual Property Mattefsggreement dated as of November 20, 2a86,and between Halliburton Company
and KBR, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit7 to KBR’s current report on Form 8-K dated Novembe
20, 2006; File No. 001-33146)

10.8+ Severance and change in control agreement wiliar/P. Utt, President and @f Executive Officer of KBR.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to KBR’s carmeport on Form 8-K dated January 7, 2009; File No. 1-
33146)

10.9 Form of Indemnification Agreemt between KBR, Inc. and its direcofincorporated by reference to Exhibi
10.18 to KBR’s registration statememt Form S-1; Registration No. 333-133302)

10.10+ KBR, Inc. 2006 Stock and IncemtiRlan (as amended June 27, 2007) (jpa@ted by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
KBR'’s Form 10-Q for the quartended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

10.11+ KBR, Inc. Senior Executive Performance Pay Plaorfiocated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to KBR’s Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006; File No. 1-33146)

10.12+ KBR, Inc. Manageme Performance Pay Plan (incorporated Hgnence to Exhibit 10.22 to KBR's Form X0-
for the fiscal year ended Daunber 31, 2006; File No. 1-33146)

10.13+ KBR, Inc. Transitional Stodkdjustment Plan (incorporated by regace to Exhibit 10.23 to KBR’s Form 10-
for the fiscal year ended Deunber 31, 2006; File No. 1-33146)

10.14+ KBR Dresser Deferred Compdima Plan (incorporated by referente Exhibit 4.5 to KBR’s Registratio

Statement on Form S-8 filed on April 13, 2007)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.15+

10.16+

10.17+

10.18+

10.19+

10.20+

10.21+

10.22+

10.23+

10.24+

10.25+

10.26+

10.27+

10.28

10.29+

10.30+

10.31+

*10.32+

*10.33+

KBR Supplemental Executive RetimmPlan (incorporated by referenceBxhibit 10.3 to KBR’s current report
on Form 8-K dated April 9, 2007; File No. 1-33146).

KBR Benefit Restoration Plan (incorporated Bgremce to Exhibit 10.4 to KBR’s current report on Forr{ 8-
dated April 9, 2007; File No. 1-33146).

KBR Elective Deferral Plan (incorporated by refezedndExhibit 10.5 to KBR’s current report on Form 8-K date
April 9, 2007; File No. 1-33146).

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to KB&,2006 Stock and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to KBR’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

Stock Option Agreement pursuant to KBR, Inc. 28@&k and Incentive Plann@orporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to KBR’s Form 10-Q for the gter ended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

KBR Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to KB&,2006 Stock and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to KBR’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

KBR, Inc. Transitional Stock Astment Plan Stock OptioAward (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
KBR'’s Form 10-Q for the quartended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

KBR, Inc. Transitional Stock Adtment Plan Restricteé8tock Award (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
to KBR’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreent between KBR, Inc. and William Btt pursuant to KBR, Inc. 2006 Stockdn
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reface to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’'s Form 1Q-for the quarter ended September 30,
2007; File No. 1-33146)

Form of KBR Performance Awakdireement pursuant to KBR, Inc. 2006 Stock and Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to KBR's Form 10-Q fioe quarter ended Septemi3@, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

Form of revised KBR Performance Award Agreetrpursuant to KBR, Inc. 2006 Stock and Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to KBR’srfd.0-K for the year ended December 31, 2010; File No.
1-33146).

KBR, Inc., 2009 Employee Stoekirchase Plan (incorporated by refeeetm Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2008; File No. 1-33146)

Form of Severance and Change in Control Agreefimeorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’srior
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008; File No. 1-33146)

Five Year Revolving Credit Agreement dated a@3eafember 2, 2011 among KBR, Inc., the Banks party thereto,
The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC, 8gndication Agent, ING Bank, N.V. drniThe Bank of Nova Scotia, as Co-
Documentation Agents, Citigroup Global Markets IRBS Securities Inc. ING Bank, N.V., and The Barik o
Nova Scotia as Joint Lead Arrangers and BookrunnedsCéibank, N.A., as Admisitrative Agent. (incorporate

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’s current repmmtForm 8-K dated December 7, 2011; File No. 1-33146)

Severance and Change of Cdnxgreement, between KBR Technical Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation,
KBR, Inc., and Susan K. Carter (inporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR'’s current report on Fokn 8-
dated October 26, 2009; File No. 1-33146)

Severance and Change of Cdnfigreement, between KBR Technical Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation,
KBR, Inc., and Mark S. Williams (incorporated by mefece to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’s current report on Forid 8-
dated January 18, 2010; File No. 1-33416)

Severance and Change of Corigrieement (incorporated by referenceetdhibit 10.1 to KBR’s current report on
Form 8-K dated August 16, 2010, by and between KBR flieahServices, Inc., a Delaware corporation, KBR,
Inc., and Dennis S. Baldwin; File No. 1-33146)

Severance and Change of Control Agreement isffeas of December 31, 2008, byd between KBR Technical
Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, KBift., and William P. Utt; File No. 1-33146.

Severance and Change of ConAgreement effecte as of August 26, 2008, ynd between KBR Technical
Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, KBiR., and John L. Rose; File No. 1-33146.
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Exhibit

Number Description

*10.34+ Severance and Change of ConAgreement effecte as of August 26, 2008, end between KBR Technical
Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, KBft., and Andrew D. Farley; File No. 1-33146.

*10.35+ Severance and Change of ConAgreement effecte as of August 26, 2008, end between KBR Technical
Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, KBft,., and David L. Zimmerman; File No. 1-33146.

*10.36+ Amendment to the 2008 Severance and Change in CAgteements effective as of December 31, 2008; File No.
1-33146.

*10.37+ Amendment to the Severance and Change in ContrekAgent with Susan K. Carter effective as of January 15,
2010; File No. 1-33146.

*21.1 List of subsidiaries

*23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP - Houston, Texas

*31.1 Certification by Chief Executive Ofer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

*31.2 Certification by ChieFinancial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

**32.1 Certification Furnished Pursuatat 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as AdopteddRant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

**32.2 Certification Furnished Pursuatat 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as AdopteddRant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

***101.INS XBRL Instance Document

***101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extasion Schema Document

***101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy ExtensiorCalculation Linkbase Document

***]01.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

***]01.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extensin Labels Linkbase Document

***]01.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed with this Form 10-K

* Furnished with this Form 10-K

*kk

Submitted pursuant to Rule 405 and 406T of Regulation S-T.

+ Management contracts or coemgatory plans or arrangements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Supplementary Information

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
KBR, Inc.:

Under the date of February 22, 2012, we reported on the conedlisi@aince sheets of KBR, Iramd subsidiaries as of Decembe
31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidsti@ements of income, shareholdergligy, comprehensive income, and cash #ow
for each of the years in the three-year period ended Dec&hp@011, which reports appear in the December 31, 2011 Annual
Report on Form 10-K of KBR, Inc. In connection with our audftthe aforementioned consolidatidancial statements, we also
audited the related consolidated finansi@tement schedule (Schedule Il) incluiethe Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K. The financial statement schedule is the responsibilityeofthmpany’s management. Our responsibility is to express aiompin
on the consolidated financial statem schedule based on our audits.

In our opinion, such consolidated financ&htement schedule, when considered laticn to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, matkrial respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 15 to the consolidated felasiatements, the Company changed its method of accounting for
variable interest entities on a presfive basis as of January 1, 2010.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 22, 2012
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KBR, Inc.
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (Millions of Dollars)

The table below presentslvation and qualifying accountsr continuing operations.

Additions
Balance at Chargedto Charged to
Beginning Costs and Other Balance at
Descriptions Period Expenses Accounts Deductions End of Period
Year ended December 31, 2011:
Deducted from accounts and notes receivable:

Allowance for bad debts $ 27 % 2% — W@ % 24
Reserve for losses on uncoeteld contracts $ 26 $ 13 % — 3 (17) $ 22
Reserve for potentially disallowable costs

incurred under government contracts $ 141 —$% 22(b) $ (36) $ 127

Year ended December 31, 2010:
Deducted from accounts and notes receivable:

Allowance for bad debts $ 26 % 13 % — 12)@ $ 27
Reserve for losses on uncoetgld contracts $ 40 % 1% — (15) $ 26
Reserve for potentially disallowable costs

incurred under government contracts $ 116 $ —$ 34(b) $ 9) $ 141

Year ended December 31, 2009:
Deducted from accounts and notes receivable:

Allowance for bad debts $ 19% 6% 3 % 2@ $ 26
Reserve for losses on uncomigld contracts $ 76 $ 3% — (39) $ 40
Reserve for potentially disallowable costs

incurred under government contracts $ 112 $ —$ Ib$ (5) $ 116

@ Receivable write-offs, net afcoveries, and reclassifications.
(b) Reserves have been recorded as reduatfoeyenue, net of reserves no longer required.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) oBéwerities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalftbg undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: February 22, 2012
KBR, INC.

By: /s/ William P. Utt
William P. Utt

President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: February 22, 2012

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchangaf A884, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant anthia capacities and dhe dates indicated:

Signature Title

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

/s/ William P. Utt
(Principal Executive Officer)

William P. Utt

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

/s/ Susan K. Carter
(Principal Financial Officer)

Susan K. Carter

Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

/s/ Dennis Baldwin
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Dennis Baldwin

/s/ W. Frank Blount Director
W. Frank Blount
/sl Loren K. Carroll Director
Loren K. Carroll
/s/ Linda Z. Cook Director
Linda Z. Cook
/sl Jeffrey E. Curtiss Director
Jeffrey E. Curtiss
/s/ John R. Huff Director
John R. Huff
/sl Lester L. Lyles Director
Lester L. Lyles
/s/ Richard J. Slater Director
Richard J. Slater
Director

Jack B. Moore

119



EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of B|a3008, by and among KBR,dn BE&K, Inc., and Whitehawk
Sub, Inc., (incorporated by reference to Exhibittd. KBR’s Current Report on Form 8-K; File No. 001-33416)

3.1 KBR Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpmrafincorporated by refereacto Exhibit 3.1 to KBR'’s
registration statemeémn Form S-1; Registration No. 333-133302)

3.2 Amended and Restated BylawsK&R, Inc. (incorporated by reference Exhibit 99.1 Charter to KBR’s current
report on Form 8-K filed January 23, 2012; File No. 1-33146)

4.1 Form of specimen KBR common stazertificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to KBR’s registration
statement on Form S-1; Registration No. 333-133302)

10.1 Master Separation Agreement between Halliburtompaay and KBR, Inc. dated as of November 20, 2006
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’srent report on Form 8-K ¢d November 20, 2006; File
No. 001-33146)

10.2 Tax Sharing Agreement, datedbédanuary 1, 2006, by and between Halliburton Company, KBR Holdings, LLC
and KBR, Inc., as amended effective February 26, Z0@brporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to KBR’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006; File No. 001-33146)

10.3 Amended and Restated Regtiira Rights Agreement, dated as ofbReary 26, 2007, between Halliburton
Company and KBR, Inc. (incorporated by referencExbibit 10.3 to KBR’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2006; File No. 001-33146)

10.4 Transition Services Agreement dated as of Nove@he2006, by and between Halliburton Energy Services, Inc.
and KBR, Inc. (KBR as service provider) (incorporatedréigrence to Exhibit 10.4 to KBR’s current repont o
Form 8-K dated November 20, 2006; File No. 001-33146)

10.5 Transition Services Agreement dated as of Nove2he2006, by and between Halliburton Energy Services, Inc.
and KBR, Inc. (Halliburton as servipeovider) (incorporated by referenceHEahibit 10.5 to KBR'’s current repor
on Form 8-K dated November 20, 2006; File No. 001-33146)

10.6 Employee Matters Agreement dated as of Noeerdd, 2006, by and between Halliburton Company and KBR,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 BRs current report on Form 8-K dated November 20, 2006;
File No. 001-33146)

10.7 Intellectual Property Mattefsggreement dated as of November 20, 2086,and between Halliburton Company
and KBR, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit7 to KBR’s current report on Form 8-K dated Novembe
20, 2006; File No. 001-33146)

10.8+ Severance and change in control agreement willard/P. Utt, President and @i Executive Officer of KBR.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to KBR’s carmeport on Form 8-K dated January 7, 2009; File No. 1-
33146)

10.9 Form of Indemnification Agreemt between KBR, Inc. and its direcofincorporated by reference to Exhibi
10.18 to KBR'’s registration statement Form S-1; Registration No. 333-133302)

10.10+ KBR, Inc. 2006 Stock and IncemtiRlan (as amended June 27, 2007) (jpa@ted by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
KBR'’s Form 10-Q for the quartended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

10.11+ KBR, Inc. Senior Executive Performance Pay Plaorfiocated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to KBR’s Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006; File No. 1-33146)

10.12+ KBR, Inc. Manageme Performance Pay Plan (incorporated Hgnence to Exhibit 10.22 to KBR’'s Form X0-
for the fiscal year ended Deunber 31, 2006; File No. 1-33146)

10.13+ KBR, Inc. Transitional Stodkdjustment Plan (incorporated by reface to Exhibit 10.23 to KBR’s Form 10-
for the fiscal year ended Daunber 31, 2006; File No. 1-33146)

10.14+ KBR Dresser Deferred Compdiwa Plan (incorporated by referente Exhibit 4.5 to KBR’s Registratio
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.15+

10.16+

10.17+

10.18+

10.19+

10.20+

10.21+

10.22+

10.23+

10.24+

10.25+

10.26+

10.27+

10.28

10.29+

10.30+

10.31+

*10.32+

*10.33+

KBR Supplemental Executive RetimmPlan (incorporated by referenceBxhibit 10.3 to KBR’s current report
on Form 8-K dated April 9, 2007; File No. 1-33146).

KBR Benefit Restoration Plan (incorporated Bgremce to Exhibit 10.4 to KBR’s current report on Forr{ 8-
dated April 9, 2007; File No. 1-33146).

KBR Elective Deferral Plan (incorporated by refezedndExhibit 10.5 to KBR’s current report on Form 8-K date
April 9, 2007; File No. 1-33146).

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to KB&,2006 Stock and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to KBR’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

Stock Option Agreement pursuant to KBR, Inc. 28@&k and Incentive Plann@orporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to KBR’s Form 10-Q for the gter ended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

KBR Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to KB&,2006 Stock and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to KBR’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

KBR, Inc. Transitional Stock Astment Plan Stock OptioAward (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
KBR'’s Form 10-Q for the quartended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

KBR, Inc. Transitional Stock Adtment Plan Restricteé8tock Award (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
to KBR’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreent between KBR, Inc. and William Btt pursuant to KBR, Inc. 2006 Stockdn
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reface to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’s Form 1Q-for the quarter ended September 30,
2007; File No. 1-33146)

Form of KBR Performance Awakdireement pursuant to KBR, Inc. 2006 Stock and Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to KBR's Form 10-Q fioe quarter ended Septemi3@, 2007; File No. 1-33146)

Form of revised KBR Performance Award Agreetrpursuant to KBR, Inc. 2006 Stock and Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to KBR’srfd.0-K for the year ended December 31, 2010; File No.
1-33146).

KBR, Inc., 2009 Employee Stoekirchase Plan (incorporated by refeeetm Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2008; File No. 1-33146)

Form of Severance and Change in Control Agreefimeorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’srior
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008; File No. 1-33146)

Five Year Revolving Credit Agreement dated a@aafember 2, 2011 among KBR, Inc., the Banks party thereto,
The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC, 8gndication Agent, ING Bank, N.V. drniThe Bank of Nova Scotia, as Co-
Documentation Agents, Citigroup Global Markets IRBS Securities Inc. ING Bank, N.V., and The Barik o
Nova Scotia as Joint Lead Arrangers and BookrunnedsCéibank, N.A., as Admisitrative Agent. (incorporate

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’s current repmmtForm 8-K dated December 7, 2011; File No. 1-33146)

Severance and Change of Cdnxgreement, between KBR Technical Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation,
KBR, Inc., and Susan K. Carter (inporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR'’s current report on Fokn 8-
dated October 26, 2009; File No. 1-33146)

Severance and Change of Cdnfigreement, between KBR Technical Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation,
KBR, Inc., and Mark S. Williams (incorporated by mefece to Exhibit 10.1 to KBR’s current report on Forid 8-
dated January 18, 2010; File No. 1-33416)

Severance and Change of Corigrieement (incorporated by referenceetdhibit 10.1 to KBR’s current report on
Form 8-K dated August 16, 2010, by and between KBR flieahServices, Inc., a Delaware corporation, KBR,
Inc., and Dennis S. Baldwin; File No. 1-33146)

Severance and Change of Control Agreement isffeas of December 31, 2008, byd between KBR Technical
Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, KBift., and William P. Utt; File No. 1-33146.

Severance and Change of ConAgreement effecte as of August 26, 2008, ynd between KBR Technical
Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, KBiR., and John L. Rose; File No. 1-33146.
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Exhibit

Number Description

*10.34+ Severance and Change of ConAgreement effecte as of August 26, 2008, end between KBR Technical
Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, KBft., and Andrew D. Farley; File No. 1-33146.

*10.35+ Severance and Change of ConAgreement effecte as of August 26, 2008, ynd between KBR Technical
Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, KBft,., and David L. Zimmerman; File No. 1-33146.

*10.36+ Amendment to the 2008 Severance and Change in CAgteements effective as of December 31, 2008; File No.
1-33146.

*10.37+ Amendment to the Severance and Change in ContrekAgent with Susan K. Carter effective as of January 15,
2010; File No. 1-33146.

*21.1 List of subsidiaries

*23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP - Houston, Texas

*31.1 Certification by Chief Executive Ofer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

*31.2 Certification by ChieFinancial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

**32.1 Certification Furnished Pursuatat 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as AdopteddRant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

**32.2 Certification Furnished Pursuatat 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as AdopteddRant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

***101.INS XBRL Instance Document

***101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extasion Schema Document

***101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy ExtensiorCalculation Linkbase Document

***]01.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

***]01.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extensin Labels Linkbase Document

***]01.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed with this Form 10-K

* Furnished with this Form 10-K

*kk

Submitted pursuant to Rule 405 and 406T of Regulation S-T.

+ Management contracts or coemsatory plans or arrangements
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LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

KBR, INC.

Subsidiaries of Registrant as of December 31, 2011

NAME OF COMPANY

STATE OR COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

Exhibit 21.1

BITC (US) LLC

HBR NL Holdings, LLC

KBR Group Holdings, LLC

KBR Holdings, LLC

Kellogg Brown & Root Holding B.V.
Kellogg Brown & Root Holdings Limited
Kellogg Brown & Root Holdings (U.K.) lmhited
Kellogg Brown & Root Limited

Kellogg Brown & Root LLC

Kellogg Brown & Root NetherlandB.V.
Kellogg Brown & Root Services, Inc.
KBR USA LLC

Kellogg Brown & Root Interntgonal, Inc.
BE&K, Inc.

Roberts & Schaefer Hailags, Inc.

KBR Australia Pty Ltd.

Kellogg Brown & Root Investment Holdingsmited

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
The Netherlands
United Kingdom, England & Wales
United Kingdom, England & Wales
United Kingdom, England & Wales
Delaware
The Netherlands
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Australia

United Kingdom, England & Wales
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of KBR, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the ragimt statements on Form S-8 (Registration Nos. 333-155551, 333-
138850 and 333-142101) of KBR, Inc., of our reports dated Feb22ar®012, with respect to thersolidated balance sheets of
KBR, Inc. and subsidiaries as of DecemBg&, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’
equity, comprehensive income, and cash flows, for each of v jre the three-year period ended December 31, 2011, and the
related consolidated financial statement schedule (Scheduéamdl)the effectiveness of inb@al control over financial repting as

of December 31, 2011, which reports appear in the Decemb20B1 Annual Report on Form 10-K of KBR, Inc. Our report
refers to a change in method of accounting foralde interest entities as of January 1, 2010.

/s KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 22, 2012
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William P. Utt, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annualport on Form 10-K of KBR, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain amyeustatement of a materitdct or omit to state a
material fact necessaty make the statements made, in light of tleurhstances under which sustatements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financiatsiments, and other financial infortioa included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, restibperations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for
the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are resptm$or establishing and maaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1&{e)5al-15(e)) and internal contler financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(figal5d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to enghat material information relating todhegistrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by ogheithin those entities, particularly g the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control ovénancial reporting, or caused sudfternal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supémwisto provide reasonable assuranagarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disatosantrols and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectivenesghef disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrantésnal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fisqalarter (the registrant’s fourth fisogiarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to natgraffect, the registrant’miternal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’'s auditord the audit committee of the rsgant’'s board of director®(
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknasge the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likéo adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not matalj that involves management ohet employees whbave a significant
role in the registrant’s internabntrol over financial reporting.

Date: February 22, 2012

/s/ William P. Utt

William P. Utt
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1

WRITTEN STATEMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Executive OffiofKBR, Inc. (“the Company”), herebgertifies that to his knowledge, on the
date hereof:

(a) the Form 10-K of the Company for the period enBedember 31, 2011, filed on the date hereof with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (thep&t”) fully complies with the requireemts of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(b) the information contained in the Repfairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.

/s/ William P. Utt

William P. Utt
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 22, 2012
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EXHIBIT 32.2

WRITTEN STATEMENT OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Financial Officer of KBR, Inthg¢“Company”), hereby certifies that to his knowledge, on the
date hereof:

(a) the Form 10-K of the Company for the period enBedember 31, 2011, filed on the date hereof with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (thep@t”) fully complies with the requireemts of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(b) the information contained in the Repfairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.

/s/ Susan K. Carter

Susan K. Carter
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 22, 2012
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Board of Directors

(back row, from left to right)
Jeffrey E. CurtisB Audit Committee (Chair); Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee

Loren K. Carrd Compensation Committee (Chair);
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Lester L. Lyle® Corporate Social Responsibility Committee
(Chair); Audit Committee

William P. UtD Chairman of the Board, President,
and Chief Executive Ofbcer

John R. Huf® Compensation Committee; Corporate Social
Responsibility Committee

W. Frank Blour® Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee (Chair); Audit Committee

(seated, from left to right)
Richard J. Slateb Compensation Committee; Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee

Linda Z. CooR Compensation Committee; Corporate
Social Responsibility Committee

Corporate Ofters

William P. Ut Khaled Abu-Nasrah Susan K. Carter Andrew D. Farley =~ Thomas R. Hewitt ~Clare E. Kinahan
Chairman of the Boairesident, Middle Easixecutive Vice Executive Vice Senior Vice Presiden§enior Vice President,
President, and Chief Region President and Chief President and Commercial Human Resources
Executive Ofpcer Financial Ofpcer General Counsel

Business Group Officers Shareholder Information

Hydrocarbons: Shares Listed

Dennis Calto® President, Oil & Gas New York Stock Exchange

Mitch Dauza® President, Gas Monetization Symbol: KBR

John Derbyshir® President, Technology

Roy Oelkin@® President (interim), Downstream Transfer Agent and Registrar

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
6201 15th Avenue

Infrastructure, Government and Power: Brooklyn, New York 11219

Rich Ambros® President, North American Government and Logistics (800) 937-5449

Colin Elliotb President, Infrastructure info@amstock.com

Andrew Pringleb President, International Government, Defence and Support Services

Mark ReidD President, Minerals To Contact Investor Relations

Jim Stewartb President, Power and Industrial Shareholders may call the Company at
1-886-380-7721 or 713-753-5082 or

Services: contact us via email at investors@kbr.com

Darrell Hargravé® President, Industrial Services

Danny Hick® Senior Vice President, U.S. Construction
Karl Robert® Senior Vice President, Canada Operations
Philip Southerlan® President, Building Group

The CEO and CFO certifications required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 have been fitathak0ekhibits to KBROs F
Our Annual CEO Certification for fiscal year 2011 was submitted to the NYSE timely and without qualification.








